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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like 1o present to shareholders the
audited resulis of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company"} and its

subsidiaries (collectively the "Group”} for the year ended 31 March 2008.

e - (RIBTEBE

| am taking this opportunity 10 exprass our gratitude to the Group's staff for
their contributions enabling the Group t¢ work through a tough business

environment and securing the business growth for the preceding year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

EEGFREEEHEELESTE
mgEme TR TR
System design solution meeting the market demands,
a value-added distribution services from the Group

HKS22.4 million).

The Group's turnover and gross profit kept
increasing in the past & years. Turnover
was reporied as HK$1.911 million (2007:
HK$1737.4 milion) for the year ended 31
March 2008, which indicales an increase
of 10% from last financial year. Gross
profit increased by 8.7% 1o HK$189.9
million (2007: HK$174.6 million)

For the year endged 31 March 2008:

— The earnings before interest, tax,
amortization and depreciation (EBITDA)
are HKS8239.5 million (2007; HKS$38.3
million).

The cperating profit (EBIT) ot the Group is HK$24.5 millien (2007:

Because of the recent accounting practice, the Group recorded HKS6.3
million. an unrealized fair value loss in relation to mark-to-market
derivative on the US$ exchange rate contract which significantly atfects
the consolidated net profit after taxation and minority interests of the
Group be dropped 10 HKS6.9 million (2007: HKS11 million}, representing

a decrease of 37.3% trom last year.

+NAEBRREQE]

BHRZFRNEAR

The basic earnings per share is HKZ2.30 cents (2007: HKA.CG0 cents).

The Board of Directors has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK0D.25 cent per ordinary share payable to shareholders whose names appear
on the Register of Members of the Gompany on 28 August, 2008. Subject to
the sharsholders' approval at ihe forthcoming annual general meeting, the

dividend will be payable on 10 September, 2008. During the year, the Group
announced an interim dividend of HK1 cent per ordinary share.
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The major reasons for the decrease in consolidated net profit of the reported

year are as follows:

1) In order to minimize the impact of the fluctuation of foreign exchange
rate in accounts payable and accounts receivable, the Group has
engaged in forward foreign currency contracts to set-off this business
risk. Although the management has big cenfidence to project that these
contracts will bring in positive result 1o the Group, the Group must
evaluate the value of these contracts to follow the recent accounting
principles. Among different valuation thecretical approaches, the
management has adopted a conservative one which results in booking

a HK$B.3 million projected, unrealized {air

value loss of the mark-to-market derivative.

However, the management has strong

confident that the effect will be mitigated at

the time when the contracts mature.

2) In the reported year, the Group still
subsidized the sefting up and test
run of the new production site in
Heyuan. As the production in the
new factory has already become
matured, the subsidies will become

less significant in the coming fiscat

FAHBEERHRE year.

MP4 Digital Media Player
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3} The Group has small investrment in some associate companies with
relative substantial share percentages. The share of losses in these
associate companies also contributed to certain losses of the Group.
The management will seek for disposal of the shareholdings in these

companies in order t¢ minimize losses,

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2008, the Group's net current assets amounted to HK$189.1
million (2007: HK$192.5 millicn) and the shareholders’ funds were HKS387.8
million (2007: HK$370.2 million). The total bank loan and finance lease was
HK$218.9 million and the gearing ratio which is defined as toial borrowings to
shareholders' funds, excluding minority interests, is 0.58. The year-end cash
and bank balances were increased from HK$93.4 million to HK$103.4 million.
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L atest SMT PCB Assembly Facifities

At 31 March 2008.
approximately HK$283 miltion, of which HK$44 million was unutilised. Finance

total available banking facilities of the Group were

lease cbligations outstanding on the same date amounted to HK$2.5 millicn.
The Company issued corporate guarantees to banks for granting of banking
facilities to wholly owned subsidiaries, At 31 March 2008, total amount of

corporate guarantee committed was HK$356.6 million.

The Group's assets are mostly financed by shareholders’ funds, trade payables,
finance lease and bank borrowings. Trade payables are repayable within one
year. Bank borrowings composed of trade financing repayable within one year
and term lcans repayable in instaliments from
3 to 4 years. Total bank borrowings have
increased due tc the growth in business,
personal computer products and new capital

axpenditures.

The borrowings are mostly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars to prevent currency risk.
The Group's cash and cash eguivalents are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
US dollarg, Canadian dollars and Renminbi,
The Group has engaged in foreign currency
forward contracts with banks to hedge certain
daily foreign currency trade payments to control the conversion risk arising
from foreign currency transactions, Other than forward contract, the Group
continuously matches the payments and receipts of foreign currency arising
from routine purchases and sales. Combining these methods, the Group is
able to control and minimize the financial cost and exchange risk. Most of the
Group's borrowings are interest bearing at fiocating rates which are in reference
to the Hong Kong HIBOR rate.

With the increase in turnover in the reported year, inventory level was relatively
decreased to HK$238.6 million from HK$256.8 million of last financial year.
Average stock turnover is controlled to less than 60 stock turnover days. The
trade recelvables and payables also increased in proportion with the increase

in turnover.

In the reported year, the Group issued 26,274,436 new ordinary shares due
to the exercise of warrants. The exercise price was HK$0.4 and HK$0.5 per
share. The Group also repurchased 184,000 ordinary shares in the open
market, The purchase prices ranged from HK$0.58 to HKS0.64 per share,
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Although the consolidated net profit after minocrity interests was smaller than
that of last year, the year ended 31 March 2008 was a remarkable year in the
Group’s core business. Despite the relative dropping of turnover in consumer
electronics, the consolidated turnover of the Group was increased by 10% to
HKS$1,911 million (2007: HK$1,737 millior); and the gross profit of the Group
was increased by 8.7% tc HKS189.9 million (2007 HK$174.6 million) when
compare to last fiscal year.
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Digital Cordiless Telephones employing DECT technology

The Group is engaged in three major

coré businesses, namely:

— Electronic Components —
Distribution and Manufacturing

- Digital and Personal Computer
Products — Distribution and
Manufacturing

3 - Contract Electronic Manufacturing
Service {EMS) and Consumer

Electronics

Electronic Components — Distribution and Manufacturing

In the reported year. the Group successfully entered into the market of
mobile phone in promoting MCP (Masked Central Processor), discrete iC
and components as well as ultra thin loud speakers which was produced in
the Group. Together with electronic components from the ieam, turnover of
this segment was grown significantly to HK$800.6 million (2007: HK$661.5
million) representing a growth of 21% when compared with last fiscal year. The
gross profit also recorded a 34.4% growth to HK$82.5 million (2007: HK$65.4

million).

Business in this segment is to act as authorized distributor of various renowned
brand names including the Group's own manufaciured electronic components
to manufacturers in Hong Keng and China. Products of this segment includes
dicdes, transistors, integrated circuits {IC), power modules, MCU, CPU,
memory chips and display modules etc. Applications of these components are
electronic toys, power supplies, radic, CD piayers, DVD piayers, TV, MP3/MP4
and amplifiers. In the more advanced level, this segment alsc provides solutions
for controller of air-conditioner. MP3, electronic bicycle, iPod dockings as well

as power management modules etc.

5 GRESTEBRBUMNR LA
Dawa Associate Hoidings Limited
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Walkie-Talkie PCBs, a new market sector being develop for
the consumer electronics manufacturing busingss

The Group has more than 25 years of experience in this segment. Other
than the solid base in Hong Kong, the Group is one of the very few existing
distributors who were pioneger to penetrate in the China market. After more
than 20 years of establishment in China, the Group has built up strong sales
network and logistic foundation in major China cities by the joint management
between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites. The
performance of Shenzhen and Shanghai sales
office were outstanding among cempetitors. In
order to explore further business opportunities,
the Group had further strengthened the
engineering capability in providing total solutions
to customers.

The Group kept gaining new distributorship from
renown electronic components suppliers. In the
reported year, the Group had successfully gained
new authorized distributorships from Freescale,
Rohm and Silicen Laboratory. Together with
existing distributcrship of Toshiba, Panasonic,
On-semiconducter, Lite-on, Arncld Magnetic,
Chino-Excel Technology Corp {(CET}. Elan
Microelectronics Corp (ELAN) and MCS Logic Ltd
(MCS Logic), Kyocera, Dicdes, the Group could
further strengthan its status as one of the leading authorized distributors for
electronic components and semi-conductors in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Digital and Personal Computer Products — Distribution and Manufacturing

Turncver cf the digital and personal computer products business grew to
HK$481.3 million (2007: HK$400.1 million) which represented a growth of
20.3% in the reporied year. Gross profit also grew by 19.4% to HKS$43 million
{2007: HK $36 million).

Business in this segment mainly comes from the distribution of personal
computer products in North America. Products in this segment are
motherboards, display cards, hard disk drives, optical storage device,
computer cases, power supply, software memory modules, desk-top computer,
notebook computers, and with business came from the manufacturing of MP3,
MP4, digital picture frames and USB memory drives.

With head office in Toronto and branches in Vancouver, Halifax, and Calgary,
Daiwa Canada had gained substantial market share of hard disk drives,
display monitors and motherboards. The Group is well prepared to enter into
the markst of bulk distribution of note book computers and expecting to gain
rmeaningful market share in the coming years.
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EMS And Consumer Electronics

EMS {Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service)

In this business segment, turnover was significantly increased by 18.9% to
HKS$508.8 million when compared with last fiscal year (2007: HK$427.9 million),
however due to the increase of cost in material, the gross profit decreased by
8.3% to HK$59.7 million (2007: HK$65.1 million} when compared with last year.
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in the reporting year, a new production floor
equipped with clean rooms was added.
The team was also equipped with new fast
speed SMD production lines with nitrogen
filled furnaces, precise screen solder paste
application printer and X-ray failure analysis
checker. Other than the further enhancement
of the quality of products, the capacity of this

secior was increased by more than 50%.

The Group also engages in the production of
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iPod/iPhone Docking Gleck Radio

base stations, active antennas, radar parts,
electronic modules in automobiles as well as
PCB assembly for industrial purpose product
etc.

With the increase of investment in enginearing and techneclegical innovation,
the Group starts to explore the possibility of co-development of new products
with customers. The Group expects that this direction of EMS production will
bring the Group to be distinct among competitors.

Consumer Electronics

In the reported year, prices of raw material, such as plastic and metal,
increased in a quicker rate in comparison to the increase in selling prices.
in order to eliminate this risk, the Group had to selectively accept customer
orders to maintain reasonable prices. As a result of this policy. turnover of the
OEM and ODM manufacturing of consumer electronics in the reporting year
was HK$120.2 million (2007: 247.2 millicn) which represents a decrease of
51.4% but gross profit was increased by 21.3% to HKS9.7 million (2007: HK$8

millien).

7 aHESTRAOGE D
Damwva Associate Holdings Limited
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When most of the other competiters are suffering frem the high operation cost
in Dongguan and Shenzhen area, the Group has relocated its labor intensive
production floor to Heyuan, an area of much Iower operation cost. In the
establishmeant period of this new factory, the Group has maintained two parallel
production and management teams in both old and the new production site
which generates a temporary negative contribution to the Group. Howevaer,
since Nov 2007, alt the concerned resources have aready been consolidated
in the new factory and the negative contribution of this segment will become

insignificant in the coming fiscal year.

Products in this segment was mostly portable audic and video products for
households such as iPod dockings, radio, loud speakers, boom-box (portable
CD), cassette player, mini compo Hi-Fi, clock radic and electronic toys. To
prepare for the upcoming of new buyers, the Group has developed new models

and solutions in the reported year.

The Group also started to launch products in 1.8G, 245G and 5.8G cordless
DECT phones, Walkie Talkie and other applications in telecommunication. In
the reported year, software design and new tooling for the kick-off models
were finished. The Group expects that this new product line can be launched
to the market in the coming year. The group will also develop mid-price level
new products in DAB radio and internet radio by using the Wi-Fi technology.

To further enhance the capability in consumer electronics, the Group had
established successfully a tooling and mould division to fabricate tooling and
moulds for various internal product which the Group outsourcing in previous
years. The setting up of 20+ plastic injection machines with silk screening
printing and clean room paint spray workshop can further upgrade the Group

in a better pasition with good competitive edge.
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Chip On Board Assembling Process in Action

FUTURE PROSPECT

After the implementation of new labor contract law in China since Jan 2008,
most China based factories suffered from the substantial inCrease in labor cost
and a substantial number of competitors has already or will he forced out from
the industry. By the setting up of the Group's new factory in Heyuan, labor
cost as well as other operation cost of the factory was considerably reduced
which enable the Group to stand firm in the event. In the beginning of 2008,
new customers have already started approaching the Group to replace their
old suppliers who has quitted frem the market. The management is confident
that this event provides a good opportunity for the Group to select mere higher
quality customers. At the same time, the successful setting up of plastic and
tooling shop can further play a significant role in vertical production and cost

saving.

In the EMS segment, the capacity of
equipment is almoest fully employed.
The Group will procure new SMD
devices to further increase capacity of
this segment. Products for the DECT
cordless phone will be launched by
the middle of this fiscal year which
will bring the Group 1o a new era of
manufacturing.

At the same time, the successful
development of EMS business in
"Combiner Mcdules” has already been
approved by renown mobile phone
manufacturer.

Result in this new
product wili be a good add on to the
business in this sector.

in the distribution segment of electronic components, the new distributorships
gained in last 2 years are good players in the semiconducior market. The
Group has already gained good knowledge in the distribution of these new
products and will bring in meaningful contribution in the coming fiscal year,

In order to further penetrate the distribution business in the China market, the
Group will also establish new sales office in Chengdu. On the other hand, for
the further synergy effect of the distribution business, the Group is looking for
opportunities to acquire proper operations in the industry.

As a summary, the management believes that the coming year will be a fruitful
year for the Group.

9 [N ISR (g = i SN S|
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EMPLOYEES

At 31 March 2008,

employees of which 120 were Hong Kong based and 80 were Canada based.

the Group employed a total of approximately 6,000

Most of the others were PRC employees in different production sites.

The Group's remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices
and is determined on the hasis of performance and experience of the individual.
Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance
with the achieverment of their sales target. General staff are ofiered year-end
discretionary benuses, which are based on the divisional performance and
individual appraisals. The Group also provides a Mandatory Provident Fund or
ORSO scheme and medical benelits to all Hong Kong employees. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions cf the share option scheme adepted by the Company
on 18 August 2005, the Group may grant sharg optiens to directors and eligibie
employees. Up to 31 March 2008, no share options had been granted.

The Group is commitied to devoting more resources in providing internal and
external training to the employees. In addition to sending staff to participate
in seminars and lectures, the Group continues to recommend qualified stalf
to take part in professional courses such as the 1809000, TS18949 and Six-
Sigma Quality Systems. The training programs not only enhance employees’
career development and prolessional knowledge, but also contribute to up-

grading the management system of the Group.




B2 Financial Summary

AFEMBEHE FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HWTafaMaEfifeRZRass AERAM - The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years.
sk -3 J 1N —EE+ TEREN —REA —HEm
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
FHT FHEL FHET T THT
HKS$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Turnover 1,911,025 1,737,449 1,540,139 1,225,84C 841,606
Profit attributable to
BSE T R B )
sharehoiders 6,891 10,994 12,648 20,575 15,330
FirmE Total assets 810,902 773,513 685.250 607.630 474,851
JERfiE k] Total liabilities 422,258 402,077 325,833 258,282 192,707
AREE Net assets 388,644 371,436 369,417 349,348 282,144
AR Share capital 30,423 27,814 27.218 26,596 15,881
& Reserves 357,340 342,435 330,953 322,125 265.587
AR HURE RS Shareholders equity 387,763 370,249 358,171 348,71 281,468
PR TR AR RS Minority interests 881 1,187 1,248 827 676
VEERiEE Total equity 388,644 371.436 359,417 349,348 282,144
11 GoinE DR R E &
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“EEN\FERTREERBSCEERA
TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL BUSINESS FOR 2008

BT mas el RAE i
Manutacturing and
distribution of electronic
components (429%;

EAu R RBIEER
SRS I
Manutacturing and
distribution of personal
computer and digital
products 125%)

EHTTHREERER

EBHHRER

e— . Contract electronic
manufacturing service and
consumer electronics (33%)

“ERN\GFERLEBADZERR

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT FOR 2008
H{EEHER

QOther Asian couniries

B
Japan {17%) %)
BrM
.. Europe (9%)
HEEPEAR
Hong Keng and 5
. e S
Mainland China (425%%) North America
{31%)
2.0
Turnover
ZE®A TR
2008 2007
Fi@r T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFer - WiE R Manufacturing and distribution of electronic components 800,649 661.475
BHETUETERER Contract electronic manufacturing service and
B HEES consumer electronics 629,019 675,017
AAEE R 2T Manufacturing and distribution of personal computer and
= on A i F B digital products 481,357 400,957
1,911,025 1,737,448
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The board of directors of the Company {the “Beard”) is committed to maintain
gocd comporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’

value.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices ("Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 March 2008, save for the deviations discussed below. The Board
will continucusly review and improve the corporate governance practices and
standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and degision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code"). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the
directors of the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2008.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Beard focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attenticn
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principle
functions of the Board are to:

4} astablish the strategic direction and development of the Group:

2 determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance

objectives of the Group:
(3) monitor management performance:

4) approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,

key funding and investment proposals:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

{5} oversee the processes for evaluating the adeguacy of internal controls,

risk management, financial reporting and compliance:
(6) assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors.

Regular Beard meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, and to review the business operation and the internal
control system of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings. Beard

meetings are also held to approve major or special issues.
Five Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2008,

Members of the Board, number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows:

HESEIE HESeHAH
Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President) 5/5
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei. Pinky (Vice-President) 5/5
Mr. WAN Chor Fai 5/5
Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly 5/5

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT 5/5

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 5/5

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 5/5
15 HRESERGE D
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received from gach independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3,13 of the Listing Rule.
The Company censiders that all of the ingependent non-execulive directors are

independent.

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company, the Beard has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. List of directors and their biographical details are set oui on
pages 24 to 27.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual.

Mr. LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the
Company. In the epinicn of the Board, the role of the prasident and the chief
executive officer is the same. The Beard considers that the present structure
provides the Greup with strong and consistent ieadership and allows for
efficient and effective business planning and execution. Hence, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that
Mr. LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the rclas of the Chairman of the
Board and the president of the Company. However, the Company will review

the current structure as and when it becomes appropniate in future.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Under the Code provision A.4.1, the non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election and under the Code

provision A.4.2, every direclor, including those appointed for a specitic term,

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Currently, the three independent non-executive directors are not appeintad for
a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Gompany in accardance with the provisions of
the bye-laws of the Company, and their appointment will be reviewed when

they are due for re-election.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on, among cther things, the Coempany's policy and structure for the
rermuneration of all directors and senior management of the Company and is
delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the
Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the Company.

HEaNRR,
ERBREIE
No. of Meeting Attended/
Members of Remuneration Committee: No. of Meeting
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. LIU Naai Wing (Chairman) 141
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 1M1
Executive director
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 11

7 ERET LERNE D
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written terms of

reference.

The Audit Cammitiee is respensible for reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal contrel system of the Group and providing

advige and recommendations to the Beard.

Audit Committee is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice and to secure the atténdance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March
2008.

Members of the Audit Committee, number of Audit Committee mestings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows:

peleoac g b

FHERTOEREK

Number of meetings

attended/Number of

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee meetings held

Members of Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 2/2
Mr. LI Ngai Wing 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the foflowing duties:

{1) reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditors and reviewed
the unaudited interim financial statements, with recommendations to

the Board tor approval;

(2} reviewed the change in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Group's financial statements;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(3) raviewed the Group's internal control system and discussed the relevant
issues including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions;

(4) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory
requirements;

2) considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment and

approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of externat

auditor;

(8) reviewed and monitored external auvditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with

applicable standards; and

(7) discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting okligations before the audit commences.
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company did not establish a Nominaticn Committee. The duties and
functions of the Nomination Commitiee recommended in the Code are
performed by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing
his/her own terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director

being involved in assessing his own independence.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Board alsc ensure the timely publication of the financial staterments of the

Group.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the externzl auditors of the
Gompany, provided the following services io the Group and their respective

fees charged are set out as follows:

WE =z 8®A

Type of services Fees charged
FAT

HKS'060

Audit fee for the Group 2,380
Taxation services 103
Total 2,483

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts of the Group for the relevant accounting periods
in accordance with statutory and regulatory reguirements. In preparing the
accounts for the six months ended 30 September 2007 and for the year ended
31 March 2008, the directors have adopted appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently. The accounts for the reporting year have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditors about their reperting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report.
INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group's system of internal controls and is
committed 1o managing business risks and maintaining a sound and effeclive
internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The effectiveness of the internal control system was &lso

discussed on an annual basis with the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued;

The Group's internal centrol system encompasses ils policies, processes,

tasks, and other aspects of the Group that taken together:

M

(3)

facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond
appropriately {o significant business, operational, financial, compliance
and other risks with a view of achieving business objectives. This
includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from 10ss
and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed;

help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision

of reliable financial information fer internal or external reporting; and

help ensure comgpliance with relevant legislation and regulations, and

alsc with internal policies with respect to the conduct ¢f business.

The internal control system is designed o provide reascnable. butl not absolute,

assurance of nc material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in operaticnal systems and achievement of the Group's

objectives.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. lts subsidiaries are principaily

engaged in the design, development. manufacturing and distribution of

electronic components, elecironic manufacturing services and distribution and

manufacturing of perscnal computer and digital products.

An analysis of the Group's turnover and coniribution to operating profit by
business segment and geographical segment for the year is set out in note 5 to

the accounts.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37,

An interim dividend of HK$0.01 per share totalling HK$3,038,000 was declared
on 12 December 2007. The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of
HK0.25 cent per share totalling HK$761.000 in respect of the year ended 31
March 2008.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company's principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2008 are set

out in Note 19 10 the accounts.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note

17 to the accounts.
SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the company are sel out In note 32 to the

accounts.
WARRANTS

Movements in warrants of the company are set out in note 34 to the accounts.
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RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of materiaf transfers to and from reserves during

the year are set out in note 35 to the accounts.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2008, the reserves of the company available for distribution
amounted to HK$83,801,000 (2007: HK$91,366,000), including contributed
surplus of HK$72,309.000 (2007; HK$72,309,000).

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$580,000 {20071 HKE167,000)
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's bye-laws
and there was no resiriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda,
which would oblige the Cempany to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated resulls, assets and liabilities of the Group for
each of the five years ended 31 March 2008 is set out on pages 11 to 12.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2008, sales to the five largest customers of the
Group in total accounted for approximately 15.9% of the Group's total turnover,
with the largest customer accounting for about 8.0%. The five iargest suppliers
of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 34.2% by value of
the Group's total purchases during the year, with the fargest supplier accounted
for about 20.3%.

Ngne of the directors. their associates or any shareholder {which to the
knowiedge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company's share capital)

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were;

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan {President)

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky {Vice-president)
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai. Stanly

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky and Mr. WAN Chor Fai retite by
rotation in accordance with clause 99 of the Company’s bye-laws and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eiigible for re-glaction at
the Company's annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s bye-

laws.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, aged 58, is the founder and the President of the Group. Mr.
Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as Hong Kong
Baptist University] in Sociclogy and has more than 20 years’ management
and production experience in the electronics industry. Prior to founding the
Group. Mr. Lau had over 6 years' experience in running his own business in
the electronics industry. He is responsible for the overall corperate planning,

strategic development and marketing of the Group.

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky, aged 51, is the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan,
Ms. Chan is the Vice-president of the Group. Also she is the Director of
Administration and Finance responsible for administration, human resources
and finance of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 1998, Ms. Chan has
over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the

same time running her cwn business for more than 10 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr, WAN Chor Fai, aged 50, is the CEO {(Manufacturing) of the Group. Mr,
Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic {(now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in Production and Industrial Engineering and is
responsible for the business development and manufacturing management
of the Group. He has more than 19 years’ experience in manufacturing and
marketing, Prior to joining the Group in 1987, he worked for an international
conglomerate and was in charge of the electronics divisicn.

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly, aged 46, is the CEQ [Distribution) of the Group
responsible for the Group's overall marketing strategy and the distribution of
electronic components. Mr. Mak joined the Group in 1988. He has more than

20 years’ experience in the sales and marketing of etectrenic components.
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry Jdohn BUTTIFANT, aged 63, has been appointed as the Executive
Director — Finance of Mission Hills Group ("MHG") and an Executive Director
of Hsin Chong Construction Group Ltd (“HCCG™) in February 2008. Prior
to joining MHG, he was the managing director of Hsin Chong International
Heldings Limited (*HCIH"), which has significant shareholdings in a property
construction company HCCG {which was acguired by MHG in November 2007),
and a property management service company, Synergis Holdings Limited. Mr.
Buttifant was alsc an alternate director for both of these public companies.
Before jeining HCIH, Mr. Buttifant was an Operating Partner of Barings Private
Equity Partners Asia Limited. He was also the Managing Director of Wo Kee
Hong (Holdings) Limited ("Wo Kee Hong”) from 2001 to 2002 and was the
Adviser to the board of directors of Wo Kee Hong from 2002 to 2004, He was
the Managing Director of IDT International Limited for over 8 years and had
worked for Sime Darby Hong Keong Limited and Polly Peck Group for more than
11 years in the capacity of Finance Director and Managing Director during the
period. He is also an independent non-executive director ¢f Hong Kong public
companies: Giordano International Limited, and Alltronics Holdings Limited,
and two NYSE public companies: Global-Tech Appliances Inc and China
Nepstar Chain Drugstore Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. Buttifant is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certitied
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. the
Chartered Management institute; the Hong Kong Management Association
and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He became an independent non-

executive director of the Company in 1994,

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing, aged 57, holds a Master of Science Degree in Global
Businass from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management from the Heong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Master Degree in Business Administration from the Open

University of Hong Kong.

Mr, Liu is an independent non-gxecutive director of New Smart Energy Holdings
Limited and Hang Fung Gold Technology Ltd. He is an associate member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, and is also a fellow member of

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan, aged 55, was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) by
University of Londan in 1888 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) by
University of Hong Kong in 1991, Mr Choi was the Principal of Messrs. Y.F.
Chol & Co.. Solicitors from 2003 to 2005 but transferred to Messrs. Ong &
Chung Co.. Sclicitors. as an asscciate providing professional legal services for

customers of Hong Kong and foreign countries.

Mr. Choi was admitted as a Scliciter of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1993
and a Sclicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales in 1994, Before
Mr. Choi took up his legal career in 1993, he had served in the Home Affairs

Department for about 13 years {1877-1980).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior management

Mr. HO Chui Sing, aged 38, is the Qualified Accountant of the Group and
joined the Group in 2003. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic Universily. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and had over 9 years' accounting, finance and

auditing experience.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and these service contracts will continue thereafter untii terminated

by either party for not less than three or six months' prior written nolice.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within cne year without payment of

compensalion, olher than stalutory compensation.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors’ service contracts noted above and the connected
transactions noted as below, no other contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirecily, subsisted at the end of the year or al any time during the

year.
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(a) RELFASEMECIOEAZRAER

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2008, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief

axecutives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debantures

of the Company or any of ils associated cerporations {within the meaning of

Part XV of the SFQ) which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part

XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken

or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFQ0), to be nctified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to

Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or

which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules,

tc be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

{a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

ERITERAR 11418
FHERRG2KE

Number of issued ordinary shares/
underlying shares attached to derivatives

$rhianRs ERTEER

Unlisted Warrants Ordinary shares in issued

|32 PR §:3 F1-t i< Hiplis a8
-1 3: Corporate g Personal e Corporate Fe Other Total Rl
Name of directors interests Notes interests Notes interests Notes interests interests  Percentage
Bz
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7.862.388 2 6,537,141 i 147.706,499 28384 1,142,834 155,386,494 51.08%
3o e
Ws. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 7.862.368 2 4,022,854 1 147,706,499 24384 3657141 155.386.494 51.08%
FEBEz
Mr, WAN Chor Fai - 50.000 - - 50,000 0.016%
fuixE
Ar. Barry John BUTTIFANT - 500.000 - - 500.000 0.16%
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{a) RELRGREHE 10Tz RBFAHT)

Bt

1. s pETH(flrrsREB)BERER
‘@ EIRR {9 2,880,00048 »

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd
{[China Capital |} 2 54 2 5 7,862,388
2R % i RBR (374.431,43888 - China
Capital 2 BAH 2~ TEHITRAR DB %K £
A #BTESZETERTRTIHBLIE
ﬁ 3

3. Leading Trade Ltd ([ Leading Trade!) Ti &l
B ARG 60,918,396 i - Leading Trade
BAZATEBTREHEELHES BT
BozRtEBTREmM bR -

4, Cyber Concept Limited {{ Cyber Concept!)
& 1 22 6l IR 17 12,356,667 IR = Cyber
ConceptBF ZATEBITRABA L L
- BTasZATEETRAGBMETH
He

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continuec)

{a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

(continued)

Notes:

1. 2,880,000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau and Ms,
Chan (the spouse of Mr. Lau}.

2. 7.862.388 warrants and 74,431,436 shares in the Company were
beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd (“China
Capital™). The issued share capital of China Capital is 80% owned by Mr.
Lau. and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.

3. 60,818,396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading
Jrade Ltd ("Leading Trade™). The issue share capital of Leading Trade is
50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.

4. 12,356,667 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Cyber
Concept Limited {“Cyber Conrcept™). The issued share Capital of Gyber
Cancept is 50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.
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(b} RELXIFBRRIEZRE

Dominicn International Limited B2 58 &+ B
FEE T EEEO S TS

HFERARDA]

Cosmaos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Westpac Digital Limited

AR ER DA
Vastpoint Industrial Limited

SHEERR LA
Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

Hexr - EEERM ISR B EHERTRE
IRARARZEREFIELRD 140,000
% 10,000 % -

B LR EN  BRZFEFNE=ZBZ+—R - K2QE
sHHERRITHAIXNES 7BBEATHERTOR
AR EM(EREREHFLHITEMEXVED 2
Refn - R  EEWEPRGRERSSELEERRE
XVER7RENIANER AR RBEAr FaAn
(REERAHFRREEMN ISR RS R AR
i@ Eua) AN REEFRBEENE
32 EMMERE NIRRTz SR M #aasdian -
RIEEHHALZ EROSIHFRETEHZBSNIEETI
HHE SN RB TR 2 (TSR E -

(ST ST SN P S 30
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(b) Shares of associated corporations of the company

Dominion International Limited. which is 50% owned by Mr, Lau, and

50% owned by Ms. Chan:

BEZERREREROBE
Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

50,000

455,000

1,500,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000
and 10.000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmaotec

Precision Industrial Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, none of the Directors. chief
executives of the Ccompany or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations {within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
lincluding interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed 1o
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFQ, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or which were
required. pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified tc the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whele
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A subsidiary of the Group, Daiwa Distribution {Ontario) Inc., had entered into a
rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on 1 June 2006 with a
company joinily owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky for
the period from 1 June 2006 to 31 May 2011, Monthly rental paid for the office
premises is CANS15,332.64.

The above constituted a connected transaction under the Listing Rules,
The Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into
on normal commercial terms and on an arm's length basis and is fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company, taken as a whole, are
concerned.

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered
into any connected transactions discloseable by the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules") during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme™) in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which
replaced the old share option scheme (the “Old Scheme") in force previously.
The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no
share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2008.
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BOBRENFZRA=4 0 MEMGNEHRHE THAT
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Leading Trade Limited

China Capita! Heldings investment Limited
A EMA RS

South China Holdings Limited

Azt

1. Leading Trade Limited 2 50% & R EBEL T M
B A5 12 50% 4T &5 2P ST R A0 I B A3 o BlitE - R iR
BHZMEFH - Leading Trade Limited - $l: 3%
iz 1) 4R A E 560,918,396 - 163,248,882 %
163.248.882 0GR ZiEEE -

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited .2 60%

WEAREREEMBARORESAFEAS L L
Fima - Bt - RBiREH REYIEH - China Capital
Haoldings nvestment Limited - 455 13 M- 7 1 ik
iR A Hi 574,431,436 ¢ 163,248,882 [3 163,248,882
MADT R 2
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2008,
parties {other than Directors or chief executives of the Company),

to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
had an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Cempany which are required t¢ be disclosed to the Company under the
provision ¢f Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the 5FO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any

other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares of the Company

HER RS —
FLmERER EERITRE
HERGERBE Interest in agaak
FoEt Number of  underlying shares — % of the total

Note shares held unlisted warrants issued shares
1 60,818,396 — 20.02%
2 74,431,436 7,862,388 27.05%
36.502.198 — 12.00%
Notas:

1. Leading Trade Limited is 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% owned by
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mel, Pinky. Accordingly, Leading Trade Limited, Mr. Lau and
Ms. Chan were deemed by SF0 to be interested in 60,918,396, 163,248,882 and

183,248,882 shares of the Company.
2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 609% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan

and 40% owned by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, China Capital
Holdings Investment Limited, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFC to be
interested in 74,431,436, 163,248 882 and 163,248,882 shares of the Company
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or mcore of the issued share capital of the Company
and racorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2008.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float throughout the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an
annua! confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference 1o “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committeses” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountanis. Audit Committea provides an important link between
the Board and the company's auditors in matters coming within the scope
of the group audit. it also reviews the effectivensss of both the internal audit
and of internal controls and risk evaluation. The Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, nameity Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT, Mr.
CHO! Yuk Fan and Mr. LilJ Ngai Wing. Two meetings were held during the

current financial year.
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COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

ZRHBARLEMES  During the year ended 31 March 2008, ithe Company purchased a total of

EL A 184,000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, all of these shares were cancelled. Particulars of the

shares repurchased are as follows:

BRBHRXEN HE (BE

Price per share ZREHANI

BERSBAE NG R £ B A B R Total cost
Number of shares Highest Lowest {including
repurchased price paid price paid expenses)

T 2T AT

HKS HKE HKS

150,000 0.640 .596 92,500

34,000 0.640 0.590 21,760

184,000 114,260

EFLER Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

HeEsx @B o]  purchased, sold and redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during

the year ended 31 March 2008,
AUDITOR

%1% The accounts have been audited by PricewaternouseCocpers who retire and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Beard
LAU Tak Wan

President

Hong Kong, 30 July 2008
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
{incorporated in Bermuda with iimited fiabifity)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited (the “Company™} and its subsidiaries {tcgether, the "Group")
set out on pages 37 to 121, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the ccnsolidated income statement,
the consaolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporling Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountanis and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the trug and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an cpinicn on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Pubtic Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obiain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the audiior's judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity's preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order 10 design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectivenass of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reascnableness of
accounting estimates made by the directers, as well as evaluating the overall
prasentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for cur audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and
of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
QOrdinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 July 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2008

k.- F4N ZETL

2008 2007

st FAT FET

Note HK$'000 HKS'000

=310 Turnover 5 1,911,025 1,737,449
HERR Cost of sales 7 (1,721,155) (1,562.893)
EF Gross profit 189,870 174,556
H ik 25 Other income 6 778 881
pEfuptatlsba Selling and distribution expenses 7 (31,488} (29.678)
—BRITHAX General and administrative expenses 7 (134,673) (123.351)
BERER Operating profit 24,487 22.408
BAMmA — B{E Finance costs — net g {8,459) {7.080)
FEAG L AR Share of loss of an asscciated company (2,519) -
BR B ATAR Profit before income tax 13,509 15,328
FBEEE Income tax expense 10 (5,925} (8,011}

FEERA

FE(R T -
ALAEHEBEA
LB E RS

FRREREE ARG

sRAEH

Profit for the year
Attributable to:

Equity hotders of the Company
Minority interests

Dividends

Earnings per share for profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company

— Basic

— Diluted

7,584

10,994
(1.677)

9,317

6.959

HK2.30 cents #ill

HK4.00 cents &l

HK2.26 cents #1ll

HK3.99 cents &l
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Darvwa Assoc ate Holings Limited

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and land use rights
Interest in a jointty controlled entity
Interest in an associated company

Deferred income tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated company

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Cash and cash equivaients

Total assets

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity

holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Minority interests
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Taxation payable
Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

LAU Tak Wan

President

Hiat
Note

16
17
18
20
21
31
22

23
24
38

25

30
26

32
35

31

27
28
29

30

Ag at 31 March 2008

—gen —ERL
2008 2007
FAET Fix
HKS000 HK$'000
28,199 25,079
194,544 178,153
25,208 25,376
1 1

1,386 701
319 4,340

710 710
250,367 234,360
238,574 256,753
185,589 177,168
17,637 -
15,347 11,456
- 344
103,388 93,432
569,535 539,153
810,902 773,513
30,423 27,814
357,340 342,435
387,763 370,249
881 1,187
388,644 371,436
45,346 50,377
5,480 5,015
50,826 55,392
173,567 140,336
161,071 180177
28,272 23.710
2,243 2.462
6,279 -
371,432 346,685
422,258 402,077
810,902 773.513
189,103 192,468
439,470 426,828

CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
Vice-President
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Balance Sheet
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FRADEE
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R
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e
fea
i
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ik h=Ri ]
FEf TEF B A fh e i IE
FE R 1R
saf
BHESREH
RRAREE

BERE

gl|m W R
84 it

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due {rom subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments, deposils and other receivables

Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivaients

Total assets

Equity

isF
Note

19
38

25

26

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders

of the Company
Share capital
Reserves
Total equity
Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Taxation payable
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current liabilities

Net assets

LAU Tak Wan
President

32
35

29

As at 31 March 2008

—EgN —EFRA
2008 2007
FiEx FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000
34,038 34,038

296,631 292,423

330,669 326.461

174 192
55 -
32 52
261 244

330,930 326,705
30,423 27.814

300,087 298,496

330,510 326.310

420 354
- 41
_________ 420 395

330,930 326,705
{(159) 1151

330,510 326,310

CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky

vice-President

39 ETR VI B N A
Daiwa Assoc ate Hod ngs Lim.led




AR ERER Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE_FENEZF=+—HIFFE

it
Note
FEER>HRSTES Cash flows from operating activities
HHZBERA /(R Net cash inflow/{outflow) from operations
TBE 36(a)
AR E =N Interest paid
W HLS Interest received
FEEEENER Hong Kong profits tax paid
i e B R AR R AR Mainland China enterprise income tax paid
MEAFEB(E) /B Canadian income tax (paid)/refunded
BEREBAEHEA/FEE) Netcash inflow/(outflow) from operating
g 1 activities
BERRHSHR Cash flows from Investing activities
BOWE  HBREH Purchases of property, plant and equipment
M - MEBREHRL  Procesds from disposal of property, plant and
R - Wb FR AR AR 1Y AR gquipment, and leasehold land and fand use
rights 36(b)
GRS R Disposal of subsidiaries 36(u)
WMEAT ek EME Purchase of leasehold land and land use rights
BEDHLEMEEE Purchase of available-for-sale financtal assets
Uiz B B B 2 R Asguisition of subsidiaries 36(c)
BEXEZRSHETHE Net cash outflow from investing activities
REXRFEZRASHR Cash ftlows from financing activities
BT AR A Proceeds from issue of shares
TR E Share issue costs
% (81 B8 {53 Purchase of own shares
HinIRITH R New bank borrowings
THEITER® Repayment of bank borrowings
REAGESESZ Payment of capital element of finance lease
i obligations
gL Bividends paid
REXEZHSHEAFH Net cash inflow from financing activities

RERASEMYMMBEA  Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents
REA-AZRERBVEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
RERRSEAYW=-ELEE  Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents

R=ZA=+—HZBA%ER Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March
RaZEMp

gA0E LA R 40
Daiwa Assoc ate Hotdirgs Limited

For the year ended 31 March 2008

it 21N —ETRt
2008 2007
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
31,974 (27.096)
(9,985) (8,313)
1,526 1,233
{1,402} {681)
{3,049) (1,774)
{1,408) 341
17,656 (36,300)
(35,538) (34,820)
630 533
(17,492) -
{544) (180)

- (247)

- (360)
(52,944) (35.074)
11,764 3.800
- (6
{114) (782)
536,078 440,750
(493,900) (355,882)
{2,528) {3.194)
{7,595) {3.681)
43,705 81,005
8,417 9,631
93,432 83,540
1,539 261
103,388 93,432
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-QTNFEZAZT+—A4F7F

R-S¥tFmA—1
IhE A IT AL A
FEET

A HEN B
amwen (B

FEERZWARZ N
#E

B BT BERARHE AR
[iTE:spx: 4%

B IR in
S R RS |

:9)

At 1 April 2007

Currency translation differences

Profit for the year

Gain/(loss) on revaluation of
available-for-sale financial
assets

Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

18sue of shares upon exercise
of warrants

Purchase of own shares

Disposal of subsidiaries

Dividends

R-FTNE=ZHF=+—HB At31 March 2008

DEE SR REE ALY

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2008

[T LB RS Baam
Share Ei] b Minority Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
FHT TH#T FHT FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKE 000 HK$'000 HKE'000
(Rigt32) {#1:335)
{Note 32) {Note 35)

27,814 342,435 370,249 1,187 371,436

— 7186 7,186 812 8,098

— 6,891 6,891 693 7,584

_ 19 19 {80} {61)

- 14,096 14,096 1.525 15,621

27.814 356,531 384,345 2,712 387,057

2627 9137 11,764 - 11,764

(18) (986) {114} — {114)

— (637) {637) {1.831} {2,468)

— (7.595) {7.595) — (7,595)

,,,,,,,, 2609 8w S48 08 1567

30,423 357,340 387,763 881 388,644

44 [P R D £ B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

IR -FRNFEZA=H—HUFE

RIFZAFOA—A

MBI AR

R F

E Lm0 E
HEEY

FRHERR 2 AR
wihewm

B BeTT B ARAR AR
AT {0
BHITR DA

B ER{n

YR B AR

AR

At 1 April 2006

Currency iranslation differences

Profit for the year

Gain on revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets

Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

Issue of shares upon exercise
of warrants

Share issue costs

Purchase of own shares

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Dividends

RIBELHE-A=+—8 At 31 March 2007

(SRR IR (I = N
Da.wa Assoc.alc Hold.ngs Limiled

a2

For the year ended 31 March 2008

DR EE ARG
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

i DEERES Hxea

Share e e Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

FréT FHET & FET FExL

HKE'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(B1:332) (B3135)
(Note 32) {Note 35)

27.218 330,953 358,171 1,246 359.417

— 707 707 - 707

— 10,994 10,994 (1.677) 9.317

— 1,046 1.046 - 1,046

- 12747 1:‘2_.747 (.e77) 1 1070

27,218 343,700 370,918 (431) 370,487

760 3.040 3.800 - 3,800

- (6) (8) - (6)

{164) (618) (782) — (782

- — — 1.618 1,618

- {3.681) (3.681) - (3.681)

. b9 . 0265 (Begy . 1618 %4

27.814 342,435 370,249 1,187 371,436
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 March 2008

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited {"the Company") is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1984 as an exempted
company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April
1994,

The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, development. manuiacturing and distribution
of electronic components, contract electronic manufacturing services
and consumeér electronics, and the manufacturing and distribution of
personal computer and digital products. The Group operates mainly in
Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada and Japan.

These financial slatements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong
dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Company's Board of Directors on 30 July 2008.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistenily applied to all the years présented. unless otherwise
stated.

{a) Basic of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accerdance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"). The consolidated financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention except that certain financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) are measured at fair value, as appropriate.

The preparaticn of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management 1¢ exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree ¢f judgement or complexity, or
aregas where assumplions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Notg 4,

43 R AP F R NN
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CERPNEZR=4—

2. EESTBEMEw 2.

{a) KRBT

BEZFENFZA=T-BIEFE -
MTEW Rz BT RRECREE
-

EEGHEL HBHRAEN AT
FAR(BEHE) HE

TERBRSEY HETL  HE
ETH

FR(BRsHE ERTEGHENTS20
ERBEE®) RIRERBERER
— RESTH O BEEITHE
5%

FH(EREEE FEMBHSEL
ERIREAE) Epky:ofn]id
—iEEsR

an

(@ ﬁﬁﬁ BEHEARTETA
)

faey
[=}

—‘#

&lq,ﬁﬂ?

HE{RE Wﬁﬁ o BRET By 3 BRR
SHERLEES)
—%E%m%

FR(EGHHE FEVWBEHREER
SRERES®) Zof —£OR
—RERIE  BEELRS

SERLA B B 5T R IR A
5 B AR

HFEAFZHER - RAZETRR
PR R R A IR HIR M - B0
ERMEERA - ER 2 BRI
TREREE AR BRRELE
KRV -

FENE SRS N = B A D 44
Cama Assoc:ate Ho'dings Limited

37 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES fcontinued)

{a)

Basic of preparation (continued)

The following

standards, amendments to standards and

interpretations are mandatory for financial year ended 31 March

2008.

HKAS 1
{Amendment}

HKFRS 7

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7

HK{IFRIC)-Int 8

HK{IFRIC)-Int 9

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10

HK{IFRIC)-Int 11

Presentation of Financial Statements:
Capital Disclosures

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Applying the Restatement Approach
under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies

Scope of HKFRS 2

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment

HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

The adoption of the above standards, amendments to standards

and interpretatio
to the Group.

ns did not have any significant financial impact

The following new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have heen issued but are not effective and
have not been early adopted. The Group anticipates that the
adoption of these standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations would not result in a significant impact on the

results and finan

cial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ZFFNEFEZH=F-F 37 March 2008
2. EEEHHESEw 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES {continued)
(a} RNBRET) (a) Basic of preparation {continued)

HiEgHEd BEHENZ5(a= HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements
F1HEE BENFE-RA—H (effective for annual periods beginning
HD ®ZIROFHAM on or after 1 January 2009)

M)

FHHBHEE BHERNABZREA HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs (effective for annual
BIFE 235 F—A—Buzik (Amendment) periods beginning on or after
[REH ! HE R R ) 1 January 2008)

ERUMEEEE BEKH(HA_FFh HKFRS 8 Operating Segments (effective for
AFEsH F—A—Bkzik annual periods beginning on or after

mERARELEER) 1 January 2009)

EE(BEHER BEIZHNEZHEZ HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements
LREZAE) FENF—A-8 {effective for annual periods beginning
—RIFE128 B EMEREME on or after 1 January 2008)

S

EA(GARHBER TPIERESI(a= HK{IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective
ERETEES) FENFHLA-B for annual periods beginning on or
— RIEFE13% S EOTHERE after 1 July 2008}

i)

G (BB EE &S89 ENFE 98 HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 18 — The Limit on a Defined
SRiEEEy) —HArGidEEZ Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
—%BEF48 BH-BEERE Requirements and their Interaction

REEAEER(H {effective for annua! periods beginning
“EREAF-H- on or after 1 January 2008)
Ratz ke EHEH
B A )
45 AU D S R (T T
D 2a Asscc.a'r Hoid ngs L m ted
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Dawa Assoc:ale Ho'dings Limited

31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

{a} Basic of preparation (continued)

In addition, the following amendments to standards have also
been issued but are not effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

HKAS 27 (Revised)  Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements {gffective from annual
period beginning on or after 1 July

2009)

HKAS 32 and Puttable Financial instruments and
HKAS 1 Obligations arising on Liguidation
(Amendments) {effective from 1 January 2009)

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Vesting
{Amendment) Condition and Cancellations (effective

from 1 January 2008}

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations (effective from
1 July 2009)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these changes. The expected impact is still being
assessed in detail by management.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES {continued)

(b)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March.

{i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, inciuding special purpose
entities, over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accoempanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which controf is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acqguisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given. eguity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acguisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at thsir
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition aver the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisiticn is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Inter-company transactions. balances and unreafised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated, Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transactions provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary 10 ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

{b) Consolidation (continued)
{i) Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet the invéstments
in subsidiaries are stated al cost I83s accumulaled
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

{ii) Minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions
relating 1o equity interests in the subsidiaries with
minority interests as transactions with parties external
to the Group. Disposals to minerity interests result in
gains and losses for the Group that are reccrded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority
interests resull in goodwill, being the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

{iii)  Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associated
company is accounted for using the equity method
of accounting and is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investment in an associated company includes
goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition.

The Group’'s share of its associated company’s post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acguisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investmant. When the Group's share of losses in an
associated company equals or exceeds its interest in
the associated company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations ¢or made
payments on behalf of the associated company.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b} Consolidation (continued}
(iii) Associated companies (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associated company are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's interests in the associated company.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associated
company have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopied by the Group.

{iv) Jointly controlted entity

A jointly controlled entity is an entity established under a
contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which is subject
to a joint control and none of the participating parties
has unilateral control over the economic activity.

In the consolidated financial statements, investment
in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the
equity method of accounting and is initially recegnised
at cost. The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits
or losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. Tha cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in jointly
controlled entity equals or exceeds its intergst in the
jointly controlled entity, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.
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2. EEESHBEREEw 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES {continued)
(b} SAER (L) {b) Consolidation {continued)
(ivi REEHEBET) fiv)  Jointly controlled entity (continued)
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extent of the Group's interest in the jointly controlied
entity. Unrealised losses are also efiminated unless the
transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Accounting policies of the jointly
controfled entity have begen changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

(c) I HE (c} Segment reporting
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A pusiness segment is a group of assets and Operations
engaged In providing products or services that are subject to
risks and returns that are different {from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of segments operating in other economic environments.

(d) SR (d) Foreign currency translation

{i) DEHNZHREY (1) Functional and presentation currency
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Hems included in the financial statements ©f each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consclidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company's functional and
presentation Currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions, Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

{i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (uniess
this average is nol a reascnable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are iranslated at the dates of the
transactions); and

{ii} all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation. exchange differences arising from the
translatton of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to sharehclders' equity. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange ditferences
that were recorded in equity are recognised in the
consolidated inceme statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liakiiities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLIC'ES {continued)

(e)

{f)

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold fand and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses
(if any). Cost mainly represents consideration paid {or the
rights to use the land on which various piants and buildings
are situated for a period of 26 {0 57 years {rom the date the
respective right was granted. Amortisation of leasehold land
and land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
pericd of the relevant leases and land use rights.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction-
in-progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any,
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the
income statement during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and squipment (s calculated
using the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate
cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Buildings straight-line 2%
Plant and machinery reducing balance 15%
Leasehold improvements furniture,

fixtures and equipment reducing balance 10% to 33%
Motor vehicles reducing balance 15% to 33%
Moulds and tooling reducing balance 15% to 50%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on the same
basis as described above.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES fcontinued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assels’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed. and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset's
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are delermined by comparing the net sales proceeds with the
carrying amount of the relevant assets and are recognised in
the income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction, interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these asseis
during the period of construction and other direct costs
attributable to the construction. All other borrowing costs
are expensed. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets
are completed and are available for the intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property. plant and egquipmeéent and depreciated in
accordance with the pclicy as stated above.

{g) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries at
the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwiil relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made 1o those cash-
generating units or groups of gash-generating units that are
expecied to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES {continued)

(h)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associated
company, a jointly controlled entity and non-financial
assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation, which are at least tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment 1oss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
ameunt, The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less cosis to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial Assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial agsets
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

(i} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category consists of financial assets held for
trading and those designated at fair value through profit
or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term or if so designated by management.
Cerivatives are alsc categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as bedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if they are
either held for trading or are expected to be realised
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial Assets (continued)
{fi} Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determined payments that are not guoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 2 months after the
halance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables include trade and notes
receivables, loans and other receivables,

{ifi} Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category Or not
classified in any of the other categeries. They are
included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of
the balance sheet date.

Purchases and szles of financial assets are recognised on
trace-date, that is the date on which the Group commits tc
purchase or seil the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or lcss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement, Financial assets are derecognised when the righis to
recaive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subseguently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using effective interest method, less any
provisicn for impairment.

Gains or losses arising from changés in the fair value of the
financial agsets at fair value through profit or loss category are
presented in the income statement in the period in which they
arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL'C'ES fcontinued)

(i

Financial Assets (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in
foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resuiting from changes in
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences on monetary
securities are recognised in the income statement; translation
differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in
equity. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities are recognised in egGuity.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired. the accumulated fair value adjustments recogrised in
equity are included in the income statement as gains and losses
from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the
effective interest méthod is recognised in the income statement
as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement as part
of other income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid
pricas. If the market for a financial asseét is not active, the Group
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These
include the use of recent arm'’s length transactions, discounted
cash flow analysis and option pricing modets, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as littie as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each palance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities c¢lassified
as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
tair value of the security below its cost is considered as an
indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
which is measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financia! asset previously recognised in the income statemant, is
removed from equily and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the income statement.




B 7% 3R Bl 5E

Notes 1o the Financial Statements

—EFNFZHA=SH

2. HESGTHESMEsw)

i

(k)

U]

TEEMTAZEHER

TETAMSFERTETIASNTNR
Bz NHEER - Bgign HEERE
e WIRHES 2 WA R AR
HRERENET ARG EEENDTA
WigERMIR - BIBURBHEM
RE2MH - iR RENTEERIA
A ERER eI HTET
Az LFEBEATHROSEALR -

FH

FHERARNLXHFEMENTES
BB o B TR AR T A LU 2 09 g
8- WA & REH R MR EEFRH
Bl HEST  RitBEEARATEES
SEATREYREERSERN) - &
TEBERRE - TERFELAERE
EHBIETAGHEEDN  HERMR
BT -

P BR R R L fth P e 8 1E

FEWBR S R HAL NGRS LT
[EEE - Bk A MR RIREER AR
MO EREGOE)HE - BARHEN
BB 7 A 18 B0 3% TR e M TROR SR A PR
WE 2 g AUAK - ANAEEERRR
i HIFL R - BRINEHEARE
PR I B A A & I i 2 i ET AR
EnMRAECHZEZRE - AEER@OR
ERBREE BERRED  BREWTE
AERHEESHBEERE - HEYE
FaEyE - DR BHE R B b B e
BE 0 o F 12 M Bl 8 27 B8 3 B IA 4E Bk
BRsH AR A MRS

31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

)

(k)

"

Derivative financial instrumenis

Derivatives are inftially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. The method of recognising the
resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative
is designated and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if
50, the nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of any
derivative instruments are recegnised immediately in the income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
valug. Cost is determined by using the weighied average
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour. other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing cosis. Net realisable valug is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.
'ess applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and cther receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when thers is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able tc collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the prasent
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement within administrative
expenses. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables. Subsequently
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
other gains in the income statement.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'CIES {continued)

{m)

(n}

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks ang bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance
sheet.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and eguity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according 0 the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Financial liabilities (including
trade payables) are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. An eguity instrument is any contract that does
not meet the definition of financial liability and evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting alf of
its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs. net
of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity
share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is transferred frem retained
profits to capital redemption reserve.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at {air value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costis} and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 manths after the balance gheet date.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All
borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the couniries where the Group and its
associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject {o interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities,

Deferred income tax is provided in fulf, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assels and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
a liability in a transaction other than a busingss Combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profil or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit wili be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
aristng an investments in subsidiaries, an associated company
and a jointly controlled entity, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES {continued)

(r)

(s)

Employee benefits
{i) Pension obligation

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays
contributions on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive cbhigations 10 pay further contributions
if the fund does not hald sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

The contributions are recognised as employment cosls
when they are due and, where appropriate, are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those relevant employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions.

{ii) Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liabilty when the Group has & present legal or
constructive cbligaticn as a result of services renderad
by employees and a reliable estimate of the cbligation
can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to
be settled within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive cbligation as a result of past events; it is
prchable that an cutflow of resources will be required to setlle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihcod of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'CIES {continued)

(s)

t)

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of meney and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Leases {as the lessee)

fi)

(1)

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. Finance {eases are capitalised
at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair
value of the leased assets or the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance charges so
as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in current and non-current
liabilities, where appropriate. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged toc the income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Operating feases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Paymenis made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor} are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.
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31 March 2008

2. EEESRESZEw 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

{u} WARUWRESD {(u}) Revenue and income recoghition
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Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities, net of value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and after elimination of sales within the
Group. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured. it is prebable that future

B EWA - economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group's activities as described
below.

fi) HEHE (i) Sales of goods
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Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer, the
customer has accepted the products and collectivity of
the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

{iii) Rentaf income

Rental income under operaling leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders or directors, where apprapriate.
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3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and
cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk. The Group's overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Management regularly menitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governad by the Group’s policies approved by the
board of directors of the Company. The Group would normally
enter into certain forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its foreign exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the People's
Republic of China {‘PRC"} and Canada with most of
the transactions settled in United States doilars {"US
dollars”), HK$, Cninese Renminbi (“RMB") and Canadian
doliars ("CAD"). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency, The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US dollars, Canadian dollars
and RMB.

Management has a policy to require group companies
te manage their foreign exchange risk against functional
currency. It mainly includes managing the exposures
arise from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than their own
functiona! currencies. The Group also manages its

toreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and
has entered into certain foreign exchange coniracts to
manage foreign exchange risks.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had certain outstanding
forward foreign currency coniracts to sell/purchase
US dollars. US dollars recently experignced certain
depreciation which is a major reason for the recognition
of a significant liability in respect of derivative financial
instruments as at year end, details of which have been
disclosed in Note 30.
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3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued}

fa)

{b)

(c)

Foreign exchange risk {continued)

As at 31 March 2008, certain of the Group's receivables,
cash and bank balances and trade payables were also
denominated in foreign currencies, details of which have
been disclosed in Notes 24, 28, 28 and 38.

At 31 March 2008, if HK dollar had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against other foreign currencies,
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year would have been approximately HK$0.2 million
higher/low (2007; HK30.4 million lowes/higher), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/iosses on translation
of foreign currency-dencminated receivables, cash and
cash bank balances and trade payables.

As at 31 March 2008, if the exchange rate of HKD/LSD
had been 0.05 higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HKS$5.5 million/HKS$2.3 million higher/
lower, mainly as a resuit of the changes in fair value loss
of the derivative financial instruments,

Price risk

The Group is exposed to eguity securities price risk
bacause investments held by the Group are classified
on the consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale
financial assels. As the available-ior-sale financial assets
are relatively insignificant 1o the Group, management
considers that the Greup's velatility against changes in
the price of the available-for-sale financial assets would
not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented for the price risk.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash at bank, trade and
notes receivables, deposits and other receivables,
dertvatives financial instruments and available-for-sale
financial assets included in the consolidated balance
sheat represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets,




F 755 3 & BT E

Notes to the Financial Statements

TRENFZASZS—H

3. BBEBREERuw

34 MREBRAEE)

(c}

(d/

EHREEE)

FEEABE 5 RIT AR AN
TE-PHEENMERAARES
BBMRE  AETESRT
R el A L T
ERTEABASERER -
A1 40 1% e R 80 B8R LA R ) ¥
PR RO EABAE
AT A A 7 RS & o 3R ) [ 5%
SHRBETEATE EHE
18 .

LSBT REEETNE
F1a8 R = B L R th WE
MR AmEEE. HE—
HATBEREPEHER -

BEETHRERS AL
% MR MERRER
EREXRBEE  HRTkg
FE M 8% R B LA FE R ERIFE AT
ERRRMERTE - AGWETE
SRR 2 BEIE B H i T ERE
WMBHERABER MEE
MR ERTTNEZEKRE
FERGEHBEERF LR
D1 -

HBH LR

FERNADHASEREIRIEHR
HRENASRREEFNY -
EEBRBIyCALEERE
DEREHEAARE -

3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RlSK MANAGEMENT (continued)

341

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c}

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

Substaniially all of the Group's cash at bank are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Canada: all derivatives financial
instruments are also entered into with these financial
institutions, which management believes are of high
cradit quality. The Group has a policy to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any financial institution and
management does not expect any losses arising from
non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale
cf preducts are made to customers with an apgropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers, Normally the Group does
not require collaterals from trade debtors.

Managsment makes periodic collective assessment as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the trade and other debtors and whether
thare are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and directors are of the opinion that adeguate provision
for uncoliectible recsivables has been made in these
consolidated financial statements.

Liguidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities.
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ZFENE=ZA=tH 31 March 2008
3. HXEBREREws 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 MBEEEEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
fd) EBEcERE(L) {d) Liquidity risk (continued)
AEENTERSEFEELR The Group's primary cash reguirements have been
BEEADE EEREH- for additions of and upgrades on property, plant and
EFEEE - LR HES equipment, settlement of borrowings, payment for
EEEEpHORTRREE trade and other payables., and payment for operating
A FEUMERATERM expenses. The Group mainly finances its working
EITERRETRESAESHE capital requiremants through a combination of internal
BEAMRIRERS - resources and bank borrowings.
FEENBR2ETFTHERESH The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
EFEENRDA TR RER expected liquidity reguirements to ensure it maintains
HERETHRSEREZOY - sufficient cash balances and adequate credit facilities
FEBEMNEIT KRS to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
BERBeENESRRE - term,
TRUMREBETIEESH The table below analyses the Group's and the
A B &) 30 ik HA FE AR B R R Company's financial liabilities and net-settled derivative
SO HAR AR financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
Gt TREGHNEEALR on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
FEBEFDLE®ENGA contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
S RABTHIEMRRE R - table are the contractual undiscounted cash flow based
on the earliest date on which the Group or the Company
can be reguired to pay.
—FEWE —EERE
—E£R Between Between
Within 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000
£H Group
—R28NF=H=1+-—-8H At 31 March 2008
MITHK Borrowings 176,364 31,446 17,146
R BRIE Trade payables 161,071 - —
BB RERE A FIE Accruals and other payables 28,272 - —
fiEssTA Derivative financial instruments 2,484 3,795 —
“RELEZAST—H At 31 March 2007
MWITHR Borrowings 142,566 24,509 28,238
FETE RBEIH Trade payables 180,177 — —
FEfT R B H B A FROH Accruals and other payables 23,710 - -
Y| Company
—BRNEFE=ZRA=+—8 At 31 March 2008
ENERREMMEAMAREA  Accruals and other payables 420 — —
—ZRpETRE+—H At 31 March 2007
FE TR A 3R Accruals and other payables 354 - -

il L B oH sl A 66
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3.

371 March 2008

FINANCIAL F"SK MANAGEMENT {continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (continued)
{e) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at bank, details of which
are disclesed in Note 26. The Group's exposure 10
changes in interest rates is mainly aitributable to its
pbank borrowings, details of which are disciosed in Note
27. Borrowings carry at floating rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carry at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. The Group has net used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2008, if the interest rates on borrowings
had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HKX$283,000 {2007: HK$318,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of highar/lower interest
expense cn floating rate borrowings.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group's current financia!
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and notes
raceivables, amount due from an associated company, and
deposits and other receivables, and the Group's current
financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and other
payables and current borrowings, approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities.

The fair valug of financial instruments traded in active markets
{such as publicly traded derivatives and available-for-sale
securities) is based on guoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask
price.

67 R L E IR e
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31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair vafue of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example. over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a
variety ot methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quctes for similar instruments are
used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the
remaining financial instruments. The fair value of forward foreign
exchange contracts is determined with reference to quoted
forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustmenis of financial
assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one vyear
are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
markset interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure tc
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital siructure and make adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payments to shareholgers, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or {0 obtain new bank
borrowings.

The Group atso moniters capital on the basis of the gearing
ralio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (include current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated
as “equity”. as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus
net debt.
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—FEFENF=A=+—H~H 31 March 2008
3. RERREE 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 ®HaEABEET 3.3  Capital risk management (continued}

RoBBENFRE-RF+EZR=+— The table below analyses the Group's capital structure as at 31

- BiitkEOT: March 2008 and 2007:
k. 3 J 4N —2RL
2008 2007
FAET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
g B (A ar) Total borrowings (Note 27) 218,913 190,713
X BeBRREZMW(EIF26) Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) {103,388) (93,432
M3 Net debt 115,525 97,281
AR Total equity 388,644 371,435
WA Total capital 504,169 468,717
ARAML R Gearing ratio 23% 21%
ROBRNEERBEMLEEENETER The increase in the gearing ratio during 2008 was mainly resulted from
AR R R SRR MG the increase in total borrowings during the year for the expansion of the

HimaEIE AR o Group’s operations in the PRC,
M-ZEENF=ZA=+—08- £:E79 As at 31 March 2008, the total banking facilities made available
5B (& B 458 49 4 282,670,000# 7T to the Group amocunting to approximately HK$282,670.000 (2007:
(BT & 2754500005 5F) - M HK$275,450,000) of which approximately HK$238,802,.000 {2007:

K238 802000 T(ZFF+ F: HK$177.329.000) was utilised by the Group.

177,329,000 BB EEEHA -

69 oELT L o .
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37 March 2008

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgement used in preparing financial statements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are belisved to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equai
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment, other than construction-in-progress. with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from use of these assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functiens. Management will adjust the depreciation charge
where useful lives or residual values are vary with previcusly
estimated. or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated usefu! lives and
actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review cculd result in a change in depreciable lives and
residual values and therefore depraciation expense in the future
periods.

{b) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairmant (Note 18). Other non-financial assets including
property, plant and equipment and leaseheld [and and land use
rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying ameunt may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on vafue-in-use calculations or fair value less costs o
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.
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31 March 2008

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT {continued}

(b)

(c)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset valugs may
not be recoverable: (i} whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present vatue of future
cash flows which are estimated based upcn the continued
use of the asset in the business; and (i} the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by managemeant in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections. could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial
position and results of operations. |f there is a significant
advarse change in the projected performance and resulting
future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the income statement.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selfling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and variable selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historica
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response toc severe
industry cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at each
balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. This
assesament is based on the c¢redit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Management reassesses
the provision at each balance sheet date.

71 U S PR A B
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5. EXHRoBEN

Turnover
Sales of goods
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continuvea)

(e}

0

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivalive financial instruments which are not
traded in an active market is determined by using vaiuaticn
technigues. The Group uses its judgement to select an
appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date. The valuation models require the input of subjective
assumptions, including forward foreign exchange rates. risk
free rates and market volatility. Changes in subjective input
assumptions can materiality affect the fair value estimate.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income t{axes in various jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of ithese matters is different from the amounts ihat
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
deiermination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax loases can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differances will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and income tax charges in the
period in which such estimates have been changed.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

M
Group
=BEN —FFE
2008 2007
FHx FHT
HK3000 HK$ 000
1,911,025 1,737,449
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CUTAEZ AT A

31 March 2008

5. EXBRISBER 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

{a) FEREES — B2 FER {a) Primary reporting format — business segments:
RIFENF=ZF=+~-H  hEBR= At 31 March 2008, the Group is organised into three main
BEXESEBEK - (B TLEENER business segments: (i) Manufacturing and distribution of
MH(BTREME) WU THES electronic components (“Electronic Components™; (ii) Contract
ERSEEFEEERER  ()\BAT electronic manufacturing service and consumer electropics
RS SERRELEHE(EAEER ("EMS and Consumer Electronics™); and (i) Manufacturing and
BIBESR) - distribution of perscnal computers and digital products (“PC

and Digital Products”).
AHRTHRLERE
RRTERERED
R77E4 EMS and G ARBERERR Fig)] 1]
Electronic Components ~ Gonsumer Electronics PG and Digital Products Eliminations Group
RN CE%- CREA OCRY- R4 CER: ¥R CFS- 8w gt
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
iz TiER FET HEr Far FEL AT T F&T TET
HKS000 HESTDO0  HKS'000 HESTOD  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000
18 Turnover
Hobing External sales 800,649 851475 629,019 675017 481,357 400857
AREHE Irtgs-sagment sales 1,251 2852 - - - - (1,251) 12.852)
801,500 664327 629,019 675,017 481,357 400,857 {1,251 {2852 1,911,088  173744¢
— —
A8ES Segment restlls 23,196 1544 764 1,467 7476 5940 38,313 36,051
malsA Una'ocated income 6,063 183
#3EER Unalcaiad expenses (18,363) {14.223)
BERE Finance cosis 9,985) (8.313)
AEBRLTEE Shars of loss of an
associated company {2,519) -
i bk incarma tax expense {5,925) o
FERER Profit for the year 7,584 9,317

RER RN Z HE R B HTETHE
WRERERTAEH -

Inter-segment sales are accounted for at mutually agreed prices

and eliminated on consolidation.

73 HEEE

T Tt

Dasna Assoc ate Holdings Lem ted




Bt 7% s R B 2 Notes to the Financial Statements

—ZFFENE=H=+—8 31 March 2008
5. BXmkoBER @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
{continued)
(a) FTEHERS — $BoHER (& {a) Primary reporting format — business segments: (continued)
GHETSRLERE
ERTHRERER
B rEH EMS and Consumer BABEREBER 2E
Electronic Components Electronics PC and Digital Products Group
Z¥EA ZETF b2 I8 - “ZEN “EFEt mt £ ) s
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

AT TR FAL TR FEx T FAz TAT
HKS'000  HKSOOC  HK$'000  HKE'000  HKS'000  HKE000  HKS'000  HKS'00

EE Assets
SHEE Segment assets 364,845 305,772 321,927 344,857 96,044 96,869 782,816 747,438
FalEE Unallocated assets 28,086 26,015
HAE Tolal assets 810,902 773,513
AfE Liabilities
AMRE Segment liabilities 98,194 75,337 53,359 87,544 36,939 38129 188,492 201,010
FoRak Unallocated liabilities 233,766 201,067
mEf Total fiabilities 422,258 402077
N ——

it g Cther information
it Capital expenditure 5,905 6,452 37123 42,305 919 35 43,547 48.842
FEREH Depreciation and amortisation 5,348 4944 12,080 10,674 338 279 11,766 15897
[ER:gia Impairmant loss of goodwil - - - 156 - - - 156
B Write-down of inventories 6,220 3,959 - - - - 6,200 5,954
kDR Impairment of trade

receivables 1,185 1,107 - - 533 162 1,698 1,268
SHEETEOEFAEEIEN - B Segment assets consist primarily of goodwill, property, plant
¥ mEREE - Ll L HE - and equipment, leasehoid land and land use rights, inventories,
FE BUBEE2ERSEHREER receivables and operating cash, and mainly exclude investments

s R EE © and certain corporate assets.

SERETrEREAER SR ER Segment liabilities comprise opérating liabilities and exclude
BRMEHE R EMERAREES items such as taxation, corporate accruals and corporate
A berrowings.
EREREaERE - WE - BERE Capital expenditure comprises additions to gocdwill, property,
ERA R Hh{EAE - FARERLE plant and eguipment, and leasehold land and land use
TN B A RImES B - rights, including additions resulting from acquisitions through

purchases of subsidiaries.

bR E s RARSE 74
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5. EXBPhsBEN#

{b) REZHHEE — HEIBES -

FEU=ETIZESHEBUROMESE
HE o LTREARM SR N ERE
EARMAX RBAE -

B RREARE Hong Kong and
Mainland China

Bl=F North America

B Europe

ER Japan

HDHER Other Asian countries

ERBERF A RED -

ErMHZREEREREEMERE

%

6. HlxH

HE WA

Hi Others

31 March 2008

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

{continued)

{b} Secondary reporting format - geographical segments:
The Group's three business segments operate in four main
geographical locations. The following table provides an analysis
of the Group's turncver, capital expenditure and total assets by
geographical locations.

R EAMHE sk

Turnover Capital expenditure Total assets

2 1N —EE+ k210 bk “REN TETL
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
FHT THET FiEr FHT FEx FHET

HK$'000 HKE'000 HK$'000 HKE'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

791,114 550,846 43,027 38677 745,974 645,805

593,389 649,542 520 81 64,928 69,870

175,313 262,445 - - - -

326,573 230,458 - 10,084 - 57.838

24,636 44,157 - — - -
1,911,025 1,737,448 43,547 48,842 810,902 773,513

Turnover is allocated based on the location of customers.

Capital expenditures and total assets are allocated based on the
lccation of those assets.

6. OTHER INCOME

Rental income

S 20 —EEL
2008 2007
FHI FibT

HK$°000 HK$'000

753 587
25 294
778 881

75 FER - SR LT Y N
Da wa Assgc ale Moldings Lim:{ed
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7. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of trading merchandise,
finished goods and work-in-progress

Trading merchandise, raw materials and
consumables used

Auditor's remuneration

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights

Depreciation
— owned property, plant and equipment
— property, plant and equipment hetd under

finance leases

Employment benefit expenses (including directors’
emoluments) (Note 8)

Impairmeant loss of goodwill {included in general and
administrative expenses)

Impairment of trade receivables

Write-down of inventories

(Gain}/loss on disposal of property, plant and
eguipment, and leasehold land and land use rights

Operating lease rental in respect of land and
buildings

Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial
instruments

Net exchange {gains)/losses

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repair and maintenance expenses

QOther expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses
and general and administrative expenses

3T March 2008

=2ZN —FE+
2008 2007
FEx FHT
HK$'000 HKE'000
8,551 (44,842)
1,614,300 1,470,057
2,380 1.855
649 652
16,267 13,804
850 1,444
166,226 148,828
- 156

1,698 1,269
6,220 3,959
(25) 326
6,972 6,386
2,990 (1,085)
{9,960) 553
21,400 23,432
10,336 10,002
944 985
4,517 3,787
33,001 74,357
1,887,316 1,715,822
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31 March 2008

8. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employment benelit expenses, including directors’ emoluments,

consisted of:

Wages, salaries and allowances

Bonuses

Pension costs — defined centribution plans
Welfare and benefits

9. FINANCE COSTS — NET

Interest income from bank deposits

Inrterest expense on bank Icans wholly
repayable within five years
Interest element of finance leases

=L 290 —EEL
2008 2007
FEx FHET
HKS$'000 HKS 000
145,519 127,644
3,943 4.635
2,269 1,358
14,495 15,191
166,226 148,828
28 —EEL
2008 2007
FHET FET
HK$°000 HKS'000
1,526 1,233
{9,818) (8.165)
(167) (148)
{9,985) (8.313)
{8,459) (7.080)

Finance cests — net

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

FRRIEMRETHEHA - TRABHDIE
S B AR L R 7 SR AR D A A A R SR
BEBZGERBBNIE176%(ZFF L
Fo75%) QBB RBEM e PRMT RS
BZREMRBPEPEMGEH  HER2BRE
33% (ZFFALF - 58%) ° MR MERKILE
B2 DA R ENEARGHR - RER35%
(ZFFEF  35%) -

The Company is exempled from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 17.5% [2007: 17.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong.
Companies established and cperate in Mainland China are subject to
Mainland China enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% to 33% (2007:
33%). Companies established and operate in Canada are subject to
Canadian income tax at the rate of 35% (2007: 35%).
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ZFFNEZA=+—H

10. FIESHBIZ )

31 March 2008

INCOME TAX EXPENSE {continued)

ot 2 J LY —_EFt
2008 2007
FET FET
HKS8'000 HKE'000
BHIRRIA ¢ Current taxation

— HENEH — Hong Kong profits tax 1,014 2,015
— PHEEEAMEBR — Mainland China enterprise income tax 2,085 2,252
— MEARIEE — Canadian income tax 1,548 901

ELHIBEEESZRMELRED Deferred taxation relating to the origination and
(Fisza1) reversal of temporary differences (Note 31 arzs 843
5,925 6.011

FMEARREAEMNZ AT - BEAAEE
FeEQRBRMNERAMERIHEmMEE 21

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the
theoregtical amount that would arise using the weighied average tax rate

MR EOT applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:
3 J LN TEEE
2008 2007
FET FiT
HK$'000 HK$'000
B T AT F Profit before income tax 13,509 15,328
A0 B R FESIE Add: Share of l0ss of an associated company 2,519 —
16,028 15,328
B iz s  ERE Tax calculated at the weighted average domestic
MR 2 b E 9 J| 1T tax rates applicable to profits in the respective
jurisdiction 3,112 541
SRR IR A ER Tax effect of income not subject to tax (4,968) (2,045)
Ta Bz E g Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 3,801 5211
FERZHIARB Tax lossas not recognised 3,783 2,548
Hih Others 197 {244)
BEsE Taxation charge 5,925 8,011

R_FENEZAE=+—8 - URNOMETS
HELHI04% (ZFRLF  3.5%) - FBERE
AXNEREQAEGRTERHEREF
Ge RS -

ST A T SN 78
Dawa Associate Hordings Lim:ted

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the weighted average applicable
tax rate was 19.4% (2007: 3.5%). The fluctuation is mainly caused by a
change in the relative profitability of the Group's operations in different
tax jurisdictions.
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—UTAFES A=+ —& 37 March 2008
1. BEERSRITHRAEHS 11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS
{a) EHEME () Directors’ emoluments
MRIZEZENFZHAZ+—AFDEEN The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
BIHEDT the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out below:
BHEER
Contribution
$2R2N it to retirement
He Salaries and Discretionary beneiit 828
HEHE Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FAr Tz Fix FET FEz
HK$000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
HOES Executive directors
§EgEs Mr LAU Tak Wan - 2,970 - 135 3,105
FEBRE Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,201 - 56 1,257
FoERs Mr WAN Chor Fai - 1,365 - 53 1,418
iR Mr MAK Hon Kai, Stanly - 1,365 - 63 1,428

Independent non-exe cutive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - - - 100
Mr LIL Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50
225 6,901 - 307 7433

749 L' oLl ot
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—FFNE=RA=+—H 31 March 2008

1. BEERERITRAEM T 11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

{(a) gt e ) (a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
RIBE+E=A=+—AERRBE The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
Tz BAEmT the year ended 31 March 2007 is set out below:

EHREER
Contribution
Ha ke BHBILAL 1o retirement
He Salaries and Discretionary benefit 5
HEEg Name of Diractor Faes gllowances bonuses schems Total
FiEx AT FET TET FET
HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000
BOHF Executive directors
EEREs ir LAU Tak Wan - 3.510 443 162 4,115
BEiiat Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,201 253 5 1510
FEBRE Mr WAN Chor Fai - 1,300 300 50 1650
FEERT Mr MAX Hon Kz, Stanly - 1,300 500 80 1,850
EUHHITRE Independent non-executive directors
2fRRE Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - - - 100
PRERE Mr LIU Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
BEEAE Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50
225 7,311 1496 38 9,360
BNMERATFEBENEE TS No director waived any emoluments during the year (2007: Nil}. .
(ZRBALE R RAFEEHE L No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join
FREIPER MBS LT SBRA or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2007: Nil}.
ZHN 2T FE ) HRHEE No director has been granied or exercised any share option
BPRITEEAERECEELF during the year (2007: Nil),
B
GOR T L i B on 80
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EERSRITRAEME @

(b}

HiUBBHFAL

FEEEBNDEEREMA LR
mE(—FR LT PR UF - A
EREREXGT - AR —RB(ZFF
tE—RIBRABALZBE N
T

LA S R HBRE
Bt TEAL
R iR (K

s 2 BRI T -

F — 1.000.000# L

REFEEN TEHBHFAL(REE
FREMAT)  URBIEMMSE
BNEMEALEREGHN(ZFE
£ F) -

AREFTH

&H

APEURITRELCHE R F RN BER

AR E T EERE - BRIBRE

HERAMEHBH AARER ARSI
7 aRYTREERE -

31 March 2008

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS {continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the vear include four (2007: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presenied above. The
emoluments paid and payabie 1o the remaining one (2007: one}
individual are as follows:
=t -2 3\ BT
2008 2007
FhT FAC
HK$'000 HK$'000
Basic salaries and allowances 741 520
Discretionary banus 83 20
Pension scheme contribution 12 24
836 B34
The emoluments fell within the following band:
AB
Number of individual
t 251N ZETL
2008 2007
Nil — HK$1,000.000 1 1

During the year. no emolument was paid to the five highast
paid individuals {including directors and other employees) as
inducement te join or as compensation for loss of office (2007:
Mil).

12. PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes, the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group under independently administered funds.

81 GUE LT R R
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12.

F=H=F-B

ARBEE
BB (47)

ERRRBREAT  FEEREERORERE
H¥gnaszEbEs 2 iG AN - EH
A& AR SERE R MR RER
FIALESEREREERZHERE - BE-F
BANFZR=+—-BLFEE EEHET
ALEL PN Ez{ERGETER(Z
BEALE 58000 T)  RZRFNFZA
S4+—E - EFHELT - EHERAAEZINE
ARERSEFRERAEIREZRALA
49,000 (= FH+F : 9.000# L) «

EGRHEART - FAERAESEOSMERED
AMAL(EBRENELASHIGNZTESR)
B zZAEHR - AEEREIEF 2HANRA
BAREI000H4T  EBRWMSHR —EHT
BIE BN B I ERA - FHERDERR
BISER -

ol

IRRPEERRE - REATEAEEE R
KABRHTGHE - EEHAT - £8W2E
HIEHEEGRAUMAR(BETE - Bt
MO #s% R RERER S ARARALY
RKB-10% = BRI LS ESN - HMRIZH @I
MILER S Z ITE AR - IR EBRK
Arulg s EREIIREE MRS -

e X

AEMEEANEAGERERAREZ2FS &
TETHERENEBRBEENN  MNERH
REBWKEBICPPIE R - #HEKEDR
BHBELARREL4905%B(ZFEF L5
495% )R BAEERSEMEREEALR
T % % 343,000 LB 2 K 44,900 7T M=
FE A F 204,000 LB F H4A3700H
TTY) -

'
=

i
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B
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12.

31 March 2008

PENSION SCHEMES /continued)

Hong Keng (continued)

Under the ORS0O Scheme, the Group and its employees make monthly
contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% and 5%, respectively,
of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees who have
terminated employment are utilised by the Group to reduce its future
contributions. The unvested benefits so utilised under the scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2008 amounted to HKSNIil (2007:
HK$58,000). and the amount of unvested benefits as at 31 March
2008 that are available to reduce the Group's future contributions was
approximately HK$49,000 (2007: HK$9,000).

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Both the Group's and the employee's contributions are
subjected 10 a cap of HK$1,000 per menth. The contributions are fully
and immediately vested in the employees.

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes {o state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees
in Mainland China, The Group's relevant employees make maonthly
contributions to the plans at approximately 5% of the relevant income
{comprising salarigs, allowances and bonus). while the Group makes
monthly contributions at approximately 8 to 10% of such relevant
income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions beyond its contripution. The state-sponsored retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

Canada

The Group is reguited to make monthly centribution to the National
Canada Pension Plan (*CPP"} in respect of iis employees in Canada
based on the relevant employees’ salaries, with the exceptions of
certain excluded employment and benefits, at a rate of 4.95% (20C7:
4,95%) of the employees’ salaries subject to a maximum annual
pensionable earnings of HK$343,000 {equivalent to CAD44,900) (2007:
HK$294,000 {equivaient to CAD43,700)).

|
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DEREEAE ABGEER

FABZHEBEEARESH  BALEHRH
WRAFHNB 144008 T - BEELF : BF|
B20,268,000#T) -

Hﬁr%\

31 March 2008

13. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in
the financial statements of the Company t© the extent of HK$144,C00
{2007: HK$20,269,000).

14. DIVIDENDS

—¥FEgN —E2Rt
2008 2007
FEx FExT
HKS$'000 HKE 000
ERER B EGIR00ET Interim, paid, of HK$0.01 {2007 HK$0.01) per share
ZETAE QBRI (note (i} 3,038 2,787
EEZF-EECEEEFPRATR 2007 final, paid, of HK$0.015 per share (note (1))
0.0165 &M ) 385 —

¥R A B 2 E A% 0.0025 & T Final, proposed, of HK$0.0025 (2007: HK30.G15)
(ZBE5F 0158 (H5FE))  per share fhote (/i) 761 4172
4,184 6,959

FfsE - Note:

[0} HoEZL+F+-A+-HRT 2 ®EE iy At a meeting held on 12 December 2007, the Company's directors
EHEMEEE - EELEAA=THIESE declared an interim dividend ot HK$0.01 per share, totalling
A g w @00 AT - SESDER HK$3,038,000, which was paid on 7 January 2008,
BAE30380008 T BHOFEAE—A
LR
BZBEREV-R - Fafamp iR In December 2006, the Company’s directors declared an interim
BEBCOBT - 2HEBIREAERIER dividend of HK$0.01 per share. Qualifying shareholders, at their options,
BRER® (MR ERi)LAEREZSRSR could receive the dividend (1) in cash or {ii} in warrants to subscrine for
DACELEER DRI GFIREMEICETLZ ordinary shares of the Company of HKS0.1 each at HK$0.4 per share on
Ll RE RS -RERES - T the basis of one warrant for every seven shares held. In this connection,
AT - P HARR A LA () IR & 962,000 7T & the interim dividend was settled by (i} cash of HK$962,000 and {ii)
26,070,000 WA ERH 1 - 26,070,000 warrants.

(i) BoBRRLFELA-FLERTZEEE (i) At a meeting held on 27 July 2007, the Company’s directors proposed a
EERHEEREREBTRBRONSHE final dividend of HK$0.015 per share for the year ended 31 March 2007.
RR-FERLEZA=+—9 HHEH ANl qualitying shareholders as of 24 August 2007 will be entitled to these
EEEYEEESEA - M _FTLFLA dividends. During the peried from 27 July 2007 and 24 August 2007,
“HEBE-_FEFARTEOEE - 25 666,667 warrants were utilised to subscribe for 25,666,667 shares of
B 525,666,667 L B AL R 1T - BARR the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.40 to HK$0.50 per share.
EeseeseeT RO BE - TEARER Consequently, an additional dividend of HK$385,000 was paid during
QACETROSOHT - AREBE_ZZT+HE the year as part of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007.
ZHA=Z+—8 - HENE1385000/8BT K
HRAR 2 -

{iii) B_EBNFL+A=+H8T 9B E £ (iii) At a meeting held on 30 July 2008, the Company's directors proposed

SHBRTFERLFEARK0.25F -
ERRAS & A s A FE SRR P AR R
BBREE-FRNE=A=ST B
FEIIERE R TIE -

a final dividend of HK0.25 cent per share. This proposed dividend is not
reflected as a dividend payable in thesa financial statements and will be
reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31
March 2009,

83 4 KT Lmlhs N E
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—FENEZR=AF—H 31 March 2008
15. 8REF 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Bx (a) Basic
FREFRBMNERETERCAERE Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
B AESEMNR D BTT SR mE atlributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
EEEEL - average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
hnt - F1N TER4
2008 2007

BOEEzEER ARMGRRCFET)  Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company (HK$'000) 6,891 10,994
R METEeTRE(F) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue ('000) 299149 274,826
BRELBNGELER) Basic earnings per share (HK cents

per share) 2.30 4,00

(b ne {(b) Diluted

HEERBUATE  RHEHETYTE Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
B MEFAMELRE - URSFAF weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
HBME O RITERARERLTYE assume convarsian of all the Company's outstanding warrants.
82 o BHEE TRAR UK 04 342 77 0 4R AR HE 57 BB A calculation is done to determine the number of shares that
ZEMEZ Y EEY  BUNATRE could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
AR HHEIARQTIRGEZBEY average annual market share price of the Caompany's shares)
EREINm s Bn 88 o Exarst based on the monstary valug of the subscription rights attached
UoBRme B TRRABREERTE to cutstanding warrants. The number of shares calculated as
Mo BT 2 RS E L - above is compared with the number of shares that would have

been Issued assuming the exercise of the warrants.

et /3 T2N —ET
2008 2007
FLFERTE ABMER Profit attributable to equity holders of the
(F&x) Company (HK$'000) 6,891 10,994
ERERNEFSEITEE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(F) in issue {'000) 299,149 274,826
REESRECF) Adjustments for warrants {000) 5,688 7689
RS SRR ZNEFHA%  Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BL(F) for diluted sarnings per share ('000) 304,837 275,595
FhEgaEAR Dituted earnings per share {HK cents per
(BH&ae) share) 2.26 3.99
FERE 1) DR = B SR SN | 84
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ZEFNEZH=F—R 31 March 2008
16. @& 16. GOODWILL
t - 2 F2N k308
2008 2007
FET Fi#T
HKS$'000 HKS'000
A% AR Cost
»MmA—H As at 1 April 25,235 24,811
L L YNE] Acquisition of subsidiaries - 239
EREE Exchange differences 3,359 185
HERE LR Disposal of subsidiaries (239) -
B»=H=+—H As at 31 March 28,355 25,235
BREHH Accumulated impairment losses
®mA—H As at 1 April {156) -
HER% Impairment losses - (156)
Ww=A=+—AR As at 31 March T L {(158)
BRTRE Net book amount 28,199 25,079
BREENE Impairment tests for goodwill
EONEERR " HEHwBERRBSBERZ Goodwill is allocated to ihe Group’s cash-generaling units identified
AERSELBENHAE - according to country/place of operation and business segment.
BRoRZOBSEENMT A segment-level summary of the allocation of goodwill is presented
below.
2 )\ —g%+
2008 2007
BARER TABEE
BTIRE BEER a7 EE HSEQ
Electronic  PC and Digital 4] Electronic PC and Digital a%
Components Products Tota! Components Products Total
FAz 74 Fiérx FET AT FET
HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS§'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000
X Canada - 28,199 28,199 - 24,840 24,840
5P Japan - - - 239 - 239
- 26,199 28,199 239 24,840 25079
SR ERE TR - Y e ik 6 G WA S A For the purposes of impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of
ficr s - @ARGESH T HERATEGMNRA goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
BEgmit e EERTHMABBERINR SR calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
SV approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews
covering a five-year period.
85 SRR L T .
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S

16.

(#F¥=HF=+—F

[SE=36:8

FEFERAZEERSMT

EFR
BRE
FR®

Growth

RENENEDEEREFRERAREAET
BERNHEMATE - MERAMERERE L
ek tERTEANRES . IEANGSE
MRBRHAKRIEG  ERBMEEEERNTST
R ABTENERRR - ERBFEEE o
RAREEE YEAROBOEBETE -
BREEHEEZ  LRFEERFOEIMERAHE
SEPr T8RS NEEERAT AN
BT RSNAREINMEANTEBREH
AL AR - TR REATAZES T HE
FRERMARERERZE -

iy

BIBEFLF - BFRATERE L Daiwa Microtech
Limited ) &8 - B EZMBREESESN
1656,000% 1 - BHALBNEREE% -

16.

Gross margin

rate

Discount rate

31 March 2008

GOODWILL {continued)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

g A A
Canada Japan
operations operations
7.7% 9.3%

2.5% 5.0%

7.5% 5.0%

The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based
on past performance and its expectation for market development,
The growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the
industry growth forecast. The annual discount rates are before tax
and reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific
risks relating to the relevant segment. Management has considered
the above assumptions and valuation and has alse taken into account
the business expansion plan going forward. Management believes
that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to
exceed the recoverable amount. Judgment is required to determing key
assumptions adepted in the cash flow projections and the changes to
key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections.

During 2007. impairment losses of HK$156.000 were recognised in
respect of goodwill arising from acquisition of the interests in Daiwa
Microtech Limited following a decision to close down the relevant
operations.

17. VX - BBRIZE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
£H Group
AT
ERREH
Leasehold
g5  improvements,
RARAS furniture, BARIR ERIE
: £ Plant and fixtures and htd Mouldsand  Construstion- ai
Buildings machinery equipment  Molor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
FEE TEE ET AT FEL TR FET
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS 006 HKS000 FKS 000
R-9%t¥HA-A At1 April 2007
A Gost 72,407 129857 39,270 6,216 11325 2649 290,172
ESFERRE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 11,334 {70,702 (20.447) {4 036) 5,808} - {112,619)
£Izd Nzt book amount 63.923 38,153 18.823 2180 11427 2847 178,153
[ I < A NEEN 86
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ZEFNFEZAZF 8 31 March 2008
17. 1% - BB EREw 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
fcontinued)
H=EE Group (continued)
£ GR-
EADER
Leasehald
#E  improvements,
RERAE furniture, #ARIR ERIR
#% Plant and fixtures and Bt Mouldsand  Construction- E b
Buil(yngs machinery equipment  Motor vehicles teoling in-pragress Total
FET TE#T THL AT AT AT i
HKS 000 HKE'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKSG00 HKS'G66
Z$3AF=A=1-H Year ended 31 March
tEE 2008
ENEIRE Opening net book amount 63,923 59,153 18,823 2,180 11,427 22,647 178,153
Eiz% Exchange differences b2 213 152 5 n - il
FE ) Addttions 2003 11,955 4,454 215 3,508 20,868 43,003
G Transterred from
) constructon-in-progress 43,515 - - -~ - {43,515} -
EETEHY Dispose's {208) (5} (154} (155} - - {519
HE Disposal of sihsidiaries {864) {6,108} (495} {103} (2,447 - 9,717)
13 Deprecizion {1,69) (3,589) {2.728) {389) @120 - )
BRE3EE Closing nei book amourk 106,918 55,624 20,055 1,607 10,140 - 194,544
RZB2AFZAZT-2  At31 March 2008
s Cost 114,948 13,32 42,010 6,032 17,583 - 316,854
EEFERRR Accurulated depreciation
and impairmet {13,030) (75,697) (22,015) {4,225) {1.443) - (122,410
EI:5 Net book zmouni 106,918 55,624 20,055 1,807 10,140 - 194,544
B-RRAEEE-H At 4 April 2006
58 Cost 57,667 116,147 35644 6177 9877 7,862 243,394
EHMERES Accumulaied depreciation
and impairment {10,308 {61,926) (18.268) (3,708) {3501) - [97.732)
Net book amount 57,378 54,221 17,356 2468 5,376 7862 145,662
ut 224 SF: ES - Year ended 31 March
2007
Opening net baok amount 57,318 54,221 17.366 2469 6376 7862 145,662
Exchange differences 120) 52) 2 2 (30} - 73
Additions - 1597 KARX] i87 5528 2213 38,578
Transterred from
construction-in-progress 1.3 - - - - {7.328) -
1€ Disposals 1232) [14) (38} {280 - - @)
E%[\?i,ﬁi‘ft Acquisiiion of & subsidiary 7B 6278 637 % 1,950 - 9,845
HE Depraciation (1.279) (8.877) {2262 (430) {2,397 - 119,245)
Closing net book amount 63,923 53153 i5,823 280 11427 22641 178,153
R=SFLE=B=+-80  At31 March 2007
T ) Cost 75457 129,857 18,270 6.216 17,325 2,647 e
ERfERNE Accumuiated depreciation
and impairment {11,534 (70.704) {20447) (£.036) 15,998} - {112.619)
EEz% Nat bock amount 63,923 50153 12,323 2,30 i n84 178,153

a7 LRRoLn o
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ZFFRNEZH=4+—8

31 March 2008

17. 9% - BBERRB) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
{continued)
BFHREEESHOT Net book value of the buildings is analysed as follows:
HE
Group
it 21N —ERL
2008 2007
Filx FHET
HKS$'000 HKS'000
HEE In Hong Kong held on;
10-50F 2 B4 Leases of between 10 to 50 vears 6,187 6,365
R FALASMEE - Outside Hong Kong held on:
10-50F 2 T8 & Leases of betwean 10 to 50 years 99,647 56,542
50F M L2/ Leasas of over 50 years 1,084 1,016
106,918 63,923

FEREEHP7651.0008ET(ZFF L5
7,747,000 7T ) 75 8 5 B 4 30 B B 9,466,000
BT(ZEFLFE 74980008 T IE—ME
7 R B & A0HE -

MIFENE=ZA=+—08 - ZHERARD
CEHERHEMEETREY 51,834,300
(=BT : 8,164,000%7) -

R ST R AR D 88
Datwa Associale Holdings Limited

Depreciation expense of HK$7,651,000 (2007: HK$7,747,.000) has besn
charged in the cost of sales and HK$9,486,000 (2007 HK$7,498,000)
has been included in general and administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2008, the Group had plant and machinery with net book
value of approximately HK$1.834,390 (2007: HK$8,164,000) heid under
finance leases.
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EEmHELI R ERERRONERY

- REFESHMT

HIMREFE
EHEZE
AT

1t 44

el is
HAR AR R
B -

fIReEE
10-50 5 7 F#

IR B LAY T
10-50 £ 7 &9
S0E 7S

31 March 2008

18. LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS
The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments and their net book amounts are
analysed as follows:
4
Group
bt 1 1N —ERL
2008 2007
FET Fi#T
HK$'000 HKE'000
Opening net bock amount 25,376 26.093
Exchange differences 23 -
Additions 544 180
Amortisation (649) (652)
Disposats {86) {245)
Closing net book amount 25,208 25,376
Geographical analysis:
In Hong Kong held on:
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 7,865 8,110
Outside Hong Kong held on:
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 17,145 17,066
Leases of over 50 years 198 200
25,208 25,376

BAHEEANRARHCEREEESRER

M- BRI -

MBARRE

FEEM - AR

HF - REHIERMETIR

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in
genéral and administrative expenses.

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
g
Company
28N ZERE
2008 2007
FHET FET
HKS'000 HK$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 44,715 44,715
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (10,677) (10,877}
34,038 34.038
a9 PP R I TN

O w2 Avues ale Hod ngs Lim h:(ji
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19. MIBATRE W
ATz T EMBATIAERNOT
SREL/BTuY
Place of
el incorparation/
Company establishment
AfEREN -
[nterests hekd directly -
Datwa BV! Limited ERnEs
British Viegin lslands
RiEsals -
Interests held indirectly =
TRETERLE EUALEE
Chiassa Inc. British Virgin Islands
EREEERLA Vet
Daiwa Associate Lid British irgin isfands
Efte Cantury Holngs Lid =lARAR
British Yiegin Islands
ARESERDA &4
Cosmos Power Holdings Lig Hong Kong
FHBTERDE )
Cypress Oistrinution Limited Hang Kong
TEETIEARLA b
Cypress E'zctronics Limited Hong Kong
HUAR(PH)ER LD Ea
Dafwa Associate {China) Limited Fong Kong
RSN B - S 90

Dawear Ansoc:ale Ho.d ngs Limtled

19,

TEOENE
Principal place
of operation

ERERER
Brii’sh Virgin Isfands

el
Mainland China

ga
Hong Kong

5

Hong Keng

k2
Hong Kong

fiz

Hong Kong

G
Hong Kong

&t
Hong Kong

37 March 2008

|NVESTMENTS |N SUBS'D'AR'ES {continued)

Particulars of significant subsidiaries:

ERTEARRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

1000087
US510.000

B
Uss2

PEF

Uss2

250000057
/552,500,000

10,0007
HKS10,000

2ER

HK$2

2k
HK$2

T
HiKS2

L1253 e
Percentage
of equity
interest held

i00%

100%

100%

i00%

100%

100%

100%

i00%

tERBEH
Type of legal entity

HRRALS
Limiizd fiability company

RAELE
Limileg lighility company

ERAFLE
Limited liability company

BRARLE
Limited hiabilty company

BRERALE
Lim:ted liabifity company

ERAERS

Limited lizbility company

ERffLT

Limited Yizbikty company

ERRERT
Limited liabisty company

IEKE
Principal activities

REER
Imvestment noidings

NIk

Sub-coniract manufacturing

SRAR

Invesiment holdings

RRAR

Investment holdings

Fé s
1L
Invesiment holdings

Manutaciure of consumer
electronics

LEUTHEEE
Manutacture of consumer
elecironics

562
Property holdings
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19.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BB 2 RIIR B (an)

44
Company

REBEEE -3
Interests held indirectly -

e
n'l}

;

E3EAL
Davia As

ssaciaia (KX} bimisg

EHETERLE
Daiwa Distribution Limited

IR N
Dawa Electronic Ld,

sHTEERAE

Daiwa Industrial Limited
ERBHERRA

(aiwa Interconnect Lid.

SPREHRRT
Daiwia Manufaciuring Limited

BRREILERLE
Darwa Precision Indusirial Lid

ERAZERDE

Daiva Resources Limited

LHTREERLE
Daiva Sysiem Limited

{continued]

SRR/ RINE
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

-1

€
Hong Kong

3
Hong Kong

T
=
Hong ¥ong

i
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

£
Hong Xong

£
Hong Kong
#a

Hong Kong

g
Hong Kong

19.

F:3 53 bt
Principal place
of operation

i
@i

Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

it
Hong Kang

E
Hong Kong

B3
Hong Kong

&8
Hong Kong

&%
Hang Kong

g4
Hang Keng
e
Hong Kong

CRAIRAERE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

BB 00ER

Ordinary shares
HKSi00

EZRERERD

3L0000ARLEE

&

Mon-voting deferred
sharas
HK§3,600,000
{noiz i)

500000020
HKS5,000.000
000ET
HKEH0000

500087
HK35,000

100087

HES$1.000

4ET
HK$¢

1000027
HKS$10.000

FERRESH
Percentage
of equity
interest held

163%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

iM%

TERREH
Type of legal enity

PR
BAACH

Lirvied |.uD..: ¥ company

HRRERR
Liraited liability company

FRERLA

Limited liabifity company

ERALLE
Limited ability company

BERELE
Limited lizbility company

BRRELT
Limited fabdity company

BERELT

Limited Kzbilty company

Limited L.abity company

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued

IERD

Principal activities

adminisiraive senice

ETRatiy
Distribution of electronic
compongnts

RERR
Investmert holdings

Aeh

Invastmert holdings

BIxatEg
Distributicn of electronic
COMponants

Maﬂu]aclure of electronic
components end
manufaciuring services of
elecironic products

rﬁ;z

Srocurement o materials

aazs

Invesimeni holdings

2LEECHEE
Traging of computer
componenls

g1 5

7

e VI PERE S
Do na Assce ate HOIg ngs L ed
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19. HMBARAKRE W)

&7
Company

MERERE -

Interests held indirectly - (continued)

ATHS(REIERLT
Daiwg Trading {Guangdong) Lid

AEAEEHARR LT
Daiwa fuen Xwong Plastic
Manufacturing Lid

Imtec Companents Ltd,

Maxwfd Mucro.ech Ltd.

2EREARLT

Uriiiy Eletuical industnal Lid.

BEAR(ZRILEERAT

Unity Precision Electrical Lid

ERERTERLT
Vastpomt Imtec Electronics Lt

,,,,, NERUIRRERAH
B'earmg Ui Vastpoint Electronics
Technology Lid.

RRHER)ERLT

Chinz Faith Electranics (Heyvan) Lid.

RREFRTERAE
Dongguan Cosmos Electronics Ld.

FOIE [V T P L I | N 92
Damwa Assoc:ale Ho'dings Limited

HRSY/RL0E

Place of
ingorporation/
establishment

Hong Kong

Bt
Hong Xong

B2
Hong Kong
£4
Hong Kong
B
Hang Keng
&2

Hong Xong

&2
Hong Xeng

&

Mainland China

Fll

Mam\and China

=l
Mainland China

19.

Io0ERY
Principal place
of operation

iy
ot

Hong Kong
o

Hong Kong

Er
Hong Kong

b

i

Hong Kong

mh
f

Horig Kong

#E
Hong Kong

s
Hong Kong

N
Mzinland China

=

F}»"l]

Mamland China

&E
ek

Mainland China

31 March 2008

|NVESTMENTS |N SUBSID'ARIES (continued)

CRIRAZES
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

4Ex
HiS4

433330357
HKS4 333,333

0,000%R
HKE10,000

20000ER
HK$800.000

2,000.000&7%
HKS2,000,000

eBR
HKS?

10087
HK$100

ESETS00.000AER
Registered capital
RMB500,000

LTAT 200,
Registerad capital
551,200,000

EORTARR
2,000,000 7

Registered capital
RMB2 000,000

HRREERL
Percentage
of equity
interest held

i00%

0%

100%

100%

5%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EERAEH
Type of legal entity

L\m.\ed liability company

HRRELE
Limited kabiity company

BRAEAT
Limited liability company

Lxmnvd liabl Iw.y company

BRAELA
Limitzd liabiity company

BREERA
Limitad liabilly company

EEEELDY
Wholly foreign-gwnad
enterprise

LELRREAS
Wholly foreign-owned

IzER
Principal activities

RAER
Irvestment holdings

RAER

Imvestment holdings

RERR

Investment holdings

SFREHEE
Distribution of electronic
compongs

FERERUSAS
Manufagture of electic wir

BREARNE
Trading and manufacture of
elaciric wire

Binakiz
Distribution of electronic
components

ETREREE
Distribution of electronic
components

ETERES

Manufacture of consumer

enieprise dlegtronics
pEEEEELE ETEEZERR
Wholly foreign-owned Contract electranic
enterprise Manuiaciure service
T e .
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19.

MBEARBRE W

|
Company

BERERE ~ 4/
Interests held indirectly = (continued)

ERABRLE &RAT

Daiwa Companeni {Shanghai) Lid.

SRRBR(E JERAT

Daiwa Gompanan (Shanzhen) Lid.

SRETERIARLA
Daiwa Electronics {Heyuan) Co. L1d.

ERREREIES R
Daiwa Yuen Kwong Industrial (Heyuan)
Lid.

aR{PRIBFIEERLS
Dlatwa [Zhaoging) Etectronics Industrial
Limited

FEREHINSRLT
Dongguan Water Semi-Conducior
Co., Lid.

4ERREEIERED
Unity Industrial {Heyuan) Ltd.

BERH(RRISERELT
Unity Precision {Dongguan) Electrical
L.

BRAE/FUNY
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

=K

Mainland China

SR
Wanland China

&8

Mainlang China

T

Mairland China

]

T

Mainlznd China

Gl
Mainlznd China

HE
Mainland China

o
Mainland China

19.

ITHELR
Principal place
of operation

rxll

Mzinland China

L=

Mankang Ching

TE
Maindand China

-

2]

Mainlaad China

&

Mainland China

Al
Mainland China

af
Mainland Ching

=
T

Mainland China

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

FERREGE
Percentage
of equity
interest held

ERTRMRRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

EERT000ER 100%
Registerad capital
138200,000

ETATZ000000E T 100%
Registered capital
HK$2,860,000

SHARIE000ER 100%
Hegistered capial
US$3,600.000

ETAT L RNN0ER 0%
Registered capiial
U3$1,820,000

SRAE3B000EE 100%
Aegisiered capial
US33,384,000

EARTET 20007 100%
Registered capital
HKS71,712000

ERER1 55000027 100%
Registered cagital
1S$1550000

SRAT ATTINAT %
Registered capital
HK$1,477000

LERREH
Type of legal entity

1RER
Principal activities

RE2EAELT =115
Wnolly foresgn-owned Distribution of electronic
enterprise components
FEEPRARELE STRBEEl
Vol foreign-owneg Distributian of elecironic
enterprise COMPONents
REENZANALT ERESEELS LN
Wholly fare-gn-owned LERTARES
EREIDNSe Coniract electronic
manufacture service
and manufacture of
ConSUmer electronics
FEECE REAREE
Sino-foreign equity joint Manufacture of plastic
Venturg parts
LEETIER
Manufacture of electroric
emerprise omponants
PEXRRRLE LEQTNES
Wholy foreign-owned Manufacture of glectronic
entarprise companents
METARARE RERRER
Wnolly ioreign-owned Manufacture of electnic wire
enierprise
SETABRRR 22N
Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electric wire
enterprise
a3 GOROE LW R

Da wa Assccale Hold ngs L.ormited
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37 March 2008

19. B LAIREwm 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)
ST/ RIS HKHRREAL
Place of TEHERY CBIRARES Percentage
23 incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity £ ZNREHN IE%E
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital  interestbeld  Type of legal entity Pringipal activities
NENHEE -3
Interests held indirectly — fcontinued)
FERERT(RIERLE Sl HE ERARZ000,000# % 100%  AE2EEERE EinBken
Vastpoint Imiec Electronics (SZ) Ltd. Mainland China Mailand China Registerad capital Wholly forgign-owned Distribution of electranic
HK$2,600,000 enierprise COmpONENS
SETERGTRALR 37 a5 GZARS0000ARY 0% HELRAALT SFRERES
Yun Fu Daiwa Electronic Lid. Mainiand China Mainland China Registered capial Wholly foreign-awned Distribution of e'gctronic
RMBS00,000 enterprise COMpONENts
CEGTEBTHRAD 26| 2l iR 00EL 00%  HE2RRALA LEREESTAEE
Yun Fu China Faith Limited Mainland China Mainland China Registered capital Wholly loreign-cwned Manufacture and trading of
1$5935,000 enierprise electronic components
Carwa Disiributicn (Abersa) Inc. IeABHEY ngx 120877 0% BEALAT FERTHERELL
Alberta, Canada Carada CANS120 Limited liab%ty company ETES
Sales and disiibution of
computer goods and
slactronic goods
Daiw Disiribution {B.C.) Inc. HEARIAELE TN MML00ET 0% ARALAR HERAEERERR
British Columbia, Canada  Canada CANS300,000 Limited liabiity company E1Em
Sales and distribution of
computsr goods and
elactronic goods
Datwa Disiribution (Nova Scoia) Inc. DEAFEHEDE e W0 0% ERARDR
Mova Scotia, Canada (Canada CANS100 Limited ligbility company
computer goods and
electronic goods
Daiwa Distribution [Omtaric) Inc. NEREREY hiEF 00,000 737 100% RRAHAA HERTEERERRE
Ontario, Ganada Carada CANST00,000 Limited liabilicy company EE
Sales and disiribution of
computsr goods and
elscironic goods
N 5 S ol S s I 94

Darwa Associate Hold rgs Lmited
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31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

CRORARES
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

200507
CANS223. 013

107
CANST

[P

CANST

VX
CANS

P

CANS)

fekAEt

Percentage

af equily

interest held

100%

i00%

100%

100%

100%

TERREH
Type of legal entity

BREERT

Limited liability company

ERAfRA
Limitad ligbrity company

EFRELE

Limited liabilty company

BRAMLLE
Limited liability company

ERARRE

Limited liability company

TR
Principal activities

SA=R
Investment holdings

REAR
investment fipldings

HERRRULTRRET
B

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
elecironic goods

RREE
Property holdings

#8753

Investment ho'dings

19. HBAREEwW 19.
| AR Rt ]
Place of TRAEHY
| incarparation/ Principal place
Campany establishment of operation
BEsaAE -
Interests held indirectly = fcontinved)
Daiwa Ho'dings Inc. PEATARY EA
Ontari, Canada Canrada
Daiwa Precision Indusirial Ltd. NERTAH HEx
Oniario, Canada Canada
Dahwa Semitron Supplies (Canada) Inc,  [TEAXARE JER
Qntario, Canada Canada
Westpac Holdings Inc. NERTARE X
Ontarip, Canada Canada
Westpac Technology Inc. CEATAEY -7
Ontario, Canada Canada
fifet - Notes:
i) LERAPERTZHERR - DRQEHEE i)
ORAERERMALBRAEMAREG RN
EHBHE R ERTRRES AL
Ros - ERBRLGBasZd88  |$
(ii} BIEREEERMNEFRFE RTINS {ii}
WA SR Bk MRREC SRS
100,000,000,000,000H 7T °
(i BE-_SRNE=ZAZ+ B FEEHES {iii)

LEREBEEFRLBTZEEES -

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Company's directors and the Group’s management,
principally contributed the results or formed a subslantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would resull

in particulars of excessive length.

The non-valing deferred shares have no voting rights, are not
entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary

sharas.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during

the year ended 31 March 2008.

85

R EL R Mo
Da.wa Assoc ate Ho'd rgs Limited
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20.

21.

HEZHERER

REVRE

31 March 2008

20. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

Net becok amount

MEIE A BT B o RS B B 2 BRI 1

oz fER

&8

Name

MEAIMATEE
BELERBLT

Daiwa (Scuthern) Precision
Industrial Limited

BE QRS

mm
BRI
FEAS 18 2%

HsR

[

wir e RO 96

Damwva Ass0c at¢ Holdings Lim:ited

-5
Group
et 2 34N —TEL
2008 2007
FET FHET
HK3'000 HK$'000
1 1

The Group has interests in the following jointly controlled entity
which is established and operating in Mainland China;

TEMHE FTERE wEE BEE B HAsK
Nature Principal Ownership Voting Profit/loss
of entity activities interest power sharing
PO A RE SHEEFLE R 60% 60% 60%
Sina-Foreign 2005FM TSR

cooperative
joint venture
enterprise

Manuiacturing
of electronic
components, and

became inactive
since 2005

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Beginning of the year
Addition (note)
Share of loss

End of the year

am

Group
Z®®A ZEEL
2008 2007
FHrx FHEL
HKS$'000 HKS'000
2,519 —
{2,519} -




AR Notes to the Financial Statements

RN EZR=S—H 31 March 2008
21. BEQARERE) 21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY
{continued)
ENEEHUTRAREY RS 2O A6 2 The Group has interests in the following associated company which is a
fiE &% - limited liability company established and operating in Japan:
BrEsgs
ERTREEES Aot EAE
Issued and Percentage
E=g:] fully paid of equity ZEEK
Name up capital interest held Principal activity
ARERED T 23,400,000H il 47% B N EIEGN T Y R R
Daiwa Sound Company Limited YENZ3,400,000 Trading and manuiacturing of speaker elements

and components

#lat Note

AN E R -8 - REEELA NSRS On 1 February 2008, the Group's eguity interest in Daiwa Sound Company
s 2560 62% ME47% « E UL B 97 Limited decreased from 52% to 47%. Accordingly, the investment has been
AR - reclassified as an associated company to the Group.

97 L AP O A
D.swa Assoc ate Ho!d ras Lo led
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22, AMBHLEMBEREE

BEA—H

WP R @ B

ik

EREZH®

mi& (B 0),/ BRI AR
H 85 i d 2 A

BR=ZR=+—H

AEHEMEEAEEE

tHEH

- RREE s — B
LA R & Hif

— BEEE — it
LT A

Nt =R EEA A

[EERENERE P L O S A 2| 98
Da.wa Assoc-ate Ho'd ngs Limited

31 March 2008

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

£m
Group
—REN ZERE
2008 2007
FiEr FHET
HK$'000 HKE 000
At 1 April 4,340 141
Acquisition of subsidiaries —_ 3,010
Additions - 247
Exchange differences 695 (104)
Revaluation (deficit)/surplus credited to equity {61) 1,046
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36(d)) {4,655) -
At 31 March 319 4,340
Available-for-sale financial assets include the fellowing:
%H
Group

. 3 - AN koA
2008 2007
FET FT
HK$'000 HK$'000

Listed securities:

— Equity securities — Japan, denominated in
Japanese Yen - 4126
— Equity securilies — Hong Kong, denominated

in Hong Kong dollars 319 214
319 4,340
Market value of listed securities 319 4,340
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23. #8

MizmEEAmEaEtEs
AR #11,622,851 oooﬁ'é,L(_{u

23. INVENTORIES

37 March 2008

b4

Group
—R®N ZERA
2008 2007
Filz FiAT
HK$'000 HKS'000
Trading merchandise 124,048 119,314
Raw materials 82,495 92,4123
Work-in-progress 18,205 21,749
Finished goods 13,826 23.567
238,574 256,753
B s R E The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of
54 E sales in the consolidated income statement amounted 1o approximately

1,425,215 000&7) »

i 7F % 1 56,220,000 (= F & + &
3,950,000t} - D RERESINGREGAK
A o

FHE136.771.0008 T ZFE 4 - 113,579,000
T LUIRST S R WIR B B L B (A &

27) e
29, BWEXRBEREWERE 24,
FE 2 B IR Trade receivables

B AT AR T A

R

Notes receivabte

Less: provision for impairment

HK$1,622,851,000 (2007 HK$1,425,215,000).

Write-down of inventaries amounied to HKS6,220,000 (2007:
HK$3,859,000), which have been included in cost of sales in the
consolidated income statement.

Inventories amounting to HK$136,771,000 (2007; HK$113,578,000) were

held under the trust receipts bank lgan arrangements {Note 27).

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

®=a

Group
—BBA ZER
2008 2007
Fiér FEIT
HKS000 HKS'000
162,349 178,780
(1,973) (1.612)
160,376 177,168
25,213 -
185,589 177,168

4

99 -

P
Davra Asscr L

He drgs Lem e d

-
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24, BWEEXEREREBEVERw
fiaE

(a} R 2 B TR LT T AR ¢

P £ 2 BRI R 2 TR -

31 March 2008

24. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continveq)

Note:

{a}

Hong Kong dollars
Chinese Renminbi
United States doliars
Ganadian dallars
Japanese Yen

BRLARROTEETHERRER - Bas

LEERZES  BRHTRME -

FEEzAAGEEALERS - BH-—&
MBETAREASR - BEROREBRZBGRS

HmT

SRTOLH WL L R s 100
Dawa Assec 2'e Ho'dings Lismuied

Less than 60 days
50 days to 119 days
Over 120 days

Trade recelvables are denominatad in the following currencies:

=Y |

Group
—B®A R
2008 2007
FiHr FET
HKS'000 HKS'000
55,412 52,633
41,429 35,325
38,400 43,779
27,108 30.296
- 16.747
162,349 178,780

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their tair values,

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
as there are a large number of widsly dispersed customers.,

Majority of the Group’s sales are made on open account, with credit
terms genarally ranging from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of
trade receivables is as follows:

=0

Group
—BBA i
2008 2007
Fi#t FHT
HKS 000 HKS 000
107,794 140,295
40,041 30,482
14,514 8.003
162,349 178,780
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ZFREREZHEF—A

24, BEREHEEE g

fiti -

(a}

(ar!

B WO SR R BT IR AR ¢ (4T

RoMT2NEZRA=+—B - ZHNE
f 10 7164,339.00078 (= % F & ¥
61,195,000 CNHEL R
W REARLIZEERE
Bt FHNENERNEGEARNAOT ¢

EELAHELEOF RS RRENENTNL
DEBSEARHFAERLERHTAR
Hiritia - HANFARERRER -

RoFTFNHZRATH—B - BEWHREEN
2,245,000 JE(— F F + & 3,211,000}
BoHB-R_FEAFE=R=+—10 -
R R 41,973,000 (R E
161200087 ) « BERRBREWSRTEMR
TR IMERESERER - G
R AR S AT AR - i S 7B U IR e B G
m

Bif—EZTX

24,
Note:

(a)

RAE e T X
kRO RvAcY

Less than 80 days
60 days to 119 days
Cvar 120 days

QOver 120 days

31 March 2008

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

(continuad)

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
{continued)

As of 31 March 2008, trade receivables approximarely of HKSB4,339,000
(2007: HKS61.195.000) were past due but not considered 1o be impaired
because these mainly relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

=M

Group
—B8N bt
2008 2007
Fiéx T
HKS$’000 HK$'000
30,660 46.672
21,410 8,731
12,268 4,792
64,339 61,125

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
has been assessed by reference to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not have
significant defaults in the past,

As of 31 March 2008, trada receivables of approximately HK$2,245,000
(2007: HKS3.211,000) were impaired. The amount of the provision
was HKS$1,873,000 as of 31 March 2008. (2007 HK$1,612,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers, which are in
unexpected difficult economic situations. 1t was assessed that a portion
of the receivables is expected 10 be recovered. The ageing of these
receivables is as follows:

pey:

Group
—28N I re o
2008 2007
FHET T
HKS000 HKS'000
2,245 3,21
BN [ AEEE FER T

Da wa Asso.c:afe HoId NOs Lem ted
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—FFENEZH=A—H

24. FEUWEEIEIE )
Biit - (EF)

{a) R ARE G T IMAR  (47)

BESERNDORAGMITNT

MA—B
B ETRRR
F P B G By

PR L% 2 BRIT A 6
W HAGE
ZHA=+—8

{b) . 1783

MAZIEHE - AR Z BT R AT
B MARWTIS LB ZEF WM EG R
TRIERAARSE  RTHNYE 120

Foe

25. ARAE REREMERRK

31 March 2008

24. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continvea)

Note:  (continued)

{a) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
{continued)

Movemeant on the provision for trade receivables are as follows:

1.
Group

st 2 1 —EFr

2008 2007

FET FHET

HK$'000 HK$ 000

Al 1 April 1,612 901

Provision of trade receivables 1,698 1,268
Receivables written off during the year as

uncollectable (1,337} (589)

Exchange ditference - 41

Al 31 March 1,973 1,612

{b) Notes receivable

The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values
due to their short maturity. All the notes receivable represent bank
acceptance notes issued by third parties with average maturity of within
120 days and are denominated in RMB.

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

g RECEIVABLES
bi:qC ] A
Group Company
k3 92 o ZBEN ZETA
2008 2007 2008 2007
FAT FHAT FAHT FiET
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HKS'000
m|iRag Prepayments 6,020 6,480 - -
iy giigin Rental deposits 659 8963 - _
Ho{h F g iR Other receivables (note) 8,668 4,013 174 192
15,347 11,456 174 192
Bt - Nota:

RZTFRAFZRZ+ -8 R BRRAFRIE
—HMEBARYHESERARAR I BEBERREL
HKS3,.868,000 - RISH BT H=F ML Z R
NFEARAZ+H=8FBHEE - &F
B NIRRT EERORESEZENED 2 -
RS - EAARYRENATERET B R
BEELNAMAL - 7B EWZ R AN ET 28

#oOMMBREE

Y -

R I O i T S SR 101
Duawa Associate Heldings Limited

Included in other receivables as at 31 March 2008 was a loan due from an
independent third party company of HKS3.868,000. which is unsecured and
interest free. Pursuant 0 the loan agreement entered into with the third party.
the loan is repayable on 23 September 2008 whereby the Group may at any time
before that convert the amount into 10% equity interest in the third party. The
directors are of the opinion that the fair value of the convertible option at both the
inception date and as al year end is minimal, and expect that the amount 1o be
fully recoverable upon maturity.
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26.

ReERAEEY
RITH S Cash at bank
REikEe Cash on hand

HeERRSFOMERTEEAR

AT Hong Kong dollars
N Chinese Renminbi
T United States dollars
mEXrx Canada dollars

=R Japanese Yen

Hith Others

EUERATDHRE  RESAR S RRTYT
HAE . @0\ EMT AR RRI5E
FEER . EERNAREEERBEE
W iRBHEBRF A IMERE -

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 March 2008

Group Company
—EEN —EEA —EEN —EEAL
2008 2007 2008 2007
FET FHT FHT FET
HKS§’000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
101,654 93,432 32 52
1,734 - - —
103,388 93,432 32 52

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the fellowing currencies:

=) PE

Group Company
k. 22N T4 —ZFEN ZEFE
2008 2007 2008 2007
FRET FHET Fiit FET
HKS$’000 HKE 000 HK$000 HKS'000
35,719 36,424 32 52
11,817 12,768 - —
47,890 30,070 - —
7,774 11,831 - —
100 2,251 - -
88 88 - —
103,388 93,432 32 52

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The Group's cash and bank balance denominated in
RMB are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion
of these RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and
regulations of fargign exchange control promuigated by the Government

of the People's Republic of China.

103

Gk L H
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Danwa Associate Hold ngs Limited
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27. &8

FEAHR

RITHR

#FERIRITES Y
A EIER D

BEETAM

=
EESRITER
FEABRIRTTH R Z AR
BITlaELER
mERTRG

EER= Fake

tEEE T

— R
—FEMFEA
ZEERFEAN

Al i ERSEDT® 104

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

31 March 2008

27. BORROWINGS
-4
Group
ZZ2EN ZERL
2008 2007
FH7T FHET
HK$'000 HKE'000
Non-current
Bank borrowings 68,668 72,132
fess; current portion of non-current
bank borrowings {24,391) (24.,221)
Finance lease liabilities 1,069 2,486
45,346 50,377
Current
Short-term bank borrowings 11,000 —
Current portion of non-current bank berrowings 24,391 24,221
Trust receipts bank loans 136,771 113,57¢
Finance lease ligbilities 1,405 2,536
173,567 140,336
Total borrowings 218,913 190,713
The maturity of borrowings is as follows
30
Group
—EIA —EEL
2008 2007
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Within 1 year 173,567 140,336
Between 1 and 2 years 28,846 23,407
Between 2 and 5 years 16,500 26.970
218,913 190,713
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27. B8 27.

B 1 Teh BATF TR AR AY

31 March 2008

BORROWINGS (continved)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are dencminated in the following
currencies:

H=E

Group
by 5N b
2008 2007
FET FHC
HK$ 000 HKE 000
AT Hong Kong dollars 218,486 182.331
ERiN] Japaness Yen - 8,382
A United States dollars 427 —
218,913 190,713

B AR A48 B LB IR IR 2 B e i T B

The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest rate changes and

W the weighted average elffective interest rales at the balance sheel dale
are as follows:
-4

Group
—EZN b
2008 2007
FEr FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—RxTa® — at fixed rates - 8,382
— FwaR — at floating rates 218,913 182,331
218,913 190,713

-3 J 1N TERE A4

2008 2007

BT =T AE BT Fr a5y
HKS uss Yen HKS Ussg Yen
RITIEWELT R Trusl receipt bank loans 4.84% 3.93% — 5.11% - -
BT R Banrk borrowings 4.66% - - 4.69% — 1.15%
mARTAMN Finance lease liabilities 2.96% - - 4.09% - —

HAVMRNEESREmERS TERNE

°

All barrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts approximale
their fair values.

105 w0 #2005 o8 LA 0

Damva Assoc ate Holchngs Ui ted
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27. a8

SEEAENTEZSHMT

RHEHTERER
—FA
—HF
—HEFEFELF

B REEER

BEAGAM2RASHMOT -

—HER
B
BEERERAT

(SR S 3 = IS N A (]
Daiva Assoc.ale Holdings Limiteg

31 March 2008

27. BORROW'NGS {continued}

The Group's finance lease obligations were analysed as follows:

£
Group

—BEA —FELE

2008 200
FHT FiEL
HK$’000 HK$'000

Total minimum lease payments

— Within one year 1,449 2,708
— In the second year 1,081 1,449

— In the third to {i{th years - 1,131
2,530 5,288
Less: Future finance charges {56) (286)
2,474 5,002

The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as follows:

—BEN —EEL

2008 2007

Fi7T FT

HK$’000 HK$'000

Within cne year 1,405 2,536
In the second year 1,069 1,358
In the third to fifth years - 1,108
2,474 5,002

|\
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ZEFENEZHES—F 31 March 2008
28. BT EIRIE 28. TRADE PAYABLES

KEBHtEEARETS  RY —BE=+X Majority of the suppliers are on open account. Certain suppliers grant
BRNTXRe credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days.
PR SBE | 2 iR AN T The ageing analysis of trade pavables was as follows:
M
Group
—EBA e
2008 2007
FHT FHT
HKS'000 HKS$'000
LR R Less than 60 cays 141,349 146,646
NERE-E—TAK 60 days to 119 days 14,631 26,543
P = ey N Over 120 days 5,091 6.988
161,071 180,177
BRI T Iy AR - Trade payables are denominaled in the foliowing currencies;
-1
Group
= 2 e
2008 2007
FHT T
HK$'000 HKE'000
AT Hong Kong dollars 29,026 39.941
AN Chingse Renminbi 12,689 16,578
ETT United States dollars 85,414 61,756
AT Canradian dollars 33,216 34,816
B i1 Japanese Yen 726 27,086
161,071 180177
107 PR S o0
Du va As-;nc e Ha di~gs Lr Hvd
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31 March 2008

29, EMEARAMEMSFIE 29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
= AL
Group Company
k- 2 FAN —®HE —EEN ZEFL
2008 2007 2008 2007
THEAZ TAET FHET AT
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HKS060
RS 5 & R TEEL Accruals for salaries and bonuses 10,544 10,581 - -
T K Receipts in advance 1,491 1,659 - —
G ETR Accrued operating expenses 8,314 10,918 420 354
EIRES AR Construction costs payable 7,465 - - -
H AL A 20 Other payables 458 bb2 - -
28,272 23.710 420 354
30. fTESBMIE 30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
RITENE=ZE=+-—R0 GHHEEE As at 31 March 2008, the Group had outstanding forward forgign
DR HRE Y RoRTNEZA currency contracis to sefl/purchase US dallars. The national principal
S+ —BEELDT 7 B S A 300048000 amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts
M SR FAE 87,128,000 - at 31 March 2008 were approximately HK$399,048,000 (2007:
HK3$87.126,000).
31. MERETES 31. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
W EAENT AN ES RS AN ARTER Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
GIES  MEERASRE B Iriseg - 8|5 legally enfarceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
e ARELIAO AR EAE liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
WO BTEANBELZEYS  BEEEZIE authority. The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are,
BT - after appropriate ofisetting, as follows:
=8
Group
—BENAF e
2008 2007
FET TEIT
HK3'000 HKE'000
AR IR E Deferred income tax assats. 1o be recovered after
+ @R E more than 12 months 1,386
HLRERG Deferred income tax liabilities, to be settled after
B -@ARNE more than 12 months (5,480)
EEFRERGFHE Net deferred income tax liabilities {4,094)

AL E

R ST R - S| 108

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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37 March 2008

EEFSH e DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
EIEHIBEEHMT - The movement on deferred income 1ax account is as foliow:
®E
Group

—FEZEN ZEEL
2008 2007
FEx FiEIL
HK$’000 HKS'000
»OOFE—A At 1 April (4,314) (3,471)
TERmER I HME10) Gharged to the income statement (Note 10) (378) (843)
REME L& (T 36) Disposal of subsidiaries {Note 36(d)) 598 -
n=A=z+—8 AL 21 March (4,094) (4,314)

FRBLERBFPEAERAMZ 2H(RF -t
7 IR AT

The movement in deferred tax assets and lizbilities prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as foilows:

#Hig

EiEHERE Deferred tax assets Tax losses
—FEN —FFL
2008 2007
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHMA-—-A At 1 April 1,150 1,619
ElEEERE AL (EH) Credited/{charged) to the income statement 391 469
B=B=+—8 At 31 March 1,541 1,150

hEERFE
BERERG Deferred tax liabilities Accelerated tax depreciation
=L e
2008 2007
FET FiiT
HK$’000 HKE'000
»IRA—AR AL 1 Aprit 5,464 5,090
LRy H Charged to the income statement 769 374
& B o S8 36(d)) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36(d)) (598) -
B=EA=+—H At 31 March 5,635 5,464
EERBEEERE R FE R R I Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward

FIRRAMBEENE AR RS EHIERMIE
PetER - A RE T EmH R HIBH 53,798,000
ET(ZEE T 38,452,000 T ) i RIE
EAHBEEENI12,203,000F (BB F:
8,510,000 )  WEHIAE B IE I8 K8
ERRER - RZTFENEZ-R=+—R " &
HREEIEHM33196,0008T R B ——
T oF—-FFEHEER - Mk T 20,602,000
70 B AT 2 PR B S A 2R 2 PR R AR i F) o

to the extent that ihe realisaiion of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did ncot recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately HKS$12,293,000 (2007;
HMK$8,510,000) in respect of accumulated losses amounting to
approximately HK$53,7¢8 000 (2007: HK$38,452,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable incoms. As at 31 March 2008,
accumulated tax loss amocunting to approximately HK$33,196,000 is
expiring in 2011 to 2015, while the remaining balance of approximately
HK$20,602,000 can be carrigd forward indefinitely to offset against
future taxable income.

09 R E LT LR W
Daiwa Assoc ate Holdings Limited
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32. BEXK —XQF

HE
HiRARBRREE10ET

EEITRHAR
LEAEERREE 010

BmA—8

FRATHERRE #E AL M BB 1T
BB 5 (B7EE ))

BEEAR G (A7 fi))

BRZR=Z+—0d

k3

) AHEZTERAR

3262744360 Ik B (= B F
7.605,768) 2R S EE0.40;

BIT(HH34) =

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Authaorised —
Crdinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Issued and fully paid-
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
At 1 April
Issue of shares upcn exercise of
warrants (i)

Purchase of own shares (i)

At 31 March

Notes:

[

i
=]l
HH
=]
3

(i)

31 March 2008

—BIN ot
2008 2007

igvid =] HiE Brin® 8 miA
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
FH FRE T FIET
‘000 HKS$’000 000 HK$'000
1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
278,140 27,814 272175 27,218
26,274 2,627 7,605 760
{184) (18) {1,640} (164)
304,230 30,423 278,140 27,814

During the year ended 31 March 2008, 28,274,436 (2007: 7,605,786)
warrants were ulilised to subscribe for 26,274,436 (2007 7,605 766)
shares at a subscription price of MK$0.40 to HK$0.50 per share (Note

34).

During the vear ended 31 March 2008, the Company repurchased

REZ-¥FNEZRA=+-Hi+FH"
o F B E184,00008 B R 2 A F
1.640,000) - ##1142808 T —FF +
i 782,000 L) < BB HEEERH -

184,000 shares {2007 1,640,000} for HK$114,260 (2007 HK$782,000).
These shares were subsequentily cancelled.

TREE

—HFFLFEA
~BFLEAA

GHEsFRARZ A 110

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

Date of repurchase

May 2007
June 2007

BERAMAE sREAREH

Number of Price per share
shares P S H mRSE
repurchased Lowest Highest
FHE BT BT
‘000 HKS HK$
150 0.596 0.640
34 0.590 0.640

184
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33.

34.

EEBRE

A EIREME B R ERT E - A A A R E
ZEBBEADFZHTES) BLBREL
ERBACACRD  HHZUFELANERE
BARAEECTEERTEERERRIT 2R

H.30% 5K - ZBREGEELSLEL2TZ
WHRELT KOS TEORBRERTH
ZHTE C(WEEETREESANDRZZA

A BRG 2 FHWRFEE iR aalinz
HEBROIGET - —HAEBHH B -

+ ERE =L
’ﬂﬁﬁhﬁ%%mL_

ENF=ZR= + " &ﬁ%

ﬁ
m
MMH
-

TN

Exercise period

BYEH

Date of grant

“REEF-RA-THRA :??EE AZ+hBE
2 DAY s iy it

33.

34.

25 February 2005 25 February 2006 to 24 February
2008

“EZLE—FA-F=H “EFLE-AZ+=ZRE
ZF-Zf-Rz+4zZ

23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012

IF B 06,274,436 18 2 Hx%;ft(_ T £
7,605,766 2 1T{E - LR EE26,274,436 R 2
A O ZFEFTLE  7,605,766)  BAE

#11,764 000 T( Z T+ © 3,800,000%
JL) e

31 March 2008

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has an employee share option scheme, under which
it may grant optiang to employses {including executive directors of
the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued upcn exercise of employee share options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company's board of directors and shall at
least be the highest of (i} the closing price of the Company's shares
on the date of grant of the options, (i} an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options, and {iii) the nominai value of the Company’s shares
of HK$0.10 each.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March 2008
{2007: Nil). No share options were exercise during the year ended 31
March 2008 {2007: Nil). No share opticns were outstanding as at 31
March 2008 (2007: Nil).

WARRANTS
HRTERE

BE B3 Utilised HRANHE :E3
Subscription Beginning of during Lapsed during End of
price the year the year the year the year
HKS0 50 13,238,938 (12,545,523) (693,413) -
HK$0.40 26,042,000 {13,728.911) - 12,313,089
39,280,938 (26,274 436 {693,413) 12,313,089

During the year, a iotal of 26,274,436 (2007 7,605,766) warrants were
utilised to subscribe for 26,274,436 (2007: 7,605.766) shares in the
Gompany at an aggregate consideration of HK$11,764,000 {2007:
HK$3,800,000).

i1 ERELNES B oo oH
Da.wa Assoc ate Holdings Linted

R
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35. f#fH

L EELA T
u%’-uﬁi’a:‘,
ARSI
R E N

REFENE
ZA=t-8

As 1 Aprik 2007
Profit for ihe year
Tranglation adjustrents
IssuE of shares upon
axercise of warrants
Purchase of own shares
Gain on revalsation of
avallable-for-sale
fnancial asse:s
Disposal of subsidiaries
Diwdznds fiote 14}

At 31 March 2008

Repraseniing:

Proposed dvidend
QOiners

M E L ERAgR a6
Dawa Associate Holdings Linuted

112

35. RESERVES

31 March 2008

{a) Group
e
185434
EE
Available-
37 it for-salg
RERH AEER financiat
Rt HEH &/ Share  Cumulative  EESR(i) assels RERH
Share Capital  redemption  translation Statulory  revaluation Retained @it
premium reserve (i) reserve  adjusiments reserve (iii) reserve profits Total
AT FET FEL T TET FiEL A TEL
RKS000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HES000 HES000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000
206,080 41,203 1,050 2,684 90 1,048 90234 34243
- - - - - - 6891 6,891
- - - 1186 - - - 1,356
937 - - - - - - 9137
196} - 14 - - - {if4) 196)
- - - - - 19 - 13
- - - 180) - 1557) - 637}
- - - - - - 73950 {7.545]
215,41 41,201 1,164 9780 g0 a0e 80 466 357340
161
58,703
53 466
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35. @
@) BEH)

As 1 April 2006

3! March 2008

35. R ESERVES (continued)

{a) Group (continued)
Bl
HEHE
EfEA
Available-
R #it for-sale
i (=0 HeRE financial
RipuE  REBHEH) Share Cumulative EE&&(0) assets REEF
Share Capital redemption translation  Statutory revaluation Retained at
premium  reserve {ii) reserve  adjusiments  reserve (i) reserve profits Total
TRET FARL FHEL TEL FET FET FET TEL

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKE'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK'000

- N
AR-H 201838 41,201 268 1977 90 - 85,579 330,853
AEEEH Profit for the year - - - - - - 10,024 10.994
N Translation
adjustments - - - 707 - - - 707
ARTERBEA  Issue of shares
mETRE upon exercise of
warranis 3040 - - - - - - 3,040
BHRARE Share issue costs {6) - - - - - - (6)
BERD Purchase of own
shares (618) - 78 - - - (782} (613)
ARHEHERE  Gain on revalution
FREEEER of available-for-
sale financial
assets - - - - - 1,046 - 1046
B2 Dividends
- %2 — Cash - - - - - - {3.681) {3.681)
—BRETD — Wareants (] 1,826 - - - - - (1.826) _
BoReLE At 31 March 2007
ZA=1-H 206,080 41,201 1,050 2,684 a0 1,048 90,284 342435
HpaT Representing:
H1IXER2 Proposed dividend 4172
B (Others 86,112
90,284
Fiiat : Note:
iy AR EEIBLAREFIFAR { Certain shareholders had elected to receive their dividends in
2R REnTaNR2THE warrants. Refer to Note 34 for the details of the warrants issued.
34 -
fii} AL EEEBARDRTHITY (i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the diflerence between
BT MR ER—AAEENH the nominai amount of the share capital issued by the Company
BHRWMRTFALINHBD TR and the nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries
MEMEZZH NER-FRE transferred to the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation
= B =-+— B IEE AN E R in 1994, plus the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital
AR AT E £ & 51,504,000 as a result of a reduction of the Company's share capital ook
BT e place during the year ended 31 March 2000.
(in PAABIHARLAZEELN (iii) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in Mainland China ¢an be used
@ EELHSABERERAHZ to offset fulure losses or increass in capital of the subsidiary.

A WAEEG DN 0
Bosdg -

EACR N T < D
Du «a Ass3C i Hod mgs L. ted




B 755 R R P 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

—FENEZF=Z+—FH

31 March 2008

35. RESERVES {continued)

(b) | {b) Company
R Emag
Ri3BE Share BAREM RERA
Share redemption Contributed Retained @t
premium reserve surplus {i) projit_s Total
fEx THT FET THT Ti#T
HKE'000 HKS'000 HKE'000 HK$'00G HKS'000
WoREHEMA—E At 1 April 2007 206,080 1,050 72,309 19,057 208,496
RER A Profit for the year - - - 144 144
E1TRR {9 Issue of shares upon exercise
of warrants 9,137 — - — 9137
BORD Purchase of own shares (95) 114 - {114) (95)
BEHE 14) Dividends {Note 14) - - - (7,595) (7,595)
R-QENF At 31 March 2008
ZA=+-8 215,122 1,164 72,309 11,492 300,087
HEWT - Rapresenting:
RER AR & Proposed dividend 761
Hitb Others 10,731
11,492
——
RZBREAFHEA—B A1 April 2006 201,838 268 72,309 5.077 279,492
AEE BT Profit for the year - — - 20,269 20,269
FThe Issue of shares upon exercise
) of warrants 3,040 - — - 3.040
Hﬁfﬁ@‘?‘{ﬁiﬂi Share issue costs (B} - - - {6)
Eﬁlﬁlﬁﬁfn Purchase of own shares ‘:618) 782 _ (?82) (618)
Besatr4) Dividends (Note 14}
—80e — Cash - - - (3,681) (3.681)
— RNRAEE — warrants 1896 _ -~ (1,826) _
R-KSStLE At 31 March 2007
=A=z+-—H 206,080 1,050 72,309 19,057 298,496
T Representing:
BiRERe Proposed dividend 4,172
Hbz Others 14,885
19,057
———
kit - Note:
{i ADFRZBABE AL ER iy The contributed surplus of the Company represents the

—ANDEERIEERIBRITZ
{AEHEM 2 Daiwa BYI Limited
ERTEAREEMSARGES
TREZEN MER_SIRFE
ZA=t+—BAMEEEAEERAE
AT AE T 7 A2 0 B 82 51,594,000
T e

BEBEE-AN—FREE - &
ANEBRE SR TR - 2 ET
FAEEEHIARE  RIEHAER
B 53R - AN 53 IR 1B T AR 0 HE RS
REUBzTEHAMEESOEMR
NMERERITRALBHHEDZ 2
e

GAE LIEUNE RS A

Davia Associale Holdings Lim:ted

114

difference betwgen the nominal amount of the Company's
shares issued in exchange for the issued ordinary shares of
Daiwa BVI Limited and the value of net assets of its underlying
subsidiaries pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1994, plus
the credit of HK$51.584,000 from shars capital as a result of a
reduction of the Company's share capital took place during the
year ended 31 March 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed
surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject 10 the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or maka
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or after the
payment be, unabie to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(i} the realisable vajue of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account,
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36. RERERER

371 March 2008

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(@) BRENRNREREBHERA {a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash
(FRE)FEAW R inflow/{outflow) from operations
=B8N ZEFEEFA
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$'000 HKE'000
B A E F) Profit before income tax 13,509 15,328
HE - Adjustments for —
FlB i A Interest income (1,526) {1,233)
FRm =z Interest expense 9,985 8,313
i R b A i Amortisation of leasehold land and land use
rights 649 652
W - BERRRITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17,117 15,245
T 4% FE ok JB5 Impairment logs of goodwill - 156
FIE Wb 22 AR T 1 f Impairment of trade receivables 1,698 1,269
T EE Write-down of inventories 6,220 3,859
DTTiE - W - BRI (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
E b (Y2 ), F5iR eguipment, and Jeasehold land and land use
rights (25) 326
FEWZ ERMITLET B LTMEET  Unrealised fair value loss/(gain) on derivative
BB financial instruments 6,279 (344)
53,906 43,671
UHEE R Changes in working capital:
3 Inventories {15,162) {35,453)
RS BRI I FEW Z2 5 Trade and notes receivables (45,726) 59,328
i RE - BB HEAERERE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (9,002) 3,426
FEA B BRIA Trade payables 44,271 (93.895)
FE A R B A hb (0 Y 4 Payable for purchase of land use rights - (5.121)
R T2 B e e FE -t 2k 1g Accruals and other payables 3,687 948
WA Z7BERACER)FE Net cash inflow/{outflow) from operations 3,074 (27,086)
AT LRy H oA

Darwa Assoc J'e Ho'dings Lim:led
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HEBRERER G

(b}

{c)

RS

4 .
Dawa Assoc.ate Hoid ngs Lirriled
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R FEECEE T

31 March 2008

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

fcontinued)

GESERANARA - LN - B (b} In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds
RRELRTHE T thE RBNATER trom disposals of property, plant and equipment, and
BiE leasehold land and land use rights comprise:
—B8BN TR
2008 2007
FHET FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRERE Net book amount 605 859
HEmE -  #BRLREHELIME  Gain/loss) on disposal of property. plant and
TiERERAEHA) equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights 25 (326)
HEDE  WRLBHESME Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
L E AR AR equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights 630 533
2§18 Daiwa Sound Company Limited {c) Acquisition of Daiwa Sound Company Limited (“DSC")
{fpsc ) :
BROEBERENENA RSB DSC In June 2006, the Group acguired 52% interest in DSC, a
BAZhHT—iE# - DSC {LBESE company engages in the trading and manufacturing of speaker
2/l (R N A R g elements and components. The acquired business contributed
RoEEANF+A—BE_ET+E revenues of HK$171.579.000 and net loss of HK$5,214,000
ZH=+—H - R A to the Group for the period from 1 July 2005 to 31 March
171,579,000 7T W 2 % 5,214,000 2007. H the acquisition had cccurrecd on 1 April 2008, Group
T EREH - MRAWEPER_-FT revenue for the year ended 31 March 2007 would have been
SEMA—HRAS 4 MR EBEL HK$1.798.086,000; profit before ailocation wouid have been
1,798,086, 000 7T MO &RAIZER HKS8,559,000. These amounts have been calculated using the
E 8550000 - S HAIRE Group's accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the
EEERET L EDAEMB AR subsidiary 10 reflect the relevant depreciation and amortisation
IR RSN ETENCEER that would have been charged assuming the fair value
BR-ERNENMBE—HECIEERN adjustments on the relevant assets had applied from 1 April
FEEMErREREF GRS  BEAEM 2008, together with the consequential tax effects.
PEEEI BB -
| 116
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36. MERERER

(c)

iz 8 Daiwa Sound Company Limited

(fpbscl) : (#)

Wit 2 BEFEEHREENT -

WEREE -

W BBRERR
AL ERBEEE

i
Rl 2 B
FLH 0

e
FEREEERER

FE A B R B th AR 1T RR A

DRI RS

E

EERENNEER

wAR

WA DSCEE IR EMUIFR

S

HafE

o BAZREEReEEY

YHHBEARNEE R REFE

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

{continued)

{c) Acquisition of Daiwa Sound Company Limited (“DSC")
fcontinued)

Detalls ot the nat assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

FET
HK$’000

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment 9,845
Available-for-sale financial assets 3,010
Inventories 23,216
Trade receivables 50,229

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 2,580

31 March 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 1,632
Borrowings (12,470)
Trade payables (70,680)
Accruals and other pavables (3,991)
Minority interests {1,618)
1,753

Goodwill 239
Purchase consideration and cost of acquisition 1,992
L ——

Satisfied by:

Cash 1,992

Analysis of the net cash outtiow in respect of the

acquisition of DSC:
FET
HK$’000
Cash consideration 1,992
fess: Cash and cash equivalents acquired {1,632}
Net cash outflow in respect of the purchase of subsidiary 360

197 &R LW AR D g
Damwva Associate Hold.ngs Limdec
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36. ERERER

(d)

{e)

HEE DSC 5% BREs

HRZETENFZA—H £8HES%
CSCH R TBMHE =7 - DSCEM
MAEBRNBELE - DSCREERM
HESERT

HEEE
T - BB R

S SR B A

2%

BB IR R R B T
R L REFHEY

5

R R B A R & 6
AL

2 B

mR

i

it RS D AR (AT 21)

mE

A
kS
e DSCEEZ REREIHHEST

BeiE
HoRErHERREEEY

HEMBLREE 2N SRHFSE

A

R_BENE=FA=+—HIHH #
HFmAREDE ERRRBERTHE
T(ZFETEF : 3,758,000/T) °

THETERERSE 18

Daiwa Associate Haldings Limited

31 March 2008

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

{continued)
{d) Disposal of 5% interest in DSC

On 1 February 2008, the Group disposal of 5% interest in DSC
1o an independent third party. Censequently, DSC becomes an
associated company of the Group. The net assets of DSC at the
date of disposal were as follows:

FH T
HK$'000
Net assets disposed:
Property, plant and equipment 9,717
Available-for-sale financiat assets 4,655
inventaries 27121
Trade receivables and other current assets 24,569
Cash and cash equivalents 17,684
Borrowings {11,450)
Trade payables and other current liabilities (67,399)
Deferred income tax (598)
Minority interests (1,831)
Goodwill 239
2,707
Gain on disposat 4
tess: Interest retained as an associated
company (Note 21) {2,519)
Total consideration 192
Satisfied by:
Cash 192
Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the disposal
of 5% interest in DSC:
Cash consideration 192
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed (17,684)

Net cash cutflow in respect of the disposal of 5% interest
in DSC (17,492}

{e} Non-cash transaction:
During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group financed

acquisitions of certain property, plant and equipment by new
finance leases of Nil (2007: HK$3,758,000).
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37. #AE 37. COMMITMENTS
(a) BXRERE (a) Capital commitments

REEBNERAD  T&@FF788E The Group had the following capital commitments not provided

AEBREER for at the balance sheet date:
-4
Group

=t 3. J1N ZEFTL

2008 2007

FT TFHT

HK$'000 HK$'000

EiTHERHERE — EEWH - Contracted but not provided for —

HeEE R R iR purchase of property, plant and equipment - 13,804
(b} EE R QRE ib) Operating lease commitments
RoBTZAF=ZA=+—08 - et At 31 March 2008, the future aggregate minimum lease
BEFT R SEHORS  EE payments in respect of fand and buildings under non-cancellable
ZHEBELEREERMTET operating leases were as follows:
=8
Group
ZEEN T
2008 2007
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
E—FH Not later than one year 6,095 5,911
E-FEEATA Later than one year and not later than five
years 5,899 8,245
11,994 14,158
TEMT  EEZEEEY—R 581 Generally, the Group's operating leases are for terms of ore to
FITAME - four years.
POERLER_RRNF=R=4— The Company did not have any significant commitment at 31
A oaBesaaAk i March 2007 and 2008.
M9 R E LI AR Qe

Dawa Assoc ate Holdings Limited
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38. FHEEALRSE

MZFENFZAR=+—8 - Leading Trade
Limited + China Capital Holdings Investment
Limited & Cyber Cencept Limited 53 BIEA &
wR20.02%{ZFFF : 22.63%) - 24.47%
(ZBRAF:2506%) R406%(ZFF +
F: 3.06%) i - BHECEhANEFY
REAERERE T Y -

NEGETIETIEFRAE AKX BHAD
HMEHAENAENE IO B MEERR
AEAFERRZFANEE  HERENE
FRIAIARMNEARE  WRFRFIEENT
BEAL - BEEALAIUEEARLTE -

BREAHBMELGOIESFTOMEATER
S FEEMREHEATHAEERPITIMNE
AEEATZSUERRALIZZESNER
BT -

(a) REMEALZXS

31 March 2008

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2008, Leading Trade Limited. China Capital Holdings
Investment Limited and Cyber Concept Limited owned 20.02% (2007:
22.63%). 24.47% (2007: 25.96%) and 4.06% {2007 3.06%) of the
Company's shares respectively. These companies are under the control
of the Company's directors, Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mel,
Pinky.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their ¢lose family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisicns, or vice versa,
or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group
and its related parties and the balances arising form related party
transactions in addition to the related party information shown
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Transactions with related parties:

mE
Group

=t £ 2 TEFPL

2008 2007

Hiz FEz FET

Note HK$’000 HKE 000

{15 FDSC (M2 F])  Sales to DSC (as an associated company) {1 2,085 -

HOSCHRE Purchases from DSC {as an associated company) {1 {1,439} -
HEFEAESE Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc.

361 Alden Inc. (i} 1,318 1,238

irfea Note:

i EDSCHEZRRAAREHESMNIE

T
ErON

(i) 361 Alden Inc. B85 & & & kR
PRT(EDARERIXKEAET - 8
ERTHEEME T ARBEHRE -

HRE LR EIRE 120
Darwa Assoc:ate Ho!dings Lim ted

(i) Transactions with DSC are made based on mutually agreed
terms.

(i} 361 Alden Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and
Ms Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, directors of the Company. Gperating
lease rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed
hetween the parties.
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38. BEREALXZZ @ 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
{b) HERBATHE b) Balances with related parties:
&8
Company
—E8n o o
2008 2007
Hisr FiEx FiETT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
JE Y B el 2k B8 Amounts due from subsidiaries fi) 296,631 292,423
mm
Group
BN —EFL
2008 2007
FEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
T DSCARE Amount due from DSC fif) 17,637 -
Ayt Note:
[0} MEBASERABRE - 2000 (i) The amounts dua from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-
REREHTR - interesting bearing and are repayable on demand.
(i) REDSCHFEFrE XA TS (i) The amount due from DSC is mainly arisen from the trading
R BEERRTHRE—R transactions with DSC. Sales are made on open account with
ROR -R-_ZENFZAZ+-— credit term of 90 days. As at 31 March 2008. all the amounts
B - TAEEFRES 20RM due from DSC are dencminaled in US dollars and aged within
120 days.
(c) FTEFEAB G (<) Key management compensation
nm
Group
ZBE®A ZETA
2008 2007
FiT T
HKS$'000 HK$'000
e RpRs Salaries and allowances 7,867 8,056
FEET Bonuses 83 1,586
Bwd — RTEEPES Pensicn costs — defined contribution plans 319 352
8,269 9,994
124 goEE L AR

Da.wa Assotiate Hoid ngs Limited
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HZADRR -

2. nemEAt

RAERA R A B - MR ERIEE R
BT HE/mEEATHRBERETTME
WEgnAt -

MEETEEESEAHRLEREENRS
RBRBRZIBRAEDLZ 8 UMRE £ A
—HERAZEHOERTMBAETE 2L
e

3. BITZRERIZEE

{a) B SRR LA 2 (FR K
REFEHCBEL MM BERITEZE
fegrEmA BNz aGRNHKE
EATHERARRTHERITREZ
30%

Sl oL R R DR 122
Damwva Associate Haoldings Limited

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”}, adopted the
New Share Option Scheme, as approved by the Shareholders of the Company
at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005.

A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out
as below:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and to
attract numan resources for the growth of the Group.

2. Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and
the reguirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant an
Option 10 any Participant as the Board may in ils absclute discretion
selecl.

The basis of eligibility of Participants 10 the grant of any Options shall
be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of thsir
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

3. Maximum number of Shares

{a) The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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3. RITZBREROEE ()

{b)

IR AT 3 R A £ R 2 R H AR
BB R 2 2 BRI
B B aRRERET ST AT
ZEAHE B ERET A R RE L
MR TEM ST Z ARG RE -
HETHEBNERRRRTEMB NG
AR st Sl EEBTRNZ 0% —f&
FHOLEMR]) -

HLF RFERARRASLILER
F—aEtal LR RRE ETREIE R
T REen - EREBRESNAE
oz AR REBRENEER 2
WA AR TR A ST 2 AR B
FHREERE EREREY BEBHITR
32 10% « ML EHEE LRE - RIEW
BR AR FE A B B AR A 2 (F (0 H R AR A
ez Rb 2 Bl E(EE R
88 B B RS A B 8 B AR ) 2 R L
RABRFSIMARITE - CHEH - DIEER
RITEZ MRE)RTEHBEER -

A W) AL AR B TR B 1) 3B L s e
BRI AR AE ESITILER S
B ERE(NER) EX ()R
Bt LR 2 BBARIET A QT ESR LA
HEATIE 2R EHE -

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3. Maximum number of Shares (continued)

(b}

{©

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options (excluding, for this purpose, cptions which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company)
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the New Share Option Scheme (the “General Scheme Limit").

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from
time to time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of
the Company in general meseting and the issue of a circular
in compliance with Listing Rules to the sharehoclders of the
Company in connecticn therewith, provided that the tctal
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme{s) of the Company under
the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for the purpose
of calculating the limit as “refreshed”, options previously granted
under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those outstanding.
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share opticn scheme of the
Company) will not be counted.

The Company may issue a circular in compliance with
Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek
separate appreoval by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the limit referred to in {c) above to
Grantees specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

123 0 T v ow AN o e
Darwa Assoc ale Hold ngs Lim led
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upen exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each Participant in
any 12-month period shali not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the time the Cption is granted to the participant
{the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant of options in excess of the
'ndividual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant, shall be subject to the issue of a circular in
compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and
the sharehotders approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to connected persons

(a) Any grant of Options under the New Share Cption Scheme
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules} must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the Grantee of the Options).

{b) Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and 1o be granted (including oplions exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of Shares in issue; and
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued

Grant of options to connected persons (continued)
(b} {continued)

{ii) having an aggregate value, based on the ¢losing price of
the Shares at the date of €ach grant, in excess of HK$5
million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The Company must send a circular in ¢ompliance
with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company. All connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution at such general meeting. except that any such connected
person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general meeting
providad that his intention to do so has been Stated in the circular. Any
vote taken at the meseting to approve the grant of such Options must be
taken on a poll.

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

A consideration of HKS$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of
grant of an Option. An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed
to have been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is culy
completed, signed and returned to the Company with payment of
HK$10.00 as consideration within 28 days from the date of offer.

Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period
commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the
last day of the five-year pericd.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer
of grant of Opticns to a Participant. there are no minimum pericd for
which an opticn must be held before it can be exercised.

126 @ EE LR LR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

8.

10.

Performance target

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the ofier of
grant of Options to a Participant, a Participant is not required to achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the New
Share Opticn Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price for Shares

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the directors and notified to a Participant at the
time of the offer of grant, and shall not be lower than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day;

{b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily guotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares for the time being.
Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject
to all the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws for the time being in
force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the
date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate
in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date
of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previousiy
declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record
date therefor shall be before the date of allotment.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

1.

12.

13.

Restrictions on the time of grant of options

A grant of Options may nol be made after a price sensitive event
has occurred or a price sensitive matter has been the subject of a
decision until such price sensitive information has been published in
the newspapers. In particular, the Board shall not offer the grant of an
Option to any Participant during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of (i) the dale of the meeting of the
Directors for the approval of the Company's interim or annual results,
and (ii} the last date on which the Company must publish its interim or
annual results announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock
Exchange and ending on the date of the announcement of the rasulis.

Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 5 years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option
Scheme become unconditional, after which no further Opticns will
be issued, and thereafter for so iong as there are outstanding any
unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give
effect to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option
Scheme,

The life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Opticn Scheme will remain in force until 17 August

2010, subject to approval by shareholders t¢ adopt the New Share
Option Scheme at the annual general meeling,
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2008 Annual General Mseting of Daiwa
Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company™} will e held at Academy Room
I-1l, 1/F., International Grand Stanford Hotel, 70 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East,
Kowlgon, Hong Kong on Thursday. 28 August 2008 at 3:3C p.m., for the

following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited accounis and the Reports of the
Directors and independent auditor for the year ended 31 March 2008;

2. Te declare a final dividend:;

3. To re-elect directors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their

remuneration;

4. To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix

their remuneration; and

5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without amendments, by
way of special business, the following Ordinary Reselutions:

(1) “THAT:

(&) subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hersinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company
to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the
capital of the Company and to make or grant offers,
agreements and opticns which would or might require
the exercise of such power be and is hereby generally

and uncenditionally approved;

{s)] the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period
to make Or grant offers, agreements and options which
would or might reguire the exercise of such power after

the end cf the Relevant Pericd;
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the aggregate nominal value of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
{(whether pursuant to an opticn or ctherwise) by the
directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (a) above, otherwise than pursuant to (i)
a rights issue (as hereinafter defined), or (i) an issue
of shares upon the exercise of the subscription rights
attaching to any warrants which may be issued by the
Company from time to time, or (iii) an issue of shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted pursuant
to a share option scheme adopted by the Gompany
under any option scheme or similar arrangement for the
time being adopted for the grant or issue to employees
(inctuding executive directors) of the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries of shares or rights to acquire
shares. or (iv) any scrip dividend scheme or similar
arrangement providing for the allotment and issue of
shares in the Company in lieu of the whole or part of
a dividend on shares in the Gompany in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company, shall not exceed 20
per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue at the date of passing
of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingty; and

for the purpose of this resclution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of

this resolution until whichevar is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company,

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the bye-laws of the Company or
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or any
applicable laws to be held; and
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?)  “THAT:

(&)

{iii) the revocation or variations of the authority given
under this resolution by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general

meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares of the Company
or issue of options to subscribe for shares of the
Company open for a period fixed by the directors of the
Company to holders of shares whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on a fixed
record date in proportion to their then holdings of such
shares {subject 1o such exclusion or other arrangements
as the directors of the Company may deem necessary or
expedient in relation te fractional entitlements or having
regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws
of, or the reguirements of any reccgnised regulatory
body or any steck exchange in, any territory applicabie

to the Company}.”

subject to paragraph {b) below, the exercise by the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period
{as hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Cempany to
purchase its own shares, subject to and in accordance
with all applicable laws and regulations, the bye-
laws of the Company and/or the requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or of any other stock
exchange as amended from time to time, be and is

hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the Company
to be purchased by the Company pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (3) above during the Relevant
Period shail not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of passing 0f this resolution and the

said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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for the purposes of this resolution, “"Relevant Pericd”
means the period from the passing of this resolution

until whichever is the earliest of:

{1} the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company is
required by the bye-laws of the Company or the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or any other
applicable law to be held; and

(iii the revocation or variations of the authority given
under this resclution by an ordinary reselution
of the shareholders of the Company in general

meeting.”
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(3) “THAT:

conditional upon the passing of Ordinary Resolutions Nos. {1
and (2} as set out in item 5 of the notice convening this mesting,
the general mandate grantec to the directors of the Company
to exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal
with the shares in the Company pursuant to Ordinary Resolution
No. (1} as set gut in item 5 of the notice convening this meeting
be and is hereby extended by the addition theretc of an amount
representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the
authority granted pursuant 1> Ordinary Resolution No. (2) as
set out in item 5 of the notice convening this meeting, providing
that such amount shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share sapital of the Company in issue at

the date of this Resolution.”

By order of the Board
Ho Chui Sing
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 30 July 2008

Notes:

A member entitled to attend and vote at “he Annual General Meeting is entitled
to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote on his hehall. A proxy need not
be a member of the Company. Gompietion and return of a form of proxy will not
preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting.

In order to be valid, a form of proxy togeher with a power of attorney or other
authority {if any} under which it Is signed. or a nolarially certified copy thereof,
must be deposited at the office of the Company’s branch registrar in Hong
Kong, Abacus Share Registrars Limited, 23/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not less than 18 hours betore the time appointed for
helding the meeting or adjourned meeting nr poll (as the case may be).

The Register of Members of the Company will Da closed from Friday, 22 August
2008 to Thursday, 28 August 2008, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares can be registered. In order to quality for the final dividend, all
properly completed transter forms accomparnied by relevant shars cerfificates
must be lodged with Abacus Share Registrars Limited, 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 21 August 2008.
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President’s Statement

INTERIM RESULTS

On behail of the Board of Directors, | would like to present to sharehclders the unaudited Interim Report
of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited {the “Company®} and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the six months ended 30 September 2008. The unaudited interim accounts have been reviewed by the
Company's Audit Committee.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

For the six months ended 30 September 2008, because of the partial disposal of its shareholding in a
subsidiary resulting in ceasing the operation lo be a subsidiary of the Group and becoming an associated
company so that its turnover was no longer consolidated into Group's accounts, the Group's turnover
was HK$867.9 million (2007: HK$1.017.6 million), representing a decrease of 14.7%. When exciuding this
effect, adjusted turnover far the same period in 2007 is HK$868.4 million, which is close to the turnover for
the period in 2008 under review.

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax. depreciation and amertization) for the period was HK$18.9 million
(2007: HK$ 24 million) reprasenting a decrease of 21.2% when compared 1o the last corresponding period.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the period was HK$6.3 million (2007: HK$9.5
million) which represents a decrease of 33.7% when compared to the last corfesponding period. Basic
earnings per share was HK2.06 cents (2007: HK3.24 cents).

INTERIM DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors has resolved to declare an interim dividend of HKC.3 cent per ordinary share
payable to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday,
17 December 2008.

The interim dividend will be payable on Friday, 9 January 2009.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 17 December, 2008 to Tuesday.
23 December 2008, bath days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In
order to gualify for the interim dividend, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by relevant
share certificates must be lodged with Tricor Abacus Limited, 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong tor registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 16 December 2008.

LIGUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s net current assets amounted to HK$197.7 million (31 March 2008: HK$189.1 million) and the
shareholders’ funds were HK$391.3 million at 30 September 2008 {31 March 2008: HK$387.7 million).
The total amount of joans and finance lease was HK$250.8 million {31 March 2008: HK$218.9 millicn) and
the net gearing ratio, which is defined as the borrowings after netting off of cash and cash eguivalents,
1o sharenolders’ funds was 0.36. The cash and bank balances were HK$10%.9 million (31 March 2008:
HK$103.4 million).

AL 30 September 2008, total available banking facilities of the Group were approximately HK$328.5 million,
of which HK$47 million was available for use. Finance lease obligations outstanding on the same date
amounted to HK$1.8 million.

The Group's assets were mostly financed by shareholders’ funds. trade payables and bank borrowings.
Trade payabies and short term loans are repayable within one year. Long term borrowings are repayable
between lwo to five years. The borrowings, cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, US dollars, Canadian dollars, Renminbi or Japanese Yen. The Group had entered into foreign
currency forward contracts with banks to hedge certain future foreign currency trade liabilities. The Group's
horrewings were bearing interest at floating rates.

1 Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited




President’s Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT
The Group is mainily engaged in four major businesses, namely:

—  Electronic Components Distribution and Manutacturing:
— EMS (Contract Electronic Manutacturing Services);

— Consumer Electronics: and

—  Personal Computer Distribution.

Due to the preparaticn t0 cope wilh the adverse eflect caused by the financial tsunami. the Management
decided to reserve more financial resources by cutling down inventory levels, eliminatling low margin
business, investing less in the future 18 months of developments and eliminaling the bad debt risk by
cutting down the long ouistanding habit customers, turnover of this reported period has been fairly
trimmed down.

Even under the contingency planning, the Management is happy tc see that business in the segment of
EMS and Distribution ot Electronic Components kept growing.

ELECTRONIC COMPONENTS — DISTRIBUTION AND MANUFACTURING

For the half year ended 30 September 2008, despite the adverse marketing environment, turnover of this
business segment was risen to HKE501.9 million. representing a growth of 19% when compared with the
same period of Jast year (2007: HK$422 .9 million).

As the result of successful penetration in the second tier brand mobile phone solutions in China, together
with the steady markel in the core electronic components distribution, the Group successiuily ranked
as Toshiba's biggest distributor in the reported period. Turnover in Freescale, Onsemi, and Silicon Lab
maintained fairly growth.

Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen sales divisions kepl on playing an important role - The Group prepared to
open a new sales office in Chengdu, PRC.

EMS (CONTRACT ELECTRONIC MANUFACTURING SERVICE)

Coping with the financial crisis, the Group starled to consolidate the low profil making invesiments {0
reduce the Group's management involvement and funding. Prior to the period under review, the Group had
disposed part of its shareholding interest in a Japan subsidiary of loudspeaker manufacturing resulting in
ceasing lhe operation 10 be a subsidiary of the Group and becoming an associated company. Accordingly
the said company was no longer consolidated in the Group's accounts. giving rise 1o the substantial
reduchan in turnover in this segment.

The EMS business so recorded reflected a turnover of HK8118.7 million (2007 HK$272.5 million).
representing a decrease of 56%.

Exclude the above stated effect, turnover of the core EMS business grew steadily by 6%. The engineering
investment in this segment in previous years staried gaining recognition from renéwned customers. The
Group was approved as one of the few manufacturers in Wide-Band Combiners. crucial parts in mobile
phone base stations. The Management believed thal this production would fring in reasonable contribution
in the coming year.

CONSUMER ELECTRONICS MANUFACTURING

In the reported period, although there were substantial opporlunities of gaining new crders, the Group was
cautious on the continuous escalating material ¢ost and labor cost. The Group lherefore had continued its
strategy of eliminating low profit margin products and keeping the Group from the risk of big losses.

Turnover of this segment was HK$73.7 million (2007° HK$110.5 miilicn). representing a decrease of 33%
when comparing with last reported penod.

Even facing the negative conlribution of this segment of business, the Group had successfully developed
new models of higher profit margin products such as internet radio, iPod docking boom boxes, multi-
interface mini compo hi-fi as well as projection clocks. The Group had also developed solutions to enter
into the new market of cordless DECT phones.

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited 2




President’s Statement

PERSONAL COMPUTER DISTRIBUTION

Business in this segment mainly comes from the distribution of perscnal computer system and parts in
Canada. As a result of the economic dechne in North America, turnover of this business segment was
HK$172.6 million in the reporting period, representing a decrease of 19% when compared with the same
period of last year (2007: HK$211.7 million).

To compensate the slow business in this segment, Canada office had successful launched into the market
of memoery devices and memory cards. Together with the support from Microsoft in gistribution of software,
the impact pf finance tsunami would be lessened.

FUTURE PROSPECT

The recent financial tsunami has caused an adverse ripple effect across the financial markets and the
global economy. Economic downturn and credit ¢runch have dampened consumer purchases and
business outlock. Drawing experience in dealing with chalienges in the past, the Group has exercised
extra prudence on managing ils trade receivables, inventory and liguidity. Tied up funding across the
operation level of the Group has been well planned to reduce menth by month and keeps adeguate cash
on hand to prepare for the adverse situation of finance resources.

The distribution segment of electronic cemponents of the Group is in the upper stream of electronic
products which can have an earlier sensitivity to the slowdown of market. Before the beginning of
the finance tsunami, the Group has afready had a contingency plan 1o shrink down the size of capital
investment and new product development.

To eliminate the negative impact of profit contribution in the segment of consumer electronics, the size of
cperation will be shrunk. Yet, the Group keeps on fetching the harvest of R&D in previous years. Together
with the excitement of positive feedback from customers on the newly developed new models with better
profit margins, this operaticn is expected ta be smalt but healthy.

To keep the Group safe from potential bad-debls in the present situalions, most of the account receivables
of big customers are secured by credit insurances as well as by standby L/C.

As a conclusicn, the Management 1s confident that the Group will maintain a fair profit and good cash flow
status.

EMPLOYEES

At 30 September 2008, the Group employed a total of approximately 4,500 employeas (2007: 6,000
employees) located in Hong Kong, Canada and PRC_ Sales personne! are remungrated by salaries and
incentives scheme, General stalf are offered year-end discretionary bonus. The Group also provides ORSQO
Scheme or Mandatary Provident Fund Scheme ang medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees,

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 August 2005,
the Group may grant share options to Directors and eligible employees. Up to 30 September 2008, no
share options had been granted to employees.

3 Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited




Condensed Consolidated Income Statement

For the six months ended 30 Sepiember 2008

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other tncome
Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Operaling profit
Finance costs

Profit before income lax
income 1ax expense

Profit for the period
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Minority interesls

Dividends
Earnings per share tor profit attributabie
to enuity holders of the Company

— Basic

— Diluted

The notes are inlegral part of these financial statements.
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Unaudited
Six months ended
30 September

2008 2007

Note HK$'000 HKE'000
Z 867,903 1,017,599
(780,510) {916.937)

87,393 100.662

38 2.384

(10,984) {14.865)

(66,392) (71,489)

3 10,398 16.692
{3,363} {4.520)

7,035 12172

4 (1,490) (2.897)
5,545 9.275

6,250 3.520

{705) {245)

5,545 9,275

6 911 3.038
7 HK 2.06 cents HK 3.24 cents
7 HK 1.98 cents HK 3.16 cents
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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Praperty, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and jand use rights
Interest in a jointly controlled entity

Deferred income tax assets

Available-for-sale financial agsets

Cther asgets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated company
Prepayments, depozsits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity
Capital and reserves altributable

1o equity holders cf the Company

Share capital
Reserves

Minority interests
Total equlity

Non-current liabilities
Borrawings
Oeferred inceme tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Taxation payable
Cerivalive financial instruments

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Note

"t
G

The noles are integral part of these financial statements.

A8 at 30 September 2008

30 September 31 March
2008 2008
Unaudited Audited
HKS$'000 HKE'000
27,042 28,199
189,424 194,544
24,914 25,208

1 1

s 1.386

214 319

710 710
242,686 250,367
252,438 238,574
225,648 185,589
18,956 17,637
14,621 15,347
109,927 103,388
__________ 621,990 560535
864,276 810,902
30,379 30,423
360,943 357.340
391,322 387,763
176 881
391,498 388,644
44,406 45,346
4,467 5,480
48,873 50.826
206,366 173,567
193,598 161,071
21,403 28,272
664 2,243

1,874 6,279
__________ 423905 37432
472,778 422,258
864,276 810,902
197,685 189,103
440,371 439.470

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited




Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the six months ended 30 September 2008

Nel cash (outfiow)/inflow from operating activities
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities

Nel cash inflow from financing activities

MNet increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Eiffect of toreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September

Analysis of balances of cash and cash eguivalents
Cash and bank balances

The notes are imegral part of these financial statements.
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Unaudited
Six months ended
30 September

2008 2007
HKS 000 HK$'000
(15.855) 8,806
(8,719) (14,022}
30,911 21,462
6,337 16.246
103,388 93,432
202 2151
109,927 111,829
109,927 111.829




Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the six months ended 30 September 2008

Unaudited
Aitributable to shareholders of the Company
Available-
for-sale
financial
Sharg  Comulalive assets
Share Share Capial  redemplicn  Iransialion  Stalvlory  revalustion  Refained Winority
capitl  premivm  reserves nsert  pdystments  reserves 1eserie £amings Total interest Total

RESO0 RKEO0D  MKSDOD  WEOOD  MASTD  HNSDOD  RWSO0G  RNSDOD  MKSOOS  RNSTOE  HKEOOD

A1 Apeil 2007 gty 582 4.3 1653 2654 Il HiH arEs s i3 ik
Dirrency nstaion dierencas - - - - £14 - - - 2 - fidd
Pritd it 2 perod - - - - - - - 354 358 (243 3215
Issua of new shares 108 547 - - - - - - iishi - 11564
(& o ravavasen of

i for-sae Pzl

AS5ELS - -~ - - - - iy - 457 - 457
Prrchese cf owa gharss lif} 195} - 13 - - - 133) i3 - k]
Fina aviaend paa Tos 2007 - - - - - - - (8357} [4E50) - [4357)
At 30 Septexber 2007 ikt 214969 A2 163 §52% A 153 85134 mam 942 14213
BL1 Aprik 2008 0423 15121 41201 118 1730 il i 89,466 760 551 8,544
Currancy Sanslahon

difarences - - - - [1.88) - - - {163} - {1636}

Prefitior the petiod - - - - - - - 620 256 {705) 55
Loss 0n revaiuaton o

avlante-for-sale firancizt

s - - - - - - (105} - 1163} - Hos}
Puranase of pwn 1are; (44} 1143} - 157 - - - 1157 131} - |1&f)
Final dividerd paid for 2003 - - - - - - - {76i) 1783) - 76i)
At 30 September 2008 nm iR 41.201 3351 B35 o] % LERE 39132 i ikl

The noles are integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to condensed interim accounts

1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
This unaudited condensed consclidated financial inlormation has been prepared in accerdance with Hong Kong
Accounting Standard ("HKAS") 34 “Inlerim Financial Reporting” issued by the Hang Kong Institvte of Certilied
Public Accountants.

This imerim financial report should be read in conjunclion with the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2008.

The accounting pelicies and methods @l computation used in the prepasation of this inlerim financial report are
consislent with those used in (he annual financial slatements for the year ended 31 March 2008, except that the
Group has changed certain of ita accounting policies tellowing its adoption of newfrevised Hong Kang Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS'} ana HKAS (colleclively referred ta as the “New HKFRSs"). which have become
effective for accounting periods heginning on or after 1 Aptil 2008, The applicable New HKFRSe adopted in Lhis
interim financial report are set out helow,

HK{IFRIC}-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HXAS 18 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirementis and
their Intaraction

The adoption ol ithe above new standard, amendment and interpretations has no maleriagl impact an the
condensed consolidated interim financial information of the Group.

The lollowing new slandards and inlerpretalions have been issued by the HKICPA but are nol efteclive for
linancial year ending 31 March 2009 and have notl been early adopied:

HKAS | (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statemerts
HKAS 32 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Presentation
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share Based Payment

HKFRS 3 {Revised) Business Combinatians

HKFRS & Operating Segments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Pregrammes
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Cosls

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited 8




Notes to condensed interim accounts

Turnover and segment information

The Group ig principally engaged in the dosign. development, manulaciuring and distribution of elecironic
componenls, conlract electronic manufacturing service and consumer eleclrenics, and the distribution ol personal

compulers.

An analysis of the Group's turnover and contribution to operaling profil by business segments and geographical

segments tor the period is as tollows:

{a) Primary reporting format — business segments:
Conlract
Uznufacturing electronic
and distridution pacfachunag
<l iectoanic service 1d Distribetion of
components LonSum elecranics persanal computer ERminations
i monins ended Siz monihs ended Siz months ended Six monihs ended
3 September 4 Saqtember 10 September 30 Seplember
2008 2000 008 ool il } 01 il }

HKS 08 HAS 000 HAS TR HAS 060 HK$'000

2087
HER X HAS 0 HAE000

Grazp
§it monihs ended

531527 @293 193364 3529 173612 H1EE
05 18D - - - - (408}
6233 423002 193,384 382918 112612 211659 1405} 67,900 §017.589
Syaseel 1510 LR 1056 i [MH ER] 1345 &
Unalxaed
wtome m 1050
linapcated
£308%585 aan) 1734E)
Foancecon {1.38) {22)
o betye
FEOTE 11 7038 12112
Iagome 1ae
fapanse 1,430} 125%)
Prallty e
0Ee §.545 EFE
Prgis amnan
108Gy holders 6,250 35
Wenonly inferests 1205) 1245)
554§ 3378
{b} Secondary reporting format — geographical segments:

Hong Kong and Mainland China
North Ametrica

Eurcpe

Japan

Other Asian countries

Cperating profit
Operating profil is staled after charging and crediting the following.

Charging:
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assels
Provisian for bact and doubtfui debls

Crediting:
Inlerest income

Turnover
Six months ended
30 September

2008 2007
HKS 000 HK5'G00
489,405 412,549
237,809 320,558
117,821 105,553
10,346 166,916
12,522 12,023
867,903 1,017,599

Six months ended
30 Septembeor

2008
HKS 000

8,597
1,190

132

2007
HKE'000

8,045
I

740
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Notes to condensed interim accounts

4. Income 1ax expense
The Campany is exempled from taxalion in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided al the rate of
16.5% (2007 17.5%) on the estimated assessable prohis arising in o derived from Hong Kong. Companies
established and operate in Mainland China are subject 1o Mainland China enterprise income tax at the rale of 25%
to 33% (2007: 15% to 33%). Companies established and operate in Canada are subject 1o Canadan income tax
at the rale of 35% (2007: 36%).

The amount of taxation charged to the condensed consclidated income stalement represents:

Six months ended

30 September
2008 2007
HKS 000 HK$'000
Current faxation:

— Heng Kong prolits tax 232 630
— Mainland China entgrpnse incoma tax 1,038 1.052
— Canadian incoma tax 228 1,221
1,498 2,903

Deferred tax relating to Ine arigination
and revarsal of tamporary ditlerences (8) {6)
1,490 2.897

5. Deterred income tax
Deferred incoma tax are calculated in full on temporary dilterences under Ihe liability method using a principal
taxation rate ol 16.5% (2007: 17.5%)

The movemeant on the Group's delerred income tax assets and liahilities are as tollows:

Six months ended Year ended
30 September 31 March
2008 2008
HKS'000 HKS 000
Deterred income tax assets
Cpening talance 1,541 1,150
{Charged)/credited ta income statement (Note 4) (430) 391
Closing balance 1,111 1,543
Deferred income tax liabilities
Opening balance 5,635 5,464
{Credited)/charged lo income statement fNote 4) (438) 769
Disposal of subsidiares — (598)
Closing balance 5,197 5335

——
Deafarrad income lax assets and liabilities are oftsel when there is a legally enforceable right to offsel current
Income tax asseis against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relale [o the same
fiscal authorily. The following amounts, determined after aporopriate olsstiing, are shown in lhe condensed
consolidaled balance sheet.

30 September 31 March

2008 2008

HKS'000 HK3'000

Deferred income lax assets k1) 1,386
Deferred income tax liabilities (4,467} {5,480)
MNel delerred income tax liabilities {4,086} (4.094)

6. Dividends

Six months ended
30 September

2008 2007
HKS'000 HK$'000
2007/2008 Final dividend, paid, of HK$0.0025

(200672007 final paid: HK$0.015) per ordinary share (Note (i)} 761 4,557

200872009 interim dividena of HK$0.003 (2007/2008: HK$Q.01)
per ordinary share, declared on 27 November 2008 (Nole (#)) 911 3,038
1,672 7.595

——
Daiwa Asscciate Holdings Limited 10




Notes to condensed interim accounts

10.

Dividends (continued}
Nate (i): Al a meeting held on 30 July 2008 the directors proposed a final dividend of HK$0.0025 per ordinary
share for the year ended 31 March 2008, which was paid on 10 Seplember 2008,

Nole (i): Al a meeting held on 27 November 2008 the directors resolved 1o declare an interim dividend of
HK$0.003 per ordinary share tor the six months ended 30 Seplember 2008. The interim dividend has
been reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the six months ended 30 September 2008

Earnings per share
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the Grour's profil atlribulable to
shareholders of HK$8,250,000 (2007: HK$9,520.000)

The basic earnings per Share iS based on the weighted average of 304,104,835 (2007: 294.180.669) ordinary
shares in issue during the period. The diluted carnings per share is based on 314,618,474 (2007: 301.239.333)
ordinary sharas which is thé weighted average number of ordinary shares in issug during the period plus the
weighted average of ordinary shares deemded to he issued at fair value as exercise of all outstanding shara
warrants.

Capital expenditure
For six months ended 30 September 2008

Property, plant

Goodwill and equipment
HK$ 000 HKS'000
Cpening net book value 28,199 194,544
Exchange dillerence {1.157) 302
Additions — 2,983
Disposals - {102)
Depreciationfamortisation charge — (8.303)
Closing net book value 27,042 189,424
Trade and notes receivables
Trade receivables and their ageing analysis is as follows:
30 September 31 March
2008 2008
HKS 000 HK$'000
Less than 60 days 148,242 107.794
60 lo 119 days 56,815 40,041
120 days of more 14,495 14,514
219,552 162,349
Less: provision for impairment 1,213 1,973
218,339 160.376
Naotes receivable 7.309 26,213
225 648 185,589

Majority of the Group's sales are made on open account, with credit terms generally ranging from 30 days to
60 days.

Trade payables
Trage payables and their ageing analysis is as follows:

30 September 31 March

2008 2008

HKS'000 HKS'00C

Less than 60 days 164,708 141,349
60 to 119 days 25,596 14,631
120 days or more 3,294 5,091
193,598 161,071

" Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Notes to condensed interim accounts

", Borrowings

Obligations under finance leases
Bank borrowings
Trust réceipts bank l0ans

Total amounts payable
Less. Current poriion

Long-term portion

12. Share capital

Aulhorised:
Ordinary shares ol HK$0.10 each
AL 1 April 2008 and 30 September 2008

Issued and tully paid:
Ordinary shares ol HK$0.10 each
AL 1 April 2008
Purchase of own shares

Al 30 September 2008

13. Commilments
Operating fease commitments

lollows:

Wilhin one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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30 Seplember 31 March
2008 2008
HKs'o00 HKS'000
1,782 2,474
92,908 79,668
156,082 136.771
250,772 218,913
206,366 173.567
44,406 45,346
Number of
Ordinary Shares HKSs'o00
1.000,000,000 100.000
304,231,373 30.423
(438,000) (44)
303,793,373 30,379

At 30 September 2008, Lhe Group had total future aggregale minimum lease payments under operating leases as

30 September 31 March
2008 2008

HKS 000 HKS'000
9,937 6.095

12,583 5,899

22,520 11.994




Notes to condensed interim accounts

14. Financial Risk Management

14.1

14.2

Financial risk factars
The Group's activities expose it 16 a variety of linancial risks: foreign exchange risk, price risk, credit
risk, liquidity nsk, and ¢ash flow and fair value interesi-rate risk.

Managemenl regularly monitors the finangial risks of the Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial
struclure and the current operations of the Greup, no major hedging activities are undertaken by
management.

(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group are exposed io foreign exchange risk arising from various curfency exposures,
primarily with respect to United States dollar, Canadian doflars, Chinese Renminbi and
Japanese Yen. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assels and liabilities and net investments in foreign aperaticns. The Group uses cerlain fareign
exchange contracls te manage forgign exchange expasure.

(b) Price risk
The Group is exposed lo equity securities price risk because investments held by the Group
are classified on the consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale financial assets and
carry at fair value. The Group is nol exposed 1o commodity prica risk.

fc} Credit risk
The Group has no significant coneenirations of credit risk. It has palicies in place 10 ensure
that sales are made to customers with an appropriata credit history. The Group has policies
that limit the amount of credit exposure o any financial assets.

(d) Liquidity rigk
The Group maintains suflicient ¢ash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requiremants.

{e) Cash flow and fair value interesi-rate risk
The Group's interes! rale risk mainly arises from bank balances anc bank borrowings. This risk
s managed through Lhe mainienance of a proper porticlio of deposil and debt.

Fair value estimation

The lair value of linancial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives,
and trading and available-lor-sale securities} is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet
date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. The
fair value of derfvative financial instruments that are notl traded in an active market (lor example, over-
the counter derivalives) i1s dalermined by using valuation teghniques. The fair value of forward foreign
exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the batance sheel date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and trade payables are
assumed 10 approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes
is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that s
available to the Group tor similar tinancial instruments.
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Supplementary Information

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

Al 30 Seplember 2008. the interests and short positions of the direciors and the chief executives ol
the Company in the shares. underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of ils associated
corporations {within the meaning of Part XV of the Securilies and Futures Ordinance ("SFC")) as recorded
in the register required to be kepl by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
1o the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited {the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant 10 the
Madel Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the "Model Code") contained
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”) were as
follows: —

(a) Long position in shares and warrants of the Company

Humber of issued ordinary shares/undertying shares attached 1 derivatives

Untisted Warrants Ordinary shares in issued
Corporate Persanal Corpovate Other Total
Name of directars interests Moizs interests Motex interests lex=s interests interests  Percentage
Hr, LAY Tek Wan 7.862.368 ? £.537,141 i 147.706.499 FEWT T AL £ CUR LKL 51.15%
Ms. CHAR Yuen Mei, Pirky 7.862.388 2 4,022 854 f 147.706.4% 24564 3687141 155,386,494 1.35%
Mr. WAN Chor Fai - 50.000 - - 50,000 0.02%
K. Barry John BUTTIFANT - 500,000 - - 500,008 0.16%
Notes:
1, 2.880.000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau Tak Wan (*Mr. Lau"} and Ms. Chan Yuen
Mei. Pinky (*Ms. Chan™). the spouss of Mr. Lau.
2. 7.862.388 wartans and 74,431,436 shares in the Company were benelicially owned by China Capilal
Holdings Investment Ltd ("China Capital™). The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by
Mr. Lau, and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.
3. 60,918,396 shares in the Company were benelicially owned by Leadiog Trade Lid ("Leading Trade™).
The issue share capital of Leading Trade is 50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan
4 12,356,667 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Cyber Concept Limited ("Cyber
Concepl™). The issued share eapilai of Cyber Concept is 50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms.
Chan.
(b) Long position in shares of associated corporations of the Company

Dominion International Limited, which is 50% owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan, and 50% owned by Ms.
Chan Yuen Mei. Pinky:

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Caosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited 50.000
Wesipac Digital Limited 1
Vasipoint Indusirial Limited 455,000
Daiwa Associate (H K.} Limiled 1,500,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000 and 10.000 non-voting
deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec Precision Industrial Limited

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited 14




Supplementary Information

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION {continuved)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2008, none of the directors, chief executives of the Company
or their associates had any interests or shorl positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 5F0O) as recorded
in the register required to be kepl under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Mode! Code for Securities Transaclions by directors of Listed
Issuers in the Lisling Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading of “DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES. UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" above, at no time during the period was the Company or any ol ils
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors and chief executives of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, underlying shares or debentures in the Company or
its associated corporations.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005, the Company adopted a new share oplicn scheme (the “New Scheme”) in compliance
with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which replaced the old share option scheme {the "Qld Scheme") in
force previously. As at 30 Seplember 2008, the Company did not grant any options under the New Scheme
and no share options were outstanding under the Old Scheme.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As al 30 September 2008, to the best knowledge of the directors. the following parties {(other than a
director or chief execulive of the Company) were recorded in the regisler kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO as being direclly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital
and warrants of the Company.

Interests in the shares and warrants of the Company

Number of Interest in
ordinary  underlying shares % of the total
Note shares held — unlisted warrants issued shares

Leading Trade Limited ! 60,918,396 — 20.05%

China Capital Holdings Invesiment Ltd 2 74,431,436 7.862.388 27.09%

South China Heldings Limiled 36.502.198 - 12.02%

Noles:

1. Leading Trade Limited Is 50% owned by Mr Lau Tak wWan ang 50% owned by Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky
Accordingly, Leading Trade Limited, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO 1o be interesled in 60.918.395,
183.248.882 and 163,248,882 shares of the Company.

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan and 40% owned by Ms. Chan Yuen

Mei. Pinky. Accordingly. China Capital Holdings Invesiment Limited, Mr. Lay and Ms, Chan were deemed by SFO
lo be interestad in 74,431,435, 163,248 882 and 163,248,882 shares of the Company respaclively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been npotified of any other interest representing 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company and recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders
maintained under Section 336 of the SFO as at 30 September 2008.
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Supplementary Information

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied wilth the code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code") conlained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the six months ended 30
Seplember 2008, save for the following deviaticns:

Code Provision A .21
Under this code provision, the roles of the chairman and chiel executive officer should be separated and
should not be pertormed by the same individual.

Mr. Lau Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the Company. In the opinicn of the
Board. the role of the president and the chiet executive officer is the same. The Board considers that the
present structure provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for etficient and
effective business planning and execution. Hence. the Board believes that it is in the besl interest of the
sharenoiders of the Company that Mr. Lau Tak Wan will continue to assume the roies of the Chairman of
the Board and the president of the Company. However. the Company will review the current siructure as
and when it becomes appropriate in {Lture.

Code Provision A.4.1
Under this code provision, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subjecl to
re-glection.

None of the existing non-executive direclors of the Company is appointed for a specific term. However.
relevant amendmeants to the Company's bye-laws were proposed and approved Dy the sharehclders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 September 2006, that all directors of the Company
(whether appointed for specific terms of not) shall retire from cffice by rotation at least once every three
years. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been ltaken to ensure thal the
Company's corporale governance praclices are no less exacting than these in the Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as sel out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of ail directors, the
directors have confirmed compliance with the required standard set oul in the Model Code as provided in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for the six menths ended 30 Seplember 2008.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopled
by the Group and discussed inlernal controls and linancial reporting matlers including a review of the
unaudited interim condensed accountis lor the six months ended 30 September 2008 with the dieciors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the six months ended 30 September 2008, the Company purchased a total of 438,000 shares
of HK$0.10 each of the Company in lhe range from HK$0.375 lo HK$0.450 for a iotal consideration
of HK$186,260 on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, all of which shares were subsequently
cancelled

Save as disclosed above. neither the Company nor any of ils subsidiaries purchased. sold and redeemed
any of the Company's listed securities during the six months ended 30 September 2008.

By Crder of the Board
LAU Tak Wan
President
Hong Kong, 27 November 2008
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THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action lo be taken,
you should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager,

solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited, you
should at once hand this circular o the purchaser or the transferee or lo the bank, stockbroker
or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission o the

purchaser or the transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
circular, makes no represcntation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or

any parl of the contents of this circular.

DAIVA

DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
7w e RA

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 1037)

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION
DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY

Financial Advisor to the Company
-”@? ASIAN CAPITAL

5 {CORFORATE FINANCE) LIMITED

:;‘d
B T0 pmBeE HRa D

*  For identification purpose only

19 September 2008
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DEFINITIONS

In this circnlar, the following expressions have the following meanings wnless the context

requires otherwise:

“Board”

“Chun Yuen Loong™

“Company”

“connected persons”

“Daiwa Technology™

“Directors™

“Disposal”

“Don Dynamic™

“Group”

“Hong Kong™

“Latest Practicable Date™

.

“Listing Rules’

the board of the Directors
Chun Yuen Loong Limited, the purchaser ol the Properiy

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (& RIFg I B BR 2
%) * a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and the issued Shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange

has the mcaning ascribed to this term under the Listing
Rules

Daiwa Technology Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

directors (including the non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Company from time to

time
the disposal of the Property by Don Dynamic to Chun
Yuen Loong pursuant to the Provisional Sale and

Purchasc Agreement

Don Dynamic Limited, an indircet wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, the vendor of the Property

the Company and its subsidiaries

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

16 September 2008, being the latest practicable date
prior the printing of this circular for ascertaining certain

information contained herein

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited




DEFINITIONS

“Property”

“Provisional Sale and Purchase
Agreement”

(13 SFO’?

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

\ﬁHKS!!

*  For identification purpose only

the property owned by Don Dynamic located on the 1st
Floor, East Sun Industrial Building, No. 20 Shing Yip
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

the legally binding provisional sale and purchase
agreement dated 1 September 2008 entered into between
Don Dynamic and Chun Yuen Loong in relation to the

Disposal

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company

holder(s) of the Share(s)
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

DAIWA

DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
£ M w SR R A A

{fucorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 1037)

Executive Directors:

Mr. LAU Tak Wan {President)

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-President)
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

To the Shareholders

Dcar Sir or Madam,

Registered office:
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

Head office and principal
place of business:

11th Floor, Block G

East Sun Industrial Centre

16 Shing Yip Street

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Keng

19 September 2008

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION
DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 5 September 2008 in which

the Board announced that on | September 2008, Don Dynamic, an indirectly wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company. entered into the legally binding Provisional Sale and Purchase

Agreement with Chun Yuen Loong, pursuant to which Don Dynamic agreed to sell the
Property to Chun Yuen Loong at a consideration of HK$10,900.000.

The Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a discloscable

transaction on the part of the Company under Chaptcr 14 of the Listing Rules.




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with further details regarding the Disposal and
the transactions contempiated thereunder.

THE DISPOSAL

Date of the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement

| September 2008

Parties

Vendor: Don Dynamic, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and
Purchaser:  Chun Yuen Loong, an independent third party.

Chun Yuen Loong is a corporation duly registered in Hong Kong. It is principally engaged in
investment and construction sub-contracting business. The Directors confirm that to the best
of their knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, Chun Yuen
Loong and its ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of the Company and

its connected persons,

There was no previous transaction between the Company and Chun Yuen Loong (and its
beneficial owners) which would require aggregation under the Listing Rules.

Asset to be disposed

The Property is located on the 1st Floor, East Sun Indusirial Building, No. 20 Shing Yip
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a gross floor area of 8,600 square feet.
The Property was previously ieased out to an independent third party at a monthly rental
of HK$52.455 for the period from 27 July 2007 to 31 March 2008, however the tenant had
terminated the tenancy agreement in December 2007. Subsequent to the termination of the
said tenancy agreement, the Group used the Property as its warchouse.

Consideration

The consideration for the Disposal of the Property is HK$10,900,000 which is payable in cash
in the following manner:

(i) ~ HKS$50,000, being the initial deposit paid by Chun Yuen Loong to Don Dynamic upon
signing of the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement on 1 September 2008;




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

(i)  HKS$1.040,000. being further deposit to be paid by Chun Yuen Loong to Don Dynamic
upon signing of the formal agreement for the sale and purchase of the Property to be
entered by and among the parties on or before 17 September 2008: and

(iii) HK$9.810,000, being the balance of the consideration to be paid by Chun Yuen Loong
to Don Dynamic within 60 working days from the date of signing the formal agreement
for the sale und purchase of the Property.

The consideration was determined afier arm’s length negotiations among the partics by
reference to the offer price of approximately HK$10,320,000 based on enquiries made with
the real estate agent in May 2008, Prior to the sale of the Property, the Company conducted a
rescarch on recent transaction prices of nearby premises. consulted several real estate agents
about the marketable prices of the Property and compared properties prices of similar size
in the same location in order to ensure that the consideration for the sale of the Property was
fair and reasonable. The Company considered several offers by the prospective purchasers and
finally accepted the highest offer by Chun Yuen Loong at a consideration of HK$10.900,000.

Leaseback

Upon signing of the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement, a provisional tenancy
agreement was entered into among Don Dynamic, Chun Yuen Loong and Daiwa Technology,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. pursuant to which Daiwa Technelogy
shall enter into a 3 years irrevocable and 2 years optional tenaney agreement with Chun Yuen
Loong in respect of the Property at a monthly rental of HK$50,000, which was agreed after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to the prevailing market rates, upon completion of
the sale and purchase of the Property. During the 2 years optional tenancy period, Daiwa
Technology and Chun Yuen Loong have the rights to terminate the lenancy agreement by
giving not less than six months prior notice to the other party.

The Property is currently occupied by the Group as its warehouse. The subsequent leaseback
of the Property from Chun Yuen Loong after the Disposal will enable the Group to continue
to use the Property as its warchouse.

Completion

Pursuant to the terms of the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement, the parties are
required to enter into a formal agreement for the sale and purchase of the Property on or
before 17 September 2008. Completion of the sale and purchase of the Property shall take
place within 60 working days from the date of signing the said formal agreement.
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REASONS FOR THE DISPOSAL

In light of the gain expected to be generated from the Disposal, the Directors consider that
it provides a good opportunity for the Group o realize its investment in the Property and to
recognize the profit arising therefrom.

The audited net profit before and after taxation and extraordinary items atiributable to the
Property amounted to approximately HK$171,623 and HK$58,213 respectively for the year
ended 3! March 2007.

The unaudited net profit before and after taxation and exiraordinary items attributable to the
Property amounted to approximately HK$41,000 and HK$42,000 respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2008.

The Directors consider that the terms of the Disposal and the iransactions contemplaied
thereunder have been eniered into upon normal commercial terms and are in the interesis of
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, and the terms are fair and reasonable as far as
the Company and the Shareholders are concerned.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE DISPOSAL

The net proceeds from the Disposal (afier deducting the legal expenses) is estimated to be
HK§10,885,000. Presently, the Board intends that the entire amount of the said proceeds will
be retained by the Group as working capital.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS ON THE DISPOSAL

Subject to the confirmation from the Group’s auditors, it is estimated that, upon completion
of the Disposal:

(i)  the Group will record a gain on disposal of approximately HK$7,680,000 based on the
book value of the Property of approximately HK$3,205,000 as at 31 August 2008; and

(i) the total assets of the Group will be increased by approximately HK$7,554,000 and
there will be no impact on the Group’s liabilities based on the management accounts of
the Group as at 31 August 2008.

INFORMATION OF THE GROUP
The Group 15 principally engaged in the design, development, manufacturing and distribution

of electronic components, contract electronic manufacturing setvices and consumer
electronics, and mannfacturing and distribution of personal computer and digital products.
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Don Dynamic is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is principaily
engaged in property holding.

LISTING RULES IMPLICATION

The Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a discloseable
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set out in the appendix to this

circular.

Yours faithfully
By order of the Board
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
LAU Tak Wan
President

*  For identification purpose only




APPENDIX GENERAL INFORMATION

1.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained
in this circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of
their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make
any statement herein misleading.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant 1o Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register kept by the Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares and warrants of the Company

Number of issued erdinary shares/anderlying shares attached to derivatives

Unlisted
warrants Ordinary shares in issued Total
Corporate Personal ~ Corporate Other
Name of Directors interests interests interests interest Interests  Percentage
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7,862,388 6,337,141 147,706,499 1142854 155,386,494 SLI5%

{Note 2) (Note 1) {Notes 2.3.4)

Ms. CHAN Yuen 7862388 4022,85 147,706,499 3,657,141 155,386,4% S115%
Mei, Pinky {Note 2) {Note 1) (Notes 2.3.4)

Mr. WAN Chor Fai — 50,000 — — 50,000 0.016%

Mr. Barry John — 500,000 — - 500,000 0.16%
BUTTIFANT
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(b)

Notes:

L. 2,880.000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau Tak Wan ("Mr. Lan™) and
Ms. Chan Yuen Mei. Pinky ("Ms. Chan™), the spouse of Mr, Lau.

2. 7.862.388 warrants and 74.431.436 shares in the Company were bencficially owned by
China Capital Holdings Investment Limited ("China Capital™). The issucd share capital of
China Capital is 60% owned by Mr. Lau. and 40% owped by Ms. Chan.

KR 60.918,396 sharcs in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading Trade Limited
("Leading Trade™). The issued share capital of Leading Trade is 50% owned by Mr, Lau
and 30% owned by Ms. Chan.

4, 12.356.667 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Cyber Concept Limited

(*Cyber Concept™). The issued share capital of Cyber Concept is 50% owned by Mr. Lau
and 50% owned by Ms. Chan,

Long paosition in shares of associated corporations of the Company

Dominion International Limited, which 1s 50% owned by Mr. Lau, and 50%
owned by Ms, Chan:

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited 50,000
Westpac Digital Limited 1
Vastpoint Industrial Limited 455,000
Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited 1,500,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000 and
10,000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec Precision Industrial
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors,
chiet exccutives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of' its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deenied to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the Company, or which were required, pursuant to

the Model Code for Sccurities Transactions by Directors of Listed lssuers in the

Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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3. INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge of the Directors and save
as disclosed in paragraph headed *2. Directors’ and Chief Execunives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” in this appendix, the following parties (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company), had an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company which are required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who
was, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in ali circumstances at general meetings of any
other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares and warrants of the Company

Interest in

underlying

shares — % of

Name of substantial Number of unlisted the (ocal

shareholder Note  shares held warrants issued shares
China Capital Holdings

Investment Limited (1) 74,431,436 7,862,388 27.09%

Leading Trade Limited (2) 60,918,396 — 20.05%

Mr. NG Hung Sang 36,502,198 — 12.02%

South China Holdings Limited 36,502,198 — 12.02%

Notes:

1. China Capital is 60% owned by Mr. Lau and 40% owned by Ms. Chan. Accordingly, China Capital,
Mr. Lau and Ms, Chan were deemed by SFO to he interested in 74,431,436, 163,248,882 and
163,248,882 shares of the Company respectively.

2. Leading Trade is 50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan. Accordingly, Leading
Trade, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO o be interested in 60,918,396, 163,248,882 and
163,248,882 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware
of any other persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision
of Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFOQ, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the
Group or any options in respect of such capital.

— 10 —




APPENDIX GENERAL INFORMATION

COMPETING INTEREST

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a business which competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group. or have
or may have any other conflicts of interest with the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS® SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had entered or been proposed to enter into any service contracts
with the Company or any other member of the Group (exeluding contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation)) as at the Latest Practicable Date.

LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any other member of the
Group is engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and there was
no hitigation or claim of material importance known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against the Company or any of its members.

GENERAL

{a)  The registered office of the Company is situated at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.

{b)  The head office and principal place of business of the Company is situated at
11th Floor, Block G, East Sun Industrial Centre, 16 Shing Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

(©) The share registrar of the Company is Tricor Abacus Limited at 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre. 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(d)  The company secretary and qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Kwong
Kwok Choi ("Mr. Kwong”). Mr. Kwong is an associate member of both The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He is also an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Aceountants.

(¢) In the event of inconsistency, the English text of this circular shall prevail over
the Chinese text thereof.
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{IMPORTANT

If you are in any doubt about this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult a
stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have soid or transferred afl your shares in Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
you should at once hand this circular with the enclosed form of proxy to the purchaser or the

transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected
for transmission to the purchaser or the transferee.

The 8tock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this circular,
makes no representation as to its accuracy or completenass and expressly disclaims any liability

whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this circular.

DAIWA

DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
BNEEERERAA"

fincorporated in Bermuda with limited iability)

(Stock code: 1037) P 3 -
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RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS, Wi

GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE AND TO REPURCHASE SHARES

A notice convening the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at Academy Room I-I,
1/F., International Grand Stanford Hotel, 70 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong on

Thursday, 28 August 2008, at 3:30 p.m. is set out on pages 128 to 132 of the Company’s Annual
Report.

Whether or not yau propose to attend the meeting, you are requested to complete the proxy form in
accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return the same to Tricor Abacus Limited
(previously known as Abacus Share Registrars Limited), the Company's branch registrar in Hong Kong
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong as soon as possible and
in any event not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned
meeting or poll {as the case maybe). Completion and return of the proxy form shall not preclude

shareholders from attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting or any adjourned meeting
should you so desire.

1 August 2008
* For identification purposes onfy




DEFINITION

In this circular, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context otherwise

requires:

*Annual General Meeting”

“Annual Report”

*Board”

“Bye-law(s)"

"Director{s)”

“Group”

uHK$U

"Hong Kong™

"Latest Practicable Date”

*Listing Rules”

“Ordinary Resolutions”

*Qutstanding Warrant(s)"

“Share(s)”

*Shareholder{s)"

“Stock Exchange”

the annual general meeting of the Company for the year endad
31 March 2008 to be held on Thursday, 28 August 2008

the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008

the koard of Directors of the Company

the existing bye-law(s) of the Company

director{s) of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dallar, the lawful currency of Hong Kang

The Heng Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China

28 July 2008, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing
of this circular for ascertaining certain information in this circular

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

the ordinary resolutions to be proposed and passed at the Annual
General Meeting for the re-election of retiring directors and the

granting of the general mandates to the Directors

Warrant(s) not exercised as at 28 July 2008 (being the Latest
Practicable Date prior to the printing of this circular)

ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.10 each in the capital of
the Company

holder{s) of Share{s)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited




"Subscription Period”

"Subscription Right(s)

“Subsidiary”

"Takeover Code”

“Warrant(s)”

the three year period for 2008 warrant shares during which the
Subscription Rights may be exercised which is commenced on
Friday, 25 February 2005 and ended on Sunday, 24 February
2008 (both days inclusive)

the five year period for 2012 warrant shares during which the
Subscription Rights may be exercised which is commenced on
Tuesday. 23 January 2007 and ended cn Sunday, 22 January
2012 {both days inclusive)

the subscription right(s) attaching to the Warrant(s)

a company which is for the time being and from time to time a
subsidiary {within the meaning of section 2 of the Companies
Ordinance of the Company whether incorporated in Hong Kong,

Bermuda or elsewherg)

the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers

2008 and 2012 warrant(s) issued by the Company, in unit{s) of
HK$0.50 and HK$0.40 respectively of Subscription Rights, to
subscribe for new Shares at the initial subscription price of
HK$0.50 and HK$0.40 per new Share respectively, subject to
adjustment, at any time during the Subscription Period




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

DAI\WA

DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ENBEZRAERAA

{incorporatad in Barmuda with fimited fiability)

(Stock code: 1037)

Directors: Registered office:
Executive: Canon's Gourt
LAU Tak Wan (President) 22 Victoria Street
CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-FPresident) Hamilton HM 12
WAN Chor Fai Bermuda

MAK Hon Kai, Stanly
Head office and principal

independent non-executive: place of business:
Barry John BUTTIFANT 11th Floor, Block G
LIU Ngai Wing East Sun Industrial Centre
CHOI Yuk Fan 16 Shing Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon
Hong Keng

1 August 2008
To the Shareholders.

Dear Sir or Madam,

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS,
GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE AND TO REPURCHASE SHARES

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with information regarding the following resolutions
to be proposed at the annual general meeting of the Gompany to be held at Academy Room I-Il, 1/F.,
international Grang Stanford Hotel, 70 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowioon, Hong Kong on Thursday,
28 August 2008, at 3:30 p.m. relating to the re-election of retiring Directors, the renewal of the
general mandates granted to the Directors to issue and repurchase Shares of the Company.

(A} Re-Election of Retiring Directors

Ordinary Resolutions will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to re-elect directors of the
Company.

Pursuant to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. LAU Tak Wan, Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky and Mr.
wan Chor Fai shall retire at the Annual General Meeting. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will

offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the retiring Directors is set out in Appendix | to this circular.

* For identification purposes only




(B) General Mandates to Issue Shares and to Repurchase Shares

This is an explanatory statement given to all shareholders of the Company relating to ordinary
resolutions to be propoesed at the Annual General Meeting authorising the Company 10 repurchase its
own shares and to issue shares.

General Mandate to Issue Shares

Ordinary Resolutions will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to grant to the directors of
the Company a general mandate to allot, issue and deal with shares of the Company not exceeding
20% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
the passing of the resolution {"Share Issue Mandate”} and approving an extension of the Share Issue
Mandate by adding to it the aggregate nominal amount of any Shares repurchased by the Company
under the Share Repurchase Mandate {as hereinafter defined), details of which are set out in Ordinary
Resolutions No. (1) and No. (3) of item 5 of the notice of Annual General Meeting.

On the basis of 304,231,373 fully-paid up Shares in issue as at 28 July 2008 (being the Latest
Practicable Date prior to the printing of this circular) and assuming no further shares will be issued or
repurchased prior to Annual General Meeting, the Company may issue up to 60,846,275 Shares
(being 20% of issued share capital as at date of approval) under the Share Issue Mandate during the
period prior to the annual general meeting after Annual General Meeting of the Company following the
passing of the resolution referred to above, or the expiration of the period within which such meeting
is required by law to be held, or the revocation or variation of such mandate by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting. whichever cccurs first,

General Mandate to Repurchase Shares

An ordinary resolution will also be proposed-at the Annual General Meeting to grant to the
Directors a general mandate t0 exercise the powers of the Company to repurchase Shares with an
aggregate nominal amount of up to 10% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of the passing of the resolution (*Share Repurchase Mandate”) ag set
out in Crdinary Resolution No. (2) of item 5 of the notice of Annual General Meeting.

This explanatory statement contains all the information required pursuant to rule 10.06(1)(b) and
other relevant provisions of the Securities Buy Back Rules in the Listing Rules which is set out as
follows:

()  On the basis of 304,231,373 fully-paid up Shares in issue as at 28 July 2008 (being the
Latest Practicable Date prior to the printing of this circular) and assuming n¢ further shares
will be issued or repurchased prior to Annual General Meeting, the Company may repurchase
up to 30.423.137 Shares (being 10% of issued share capital as at date of approval} under
the Share Repurchase Mandate during the period prior to the annual general meeting after
Annual General Meeting of the Company following the passing of the resolution referred to
above, or the expiration of the period within which such meeting is required by law to be
held, or the revocation or variation of such mandate by an ordinary resolution of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting. whichever occurs first.

On 23 February 2005, that a total of 28,843.209 2008" Warrants were issued. Each
Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to subscribe in cash for one share at the initial
subscription price of HK$0.50, subject to adjustment, at any time during the three year
period which commenced on Friday, 25 February 2005 and ended on Sunday, 24 February
2008 (both days inclusive). (Please make reference to the announcement of the Company
on 16 February 2005 and the circular of the Company dated 6 January 2005 in relation to

N




(if}

i)

{iv)

the interim dividend with warrant alternative and the whitewash waiver). As at 28 July 2008
{being the Latest Practicable Date prior to the printing of this circular), there is a total of
693,413 2008 Warrants not exercised and lapsed.

On 23 January 2007, that a total of 26,070,000 2012° Warrants were issued. Each Warrant
will entitle the holder thereof to subscribe in cash for one share at the initiat subscription
price of HK$0.40, subject to adjustment, at any time during the five year period which
commenced on Tuesday, 23 January 2007 and ended on Sunday, 22 January 2012 (both
days inclusive). (Please make reference to the announcement of the Comgany on
7 Decemper 2006 and the circular of the Company dated 28 December 2006 in relation to
the interim dividend with warrant alternative). As at 28 July 2008 {being the Latest Practicable
Date prior to the printing of this circular), there is a total of 12,313,089 2012 Warrants not
exercised.

If the Subscription Rights of the total of 12,313,089 Warrants is fully exercised before the
Annual General Meeting, on the basis of 304,231,373 fully paid up Shares in issue as at 28
July 2008 (being the Latest Practicable Date prior to the printing of this circular) and
assuming no further shares, except for the shares to be issued pursuant to the Outstanding
Warrants, will be issued or repurchased prior to the Annuval General Meeting then the futly-
paid up Shares in issue would increase to 316,544,462, The exercise in full of the Share
Repurchase Mandate would result in up to 31,664,446 Shares being 10% of issued share
capital as at the date Annual General Meeting. (The detail of the Warrants are set out in
circulars despatched on 6 January 2005 and 28 December 2006).

The Directors believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to
have a general authority from shareholders to enable the Diractors to repurchase Shares
on tne market. Trading conditicns of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited have sometimes been volatile in recent years. At any time in the future
when Shares are trading at a discount to their underlying value, the ability of the Company
to repurchase Shares will be beneficial to those shareholders who retain their investment in
the Company since their percentage interest in the assets of the Company would increase
in proportion to the number of shares repurchased by the Company and thereby resulting
in an increase in net assets and/or earnings per share of the Company. Such repurchases
will only be made when the Directors believe that such repurchases will benefit the Company
and its shareholders.

In repurchasing shares, the Company may only apply funds legally available for such
purpose in accordance with its memorandum of association and Bye-laws and the laws of
Bermuda. The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended} {the “Companies Act’)
provides that the amount of capital repaid in connection with a share repurchase may only
be paid frem the distributable profits of the Company and/or the proceeds of a new issue
of shares, made for the purpose of the repurchase to such extent allowable under the
Companies Act.

There might be a material adverse impact on the working capital or gearing position of the
Company as compared with the position disclosed in the latest published audited
consolidated accounts contained in the Company's annual report for the year ended 31
March 2008 in the event that the Share Repurchase Mardate is exercised in full. The
Directors do not propose to exercise the Share Repurchase Mandate to such an extent as
would, in the circumstances, have a material adverse impact on the working capital
requirement of the Company or the gearing level which in the opinion of the Directors are
from time to time appropriate for the Company.




(vi)

(vii)

None of the Directors or, to the best of their knowledge having made all reasonable
enquiries, any of their associates has any present intention, in theé event that the Share
Repurchase Mandate is approved by shareholders of the Company, to sell any Shares to
the Company or its subsidiaries.

The Directors have undertaken to the Stock Exchange that, so far as the same may be
applicable, they will exercise the Share Repurchase Mandate in accordance with the Listing
Rutes and the applicable laws of Bermuda.

If a shareholder's proportionate interest in the voting right of the company increases as a
result of a share repurchase, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes
of the Code on Takeovers and Mergers. In certain circumstances, a shareholder or a group
of shareholders acting in concert could, as a result of such increase, obtain or consolidate
control of the company and become obliged to make a mandatory offer in accordance with
Rules 26 of the Takeover Code.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge and belief of the Direciors, the
following substantial sharehclders have direct or indirect interest in 10% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company:

Substantial Shareholder
Beneficially held in

Shares before Shares after
full exercise of tull exercise of
Subscription Subscription
Rights of Rights of
Outstanding % of Outstanding % of
Warrants Interest Warrants Interest
China Capital Holdings
Investment Ltd (Note 1) 74,431,436 24.47% 82,263,824 26.00%
Leading Trade Ltd (Note 2} 60,918,396 20.02% 60,918,396 19.24%
Cyber Concept Ltd (Note 3) 12,356,667 4.06% 12,356,667 3.80%
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 3,657,141 1.20% 3,657,141 1.16%
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 1,142,854 0.38% 1,142,854 0.36%
Mr. LAU Tak Wan &
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky jointly held 2,880,000 £.95% 2,880,000 0.91%
Mr. LAU Tak Wan &
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky total 155,386,494 51.08% 163,248,882 51.57%
South China Holdings Ltd 36,502,198 12.00% 36,502,188 11.53%

Shares to be issued
after full exercise of
Subscription Rights of
Outstanding Warrants

China Capital Heldings Investment Ltd (Note 1) 7,862,388
Leading Trade Lid (Note 2) —
Cyber Concept Ltd (Nete 3) _

7,862,388




(viil)

(ix)

Note 1, The issued share capital of China Capital Holdings Invastment Ltd is 60% owned by Mr. LAU Tak
Wan. and 40% by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky {the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan}.

Note 2 : Leading Trace Lid is a company 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% by Ms. CHAN yuen Maei,
Pinky.

MNote 3 : Cyber Concent Lid is a company 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei,
Pinky,

In the event that the Directors exercise in full the power to repurchase shares in accordance
with the terms of the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company, the respective shareholdings together with the options of each of the above
mentioned substantial shareholder and &f the directors in the Company would be increased
to:

Shareholding
Before full exercise After full exercise
of Subsecription of Subscription
Rights of Warrants Rights of Warrants

China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd 27.18% 28.89%
teading Trade ttd 22.25% 21.38%
Cyber Concept L td 4.51% 4.34%
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 1.34% 1.28%
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 0.42% 0.40%
Mr. LALU Tak wan &

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky jointly held 1.05% 1.01%
Mr. LAU Tak wan &

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky total 56.75% 57.30%
South China Holdings Ltd 13.33% 12.81%

The aggregate percentage of interest in shares of Mr. LAU Tak Wan and Ms. CHAN Yuen
Mei, Pinky. represented 56.75% and 57.30% of issued share capital of the Company
before and aiter the full exercise of Subscription Rights of Warrants. in the event that the
Share Repurchase Mandate is exercised in full.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Directors have no present intention
to exercise the repurchase mandate to such extent as would give rise 1o the obligation to
make a mandatory offer in accordance with Rules 26 of the Code.

The Directors are not aware of any consequences which may arise under the Takeover
Code as a result of any repurchases made under the Share Repurchase Mandate. The
Directors do not propose to repurchase shares which would result in the aggregate amount
of the share capital of the Company in public hands reducing tc below 25%.

No purchase of shares have been made by the Company during the previous 6 months,
whether on the Stock Exchange or otherwise.

The Listing Rules prohibit a company from knowingly repurchasing shares of the company
on the Stock Exchange from a “connecled person”, that is, a director or substantial
shareholder or their associates [as defined in the Listing Rules). A connected person shall
not knowingly sell his shares to the company.

No connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) has notified the Company that he
has a present intention to sell Shares to the Company, or has undertaken net to do so, in
the event that the Share Repurchase Mandate is approved by shareholders of the Company.




(x) The highest and lowest trading prices for Shares recorded on the Stock Exchange during
each of the previous 12 months were as follows:

Lowest Highest

(HKS) (HKS)

July 2007 0.620 0.800
August 2007 0.480 0.750
September 2007 0.570 0.740
October 2007 0.600 0.730
November 2007 0.640 0.750
December 2007 0.560 0.700
January 2008 0.450 0.660
February 2008 0.500 0.620
arch 2008 0.400 0.550
April 2008 0.425 0.600
May 2008 0.450 C.600
June 2008 0.420 0.520
July 2008 (up to the Latest Practicable Date) 0.500 0.500

{C) Annual General Meeting

The notice of Annual General Meeting is set out on pages 128 to 132 of the Company's Annual
Report.

A proxy form for use at the Annual General Meeting is enclosed with this circular. In order to be
valid, the proxy form together with a power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is
signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the office of the Company's branch
registrar in Hong Kong (Tricor Abacus Limited, previously known as Abacus Share Registrars Limited,
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong), not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding of Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting or poll (as the
case may be).

(D) Procedures to Demanding a Poll

Pursuant {0 Bye-laws 69, a poll may be demanded in relation to any resoclution put to the vote of
the Annual General Meeting before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands by:

(i}  the chairman of the meeting;

{i) at least 3 Shareholders present in person or by proxy or authcrized representative for the
time being entitled to vote at the meeting;

(i) any Shareholders or Shareholders present in persan or by proxy or authorized representative
and holding between them not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the
members having the right to attend and vote at the meeting; or

(ivi any Shareholders or Shareholders present in persen or by proxy or authorized representative
and hotding shares in the Company conferring a right to attend and vote at the mesting
being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to no less than one-
tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.




(E}) Responsibility Statement

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this circular and contfirm, having made
all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the
omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

(F) Recommendation

The Directors are of the opinion that the re-election of retiring Directors, the renewal of the
general mandates granted to the Directors to issue and repurchase shares of the Company are in the
best interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole and therefore recommend the
Shareholders to vote in favour of the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting.

For and on behalf of
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
LAU Tak Wan
President




APPENDIX | BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED
TO BE RE-ELECTED AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The biographical details of Directors who are proposed to be re-elected at the Annual General
Meeting are set out as follows:

Mr. LAU Tak Wan

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, aged 58, is the Executive Director of the Company. Also he is the founder
and the President of the Group. Mr. Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as
Hong Kong Baptist University) in Sociology and has more than 20 years' management and production
experience in the electronics industry. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Lau had over 6 years’ experience
in running his own business in the electronics industry. He is responsible for the overall corporate
planning, strategic development and marketing of the Group. Mr. Lau has not held any directorship in
other public listed company in the past three years.

As at the date of this circular, Mr. Lau has interest in 155,386,494 shares and 7,862,388
Qutstanding Warrants of the Company (51.08% and 51.57% of the Company's total issued shares
before and after of the fuil exercise of Outstanding Warrants respectively ) within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company ard the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Director of Listed
Companies. The annual emolument for Mr. Lau under his latest service contract dated 18 March 1994
with the Gompany amounts to approximately HK$3,105,000. The emoluments of the Director are
determined by the Board with reference to the Company’s periormance and profitability, as well as
remuneration benchmark in the industry and prevailing market conditions. The service contract was
effective from 18 March 1894 for an initial term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party for not less than three month's prior written notice and will be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company's annual general meeting in accordance with
Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-law.

Apart from Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, Mr. Lau does not have any
relationship with any other Directors, senior management, or substantial sharehoiders of the Company.

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky, aged 51, is the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan. Ms. Chan is the
Executive Director of the Company and the Vice-president of the Group. Also she is the Director of
Administration and Finance responsible for administration, human resources and finance of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in 1998, Ms. Chan has over 20 years of experience in accounting and
financial management and at the same time running her own business for more than 10 years. Ms.
Chan has not held any directorship in other public listed company in the past three years.

As at the date of this circular, Ms. Chan has interest in 155,386,494 shares and 7,862,388
Qutstanding Warrants of the Company (51.08% and 51.57% of the Company’s total issued shares
before and after of the full exercise of Qutstanding Warrants respectively) within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies. The annual emolument for Ms. Chan under her latest service contract dated 1 April 1999
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with the Company amounts to approximately HK$1,257.000. The emoluments of the Directors are
determined by the Board with reference to the Company's performance and profitability, as well as
remuneration benchmark in the industry and prevailing market conditions, The service contract was
effective from 1 April 1999 for an initial term of two years and will continue thereafter until terminated
by either party for not less than three months’ prior written notice and will be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the Company's annual general mesting in accordance with Bye-law 99 of
the Company’s Bye-law.

Apart from Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan, Ms. Chan does not have any relationship
with any other Directors, senior management, or substantial shareholders of the Company.

Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. WAN Chor Fai, aged 50, is the Executive Director of the Company and the CEO
(Manufacturing) of the Group. Mr. Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Haong Kong Polytechnic University) in Production and Industrial Engineering and is responsible for the
business development and manufacturing management of the Group. He has gained more than 19
years' experience in manufacturing and marketing since his joining of the Group in 1987. Mr. Wan has
not held any directorship in other public listed company in the past three years.

As at the date of this circular, Mr. Wan has interest in 50,000 shares of the Company (0.016%
and 0.016% of the Company's total issued shares before and after the full exercise of Outstanding
Warranis respectively) within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Madel Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies. The annual emolument for Mr. Wan under
his latest service contract dated 20 September 2004 with the Company amounts to approximately
HK$1.,418,000. The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board with reference to the
Company’'s performance and profitability, as well as remuneration benchmark in the industry and
prevailing market conditions. The service contract was effective from 1 October 2004 for an initial
term of two years and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party for not less than six
months’ prior written notice and will be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company's Bye-law.

Mr. Wan does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, or
substantial shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there aré no other matters concerning Mr. Lau, Ms. Chan and Mr. Wan
relating to their re-election that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders and there is
no other information that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2}(h) to 13.51(2)(v) of the
Listing Rules.
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THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken,
you should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager,
solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited, you
should at once hand this circular to the purchaser or the transferee or to the bank, stockbroker
or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the
purchaser or the transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
circular, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this circular.
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context

otherwise require:

“Allied Concept”

“Board”

“BVI”

..Con]panyn

“Completion”

“connected persons”

“Daiwa Sound”

“Daiwa Sound Shares”

“DAL”

“Directors”

“Disposal”

*"Group”

“Hong Kong”

Allied Concept Limited, a corporation duly registered in
Hong Kong, the purchaser of the Sale Shares and a third party
independent of the Company and its connected persons

the board of Directlors

Briush Virgin Island

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (SR SHEA AT *, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and the
issued Shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
completion of the salec and purchase of the Sale Shares or any part
thereol” in accordance with the terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement

has the meaning ascribed to this term under the Listing Rules
Daiwa Sound Company Limited, an indircct, non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in Osaka, Japan with

issued capital stock of 300 shares of JYP50,000 par value

share(s) in the capital stock of Daiwa Sound issued at a par value
of JYP50,000 each

Daiwa Associate Limited, an indircct. wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company incorperated in BVI with issued share capital of

US$2, also the legal and beneficial owner of the Sale Shares

directors (including the non-cxecutive and independent non-

executive directors) of the Company from time to time

the proposed disposal of the Sale Shares by DAL pursuant to the
Salc and Purchase Agreement

the Company and its subsidiaries

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC




DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong GAAP”

“Japanese GAAP”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Sale and Purchase
Agreement”

“Sale Shares”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

.sH K$”

LLJYP”

“%H

the generally accepted accounﬁng principles of Hong Kong

the generally accepted accounting principles in Japan

5 May 2008, being the latest practicable date prior the printing
of this circular for ascertaining certain information contained

herein

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the sale and purchase agreement dated 25 March 2008 and made
between DAL and Allied Concept in relation to the sale and

purchase of the Sale Shares

a total of 15 issued Daiwa Sound Shares to be purchased and sold
pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the
Company

holder(s) of the Share(s)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

per cent.

*  For identification purpose only




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

DAIWA

DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
o ARG 2 2 R A R A A

(Incarparated in Bermuda with limited Habilitv}

(Stock Code: 1037)

Executive Directors: Registeredd office:

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President) Canon’s Court

Ms, CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-President) 22 Victoria Streel

Mr. WAN Chor Fai Hamilton HM 12

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly Bermuda

Independent Non-Executive Directors: Head affice and principal
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT place of business:

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 11th Floor, Block G

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan East Sun [ndustrial Centre

16 Shing Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

7 May 2008

To the Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION

DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN
DAIWA SOUND CO., LTD

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 17 Aprit 2008 in which the
Board announced that on 25 March 2008, DAL as vendor entered into the Sale and Purchase
Agreement with Allied Concept in relation to the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares, being
15 issued Daiwa Sound Shares, representing 5% of the issued share capital of Daiwa Sound,
for a consideration of HK$192,000 in cash. Upon Completion, Daiwa Sound would cease to

be a subsidiary and become an associated company of the Company.




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a discloseable
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with further details regarding the Disposal and
the transactions contemplated thereunder.

THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Date

25 March 2008

Parties

(i) DAL as the vendor

(ii)  Allied Concept as the purchaser

Allied Concept is a corporation duly registered in Hong Kong. It is principally engaged in
investment holding. The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, Allied Concept and its ultimate beneficial

owners are third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons,

There was no previous transaction between the Company and Allied Concept (and its
beneficial owners) which would require aggregation under the Listing Rules.

Assets to be disposed of

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, DAL has agreed to sell and Allied Concept
has agreed to purchase the Sale Shares, being 15 issued Daiwa Sound Shares, representing 5%

of the issued capital stock of Daiwa Sound.

Consideration

The consideration for the disposal of the Sale Shares is HK$192,000 and shall be payable by
Allied Concept to DAL or its designated agent in cash upon the execution of the Sale and

Purchase Agreement.

The consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiations among the parties

by reference to the acquisition cost of the Sale Share in June 2006 which amounted to
JYP2,850,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$191,538).
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The amount of net liabilities of daiwa Sound and the amount of goodwill attributable to
Daiwa Sound in the consolidated financial statement of the Group as at 31 March 2007
were HK$553 618 and HK$239.136 respectively. Based on the latest management accounts
of Daiwa Sound available to the Company. the 15 issued Daiwa Sound Shares represent
net liabilities of approximately HK$81,080 (after taken into account the unaudited net loss
of Daiwa Sound for the period from | April 2007 1o 30 November 2007} and goodwill of
approximately HKS$11.957 as at 30 November 2007, The Board considers the consideration
which is a premium over the present net asset value in respect of the 15 issued Daiwa Sound
Shares to be fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and the Sharcholders as u

whole.

It is intended that the consideration to be received by DAL or its designated agent will be
used for general working capital of the Group.

Completion

DAL and Allied Concept mutually agree that the cffective date of the transfer of beneficial
interest of the Sale Shares shall be | February 2008, which is the date on which both parties
had principally agreed to the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares subject to completion of the
due diligence exercise carried out by Allicd Concept. There is no material change subsequent
to | February 2008 which might affect the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agrecement.

Completion for the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares will take place in Hong Kong within
one month after the execution of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, or in such other place,

date and time as the partics may agree.

Prior to the completion of the Dispesal, the Group held 52% of issued capital stock of Daiwa
Sound. Upon completion of the Disposal, the Group will continue to hold 141 Daiwa Sound
Shares, representing 47% of the issued capital stock of Daiwa Sound through Daiwa Acoustic
Products Manufacturing Ltd, an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Hence,
Daiwa Sound will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company, however. it will become an
associated company of the Company.,

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP AND OTHERS
The Group is principally engaged in the design. development. manufacturing and distribution
of clectronic componenis. contract clectronic manufacturing services and consumer

electronics, and manufacturing and distribution of personal computer and digital products.

DAL is an indirget. wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in BVE and is

principally engaged in investment holding.
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Daiwa Sound is an indirect, non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established in
Osaka, Japan with an issued capital stock of JYP15,000,000. It is principally engaged in the
trading and manufacturing of speaker elements and components. The Group acquired 52%
shareholding of Daiwa Sound at the end of June 2006 at a cost of JYP29,640,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,992.000).

The unaudited net loss of Daiwa Sound before and after taxation and extraordinary items for
the year ended 31 March 2006 amounted to approximately HK$2,988,000 and HK$3,023,000
respectively (prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP).

The audited net loss of Daiwa Sound before and after taxation and extraordinary items for
the year ended 31 March 2007 amounted to approximately HK$5,853,000 and HK$5,972,000
respectively (prepared in accordance with Hong Kong GAAP).

FINANCIAL EFFECT ON THE DISPOSAL
Subject to the confirmation from the Group’s auditors, it is estimated that, upon Completion:

(1)  the Group will record a gain on disposal of approximately HK$261,123 with reference
to the net liabilities and goodwill of Daiwa Sound as at 30 November 2007; and

(i1} the total assets and the total liabilities of the Group will be decreased by approximately
HK$65,814,000 and HK$66,499,000 respectively based on the management accounts of
Daiwa Sound as at 30 November 2007.

These will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ensuring
year. It is expected that the Disposal will not have any material adverse financial impact on
the carnings, assets and liabilities of the Company.

REASONS FOR THE DISPOSAL AND BENEFITS TO THE COMPANY

Upon completion of the Disposal, Daiwa Sound will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company
and such account will no longer be consolidated in the Group’s accounts. The Directors are of
the view that the Disposal will result in a decrease in the management involvement and hence

costs to the Group.

The Directors (including the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors)
consider that the terms of the Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder have
been entered into upon normal commercial terms and are in the interests of the Company and
its Sharcholders as a whole, and the terms are fair and reasonable as far as the Company and
the Shareholders are concerned.
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LISTING RULES IMPLICATION

The Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a discloseable
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set cut in the appendix to this

circular.

Yours faithfully
By order of the Board
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
LAU Tak Wan
President

*  For identification purpose only




APPENDIX GENERAL INFORMATION

1.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained
in this circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that 1o the best of
their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make
any statement herein misleading.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, 1o be entered in
the register kept by the Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

a) Long positions in shares and warrants of the Company

Nomber of issued ordinary shares/underlying shares attached to derivatives

Unlisted

warrants Ordinary shares in issued Total
Name of Corporate Personal  Corporate Other
Directors interests interests interests interest Interests  Percentage
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7,862,388 6,537,141 147,706,499 1,142,854 163,248 882 53.66%

(Note 2) {Note 1) {Notes 2,3.4)

Mr. CHAN Yuen 7,862,388 4022854 147,706,499 3,657,141 163,248 882 53.66%

Mei, Pinky (Note 2) (Note ) (Notes 2,34
Mr. WAN Chor Fai — 50,000 — — 50,000 0.016%
Mr. Barry John — 500,000 — — 500,060 0.16%

BUTTIFANT
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GENERAL INFORMATION

b)

Nortes:

L1

2 880,000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Luu Tak Wan ("Mr. Lau™) and
Ms. Chan Yuen Mei. Pinky ("Ms. Chan™, the spouse of Mr. Lau).

7.862.388 warrants and 74.431.436 shares in the Company were bencficially owned by
China Capital Holdings Investment Limited ("China Capital™). The issued share capital of
China Capital is 60% owned by Mr. Lau. and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.

60.918.396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading Trade Limited
("Leading Trade™). The issued share capital of Leading Trade is 50% owned by Mr, Lau
and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.

12.356.667 shares in the Company were heneficially owned by Cyvber Concept Limited
{("Cyber Concept”™). The issued share capitat of Cyber Coneept is 50% owned by Mr. Lau
and 30% owned by Ms, Chan.,

Long position in shares of associated corporations of the Company

Dominion International Limited, which is 50% owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan. and
50% owned by Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky:

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited 50,000
Westpac Digital Limited 1
Vastpoint [ndustrial Limited 435,000
Daiwa Associate (H.K) Limited 1,500,000

In addition. cach of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000 and
10.000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec Precision Industrial
Limited.

Save as disclosed above. as at the Latest Practicable Date. none ol the Directors, chief

executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short positions in

any shares. underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations {(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required,

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short

positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the

SFQ). to be notitied to the Company and the Stock Exchange. or which were required,

pursuant to Section 352 ol the SFQ. to be entered in the register kept by the Company,

or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securitics Transactions by

Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules. to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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3.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As al the Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge of the Directors and save as
disclosed in paragraph headed 2. Directors’ Interests” in this appendix, the foliowing
parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company), had an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company which
are required to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and
3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights Lo vote in all

circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares and warrants of the Company

Interest in

underlying

Number of shares — % of

Name of substantial ordinary unlisted the total

shareholder Note shares held warrants issued shares
China Capital Holdings

Investment Limited 2) 74,431,436 7,862,388 27.05%

Leading Trade Limited (1) 60,918,396 — 20.02%

Mr. NG Hung Sang 36,502,198 — 12.00%

South China Holdings Limited 36,502,198 — 12.00%

Notes:

1. Leading Trade Limited (“Leading Trade™) is 50% owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan ("Mr. Lau™) and 50%
owned by Ms. Chan Yuen Met. Pinky (*Ms. Chan™ the spouse of Mr. Lau). Accordingly, Leading
Trade. Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO 1o be interesied in 60.918,396, 163,248,882 and
163.248.882 shares of the Company.

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited (“China Capilal™} is 60% owned by Mr. Lau and 40%
owned by Ms. Chan. Accordingly, China Capital, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to
be interested in 74.431,436. 163,248.882 and 163.248.882 shares of the Company respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latcst Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware
of any other persons {other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision
ol Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the
Group or any options in respect of such capital.

— 10 —
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COMPETING INTEREST

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a business which competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, or have
or may have any other conflicts of interest with the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had entered or been proposed to enter into any service contracts
with the Company or any other member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation)) as at the Latest Practicable Date.

LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any other member of the
Group is engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and there was
no litigation or claim of material importance known to the Directors to be pending or

threatened against the Company or any of its members.
GENERAL

(a)  The registered office of the Company is situated at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.

{b) The head office and principal place of business of the Company is situated at
I1th Floor, Block G, East Sun Industrial Centre, 16 Shing Yip Street, Kwun

Tong, Kowloon. Hong Kong.

(¢)  The share registrar of the Company is Tricor Abacus Limited at 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(d)  The secretary and qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Ho Chui Sing, a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

{¢)  [n the event of inconsistency, the English text of this circular shall prevail over
the Chinese text thereof.
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